
Multiple files are bound together in this PDF Package.

Adobe recommends using Adobe Reader or Adobe Acrobat version 8 or later to work with 
documents contained within a PDF Package. By updating to the latest version, you’ll enjoy 
the following benefits:  

•  Efficient, integrated PDF viewing 

•  Easy printing 

•  Quick searches 

Don’t have the latest version of Adobe Reader?  

Click here to download the latest version of Adobe Reader

If you already have Adobe Reader 8, 
click a file in this PDF Package to view it.

http://www.adobe.com/products/acrobat/readstep2.html




 
 
Presentation to: Board of Governors  


Subject: ESCO2 Status Update 
Date: December 10, 2012 
Presenter(s):  D. McNair, VP Finance and Administration 


J. Tattersall, Director Physical Resources 
 


Purpose: 
To provide an update on the status of the ESCO2 project. 
 
Background: 
The Siemens ESCO 2 proposal received June 14, 2012 and the Letter of Intent 
(LOI) issued August 3rd called for the completion of the Detailed Feasibility Study 
(DFS) by December 2012. Since then two events have occurred: the Ontario 
Power Authority (OPA) may delay approval processing of the proposed new 
natural gas-fired co-generation plant; and, Ontario’s Feed in Tariff (FIT) program 
that allows solar generated power (PV) to be sold back to the grid was effectively 
suspended when the OPA did not re-open the program on October 1, 2012. 
 
The Siemens proposal is based on 3 pillars: utility savings; co-generation of 
electricity; and revenue from a Power Purchasing Agreement (PPA) or the FIT 
program. These measures target savings/revenues of $3.735 million. 
 
Advocacy by the Algonquin-Siemens partnership for the approval of the co-
generation application may be required/considered since there may be political 
resistance to gas-fired co-generation plants even though it would: reduce 
Algonquin’s GHG emission by about half; provide reliable power for the digital 
college in the event of a grid outage; reduce our overall outstanding deferred 
maintenance; and allow Algonquin to become an “island” to support regional 
emergency management operations. 
 
Discussion/Considerations: 
Siemens continues to make good progress with its Detailed Feasibility Study to 
identify savings, co-generation and revenue opportunities for the Woodroffe 
Campus worth $3.735 million but regulatory issues with Ontario’s Feed in Tariff 
Program (FIT) put at risk $1.583 million in revenues from the proposed 3 Meg-
watt Photo-Voltaic (PV) project. 
 
Siemens maintains its total savings/revenue target of $3.735 million as outlined 
in the RFP but is unable to fully commit until the results of applicable Provincial 
programs are known. Accordingly, Siemens proposes a three-phase process to 
minimize delays: (1) proceed with the proposals for the B, K building and most of 


  December 2012 







  December 2012 


Woodroffe campus facility energy upgrades in December 2012, and (2) the Co-
generation and remainder of Woodroffe campus portion of the DFS by about 
April 2013, and; (3) finalize the PV portion of the contract when the details are 
fully known possibly by April 2013. 
 
Any delay past December 2012 for Phase 1 would push the implementation of B 
Building HVAC upgrades from 2013 to 2014 along with attendant risks of 
unexpected system failures; accepting phased implementation allows work to 
begin late in the summer of 2013. 
 
Attached please find: 


• Transmittal sheet to Board of Governors’ Executive dated August 2, 2012 
seeking approval to issue Letter of Intent to Siemens (Confidential) 


• Appendix A to above-noted transmittal sheet summarising assessment of 
bids received (Confidential) 


• Deloitte’s letter dated July 26, 2012 assessing the Siemens bid per 
generally accepted accounting procedures as “off book” 


• Slide deck to support the December 10, 2012 presentation to the Board of 
Governors 


 
Recommendation 
 
That the Board of Governors notes this update with intent to phase the ESCO 2 
proposal: 


• Intent to seek approval to award a contract to Siemens for phase 1 later in 
December 2012 once technical, financial and legal considerations are 
satisfactorily addressed; and, 


• Future intent to seek approvals to award contracts for each of Phases 2 
and 3 once technical, financial, legal and potentially provincial policy 
considerations are satisfactorily addressed. 


 








  
** CONFIDENTIAL ** 


 


 
Presentation to:  Board of Governors Executive Committee 
Subject:  Energy Services Company Performance Contract (ESCO2) 
Date:  August 2, 2012 
Presenter(s):   Duane McNair, Vice President, Administration 


John Tattersall, Director, Physical Resources 
Cathy Dempsey, Director, Finance and Administrative Services 


 
Purpose:     
 
To update the Board of Governors Executive Committee on the results of the Request 
for  Proposals  for  the  Energy  Services  Company  Performance  Contract  and  to 
recommend proceeding with a Letter of Intent to complete a Detailed Feasibility Study 
(DFS). 
 
Background:  
    
Energy  Services  Company  Performance  Contracts  are  contracts  where  a  private 
company modifies an institution’s facilities, operating methodologies and awareness of 
energy consumption to generate guaranteed energy savings and revenue which pay for 
the  modifications.    These  contracts  are  typically  executed  through  a  leasing 
arrangement where  the  institution utilizes  the existing base budget provisions and/or 
new revenues streams to compensate the energy services company. 
 
Algonquin  College’s  current  Energy  Services  Company  Performance  Contract  (ESCO1) 
construction  was  completed  in  February  2008,  with  the  payback  period  expiring  in 
February  2018.    The  ESCO  initiative  implemented  energy  savings  solutions  (including 
equipment) on the Woodroffe campus and, to date, savings are tracking in accordance 
with  the  original  proposal.    Management  researched  and  verified  the  appropriate 
accounting  treatment  and  accounted  for  this  transaction  as  an  ‘off  balance  sheet’ 
transaction.   At the end of the 10‐year term, the College will purchase the equipment 
for a nominal sum of $1.  As a result, the College did not realize additional debt or assets 
and  is  remitting  a  percentage  of  savings  (recorded  as  an  expense  on  the  income 
statement) to the energy savings company over the 10‐year term of the contract.   The 
College  auditors  (KPMG  at  that  time)  reviewed  the  transaction  and  concurred with 
management’s accounting treatment as an off balance sheet transaction. 
 
A Request  for Proposal  (RFP) was  issued on April 23, 2012  for a new Energy Services 
Company Performance Contract (ESCO2). 


 
04.3.2 BOG Exec - Energy Mgmt Services Transmittal 02AUG12 (Tab 4).doc 04/12/2012 Administration 
Page 1 of 3 
 







  
** CONFIDENTIAL ** 


The  selection  committee,  made  up  of  John  Tattersall  (PEng),  Director,  Physical 
Resources,  Udo  Friesen  (PEng),  Manager,  Facilities  Operations  and  Maintenance 
Services, Grant Perry (CGA), Manager, Business Systems Team and Rodney Wilts (LEED), 
BuildGreen,  evaluated  the  proposals  to  determine  the  best  proposal  for  the College.  
The terms and conditions of the two leading proposals were subsequently reviewed by 
Cathy Dempsey (CGA), Director, Finance and Administrative Services and Duane McNair 
(CGA), Treasurer  and Vice‐President, Administration.   A  summary of  the highlights of 
each proposal is attached as Appendix A.   
 
Discussion/Considerations:   
 
 
A public tender competitive procurement process was conducted by the College to 
identify an ESCO with which to enter into an agreement.  Eight companies submitted 
proposals at the Request for Qualification stage, which resulted in four companies being 
invited to submit proposals. Two of the four companies subsequently withdrew from the 
competition: Direct Energy, winner of ESCO1, citing a new business model which 
precludes long term ESCOs; and, MCW citing insufficient profit margin to satisfy their 
shareholders. For the purpose of establishing proposals, three College buildings (B, K, and 
M) were selected for the two remaining bidders, Ameresco and Siemens, to examine with 
the understanding that they were to formulate projections for all buildings on Woodroffe 
campus.  Following examination of Buildings B, K and M and formulating projections for 
the remainder of Woodroffe Campus, Ameresco and Siemens submitted proposed scopes 
of work valued at $19 and $72 million, respectively (including financing charges). Both 
proposals include a payback term of 20 years.  Ameresco’s projected annual savings and 
revenue generation is $1.04 million, whereas Siemen’s projected annual savings and 
revenue generation is $3.6M, with the College benefitting from any further savings 
discovered.  
 
The winning proposal will be validated through a Detailed Feasibility Study (DFS) of the 
entire Woodroffe campus that will take up to 90 days to complete. Upon conclusion of 
the DFS, both parties (the ESCO and the College) have the option to choose not to enter 
into an ESCO performance contract.  If the ESCO elects to not proceed with the 
agreement, then the ESCO is responsible for the cost of the DFS (estimated at $625k).  If 
the College elects to not proceed, then the College would be responsible for the DFS 
costs.  
 
Similar to ESCO1, implementation of this proposed contract will not result in the College 
assuming additional debt or assets to be reported on its balance sheet.  The College’s new 
auditors, Deloitte, were consulted regarding the accounting treatment for this proposed 
contract.  Deloitte concurs with management’s proposed accounting treatment (a copy of 


 
04.3.2 BOG Exec - Energy Mgmt Services Transmittal 02AUG12 (Tab 4).doc 04/12/2012 Administration 
Page 2 of 3 
 







  
** CONFIDENTIAL ** 


 
04.3.2 BOG Exec - Energy Mgmt Services Transmittal 02AUG12 (Tab 4).doc 04/12/2012 Administration 
Page 3 of 3 
 


the letter from Deloitte, dated July 26, 2012, is attached). 
 
The selection committee is recommending moving to the next phase with the Siemens 
proposal.  Among this proposal’s most powerful benefits are: 


• An estimated $22M reduction in the College’s deferred maintenance liability 
(approximately half of the total deferred maintenance liability currently registered 
with the Ministry);  


• A project to address the critical need to renew B Building systems that may be 
implemented in one construction year; and  


• Implementation of a co‐generation power station allowing the campus to function 
independently with its own power source if needed and realize alternative 
revenues through the sale of excess power generation to the Provincial power grid 


 
(refer to attachment for further details on the Ameresco and Siemens proposals) 
 
Next Steps: 
 
In order to move forward, the following actions are required: 
 


1. Approve the selection of Siemens as the successful proponent; and   
2. Issue a Letter of Intent to Siemens to initiate the Detailed Feasibility Study and 


incentive applications. 
 


Timing is critical and in order to be considered in the next round of the FIT program, 
applications should be submitted as soon as possible, concurrent with initiating the 
Detailed Feasibility Study. 
 
Recommendation:    
 
That the Board of Governors Executive Committee approve the selection of Siemens as 
the successful proponent of the RFP for an ESCO performance contract and that 
management be directed to issue a Letter of Intent to Siemens to begin the Detailed 
Feasibility Study. 
 
The results of the Detailed Feasibility Study (DFS) and recommendations from 
management will be presented to the Board of Governors (tentatively scheduled for 
December) upon conclusion of the DFS. 
 








Appendix A                                CONFIDENTIAL 
 


1   


04.3.3 Appendix A Summary of ESCO 2 bid proposals for Board of Governors (Tab 4).docx    Prepared b


1.  The Energy Performance Contract Request for Proposal (RFP) 1213‐4‐10 required bidders to 
submit proposals structured on two aspects: a feasibility study of energy savings opportunities and/or 
revenue generation opportunities for Buildings B, K and M complete with technical details of proposed 
investments in those buildings; and, an estimate of the potential savings/revenue generation for the 
remainder of the Woodroffe Campus. This approach balanced bidder investment risks at the bidding 
stage while providing the College’s management sufficient data to assess the technical aspects of the 
proposals, the innovation of the company’s proposal and the potential value of the bid to the College. 


2.  The two companies who submitted proposals are Ameresco and Siemens. In summary, both 
companies submitted technically solid and financially robust proposals that meet or exceed the 
requirements of the RFP. There are considerable differences in the proposals as summarized in the 
following table. 


Table – Summary of the Highlights of Proposals 


Detail  Ameresco  Siemens 
Investment, inclusive taxes  $15.5M  $51.6M 
Estimated annual utility savings  $775K  $1.7M 
Estimated annual revenue 
generation 


$342.5K  $2.0M 


Ratio of investment to savings + 
revenue 


1:13.8  1:13.9 


Proposed investment in deferred 
maintenance liability, currently 
assessed at $41.9M (based on 
June 2010 submission to MTCU, 
adjusted by 2012 VFA data) 


$7M  $22M 


Proposed annual accrual (savings 
+ revenues) to the College during 
20 year payback period 


$77.4K  $373.5K 


Estimated reduction of 
greenhouse gases (logic model is 
assessed as valid; detailed 
calculations not provided by 
bidders) 


1,807 T  5,371 T 


Proposed magnitude of photo‐
voltaic generation for application 
to Ontario’s FIT program  


500 Kw   3,000 Kw 


Summary of the approach used 
by the bidder to generate energy 
savings and to generate revenue 


Defined energy savings and 
revenue generation 


Defined energy savings and 
revenue generation by 
transformation of the College to 
a net producer of energy via co‐
generation plant  


Basis for technical approach  Aware of Algonquin; however, 
most proposals are based on 
lessons learned at other 


Intimate current knowledge of 
Algonquin, leveraging existing 
partnership and operations, 







Appendix A                                CONFIDENTIAL 
 


2   


04.3.3 Appendix A Summary of ESCO 2 bid proposals for Board of Governors (Tab 4).docx    Prepared b


institutions  amplified by lessons learned at 
other institutions 


Approach to innovation  Conservative approach; during 
1:1 meeting, they had to be 
convinced to bid in the $10‐15M 
range 


Innovative approach, especially 
co‐gen and behavioural 
modification proposals 


Appetite for risk as shown in 
proposal 


Low  High 


Approach to risk mitigation  Technical modifications to 
College infrastructure are 
conservative and achievable 


1. Technical modifications are 
ambitious yet achievable;   
2. Savings and revenues 
projections guaranteed 


Selection Committee Assessment   1. Meets RFP 
2. Addresses energy‐related 
deferred maintenance issues, 
behaviour modification and 
limited electricity generation 
(solar power) 
3. Wants to do business with us 


1. Exceeds RFP 
2. Addresses energy‐related and 
other deferred maintenance 
issues, behaviour modification 
and robust electricity generation 
(co‐gen plant and solar power) 
3. Wants to partner with us 


Additional components  Invest in Algonquin Foundation 
($10K), student coop 
placements, student education 


Invest in Applied Research and in 
education competitions, 
leverage Siemens/Algonquin 
relationship to increase 
enrolment and support Digital 
College.  Anticipated 
contribution expected to be 
greater than other leading 
proponent. 


3.  Due Diligence checks: 


• Deloitte has validated that both proposals are “off balance sheet”. 


• Finances – VP Administration and Director Finance have validated Selection Committee’s 
assessment of the details, including bidder’s conceptual profit margin. Both proposals make 
sense from both the bidder and College perspectives. 


4.  Recommended bidder: Siemens 


5.  Next Steps 


• Seek Board of Governors approval on August 2, 2012 


• Once approved, management issue Letter of Intent to preferred bidder on August 3, 2012 


• Detailed feasibility study by preferred company within 90 days of Letter of Intent 


• Concurrently, preferred company initiates FIT application per Provincial process 


• Contract negotiations and contract award once detailed feasibility study is submitted, assessed 
and approved by Board of Governors 







Appendix A                                CONFIDENTIAL 
 


3   


04.3.3 Appendix A Summary of ESCO 2 bid proposals for Board of Governors (Tab 4).docx    Prepared b


Selection Committee: John Tattersall P.Eng., Udo Friesen P.Eng., Grant Perry CGA, Rodney Wilts LEED 
(BuildGreen) 


Dated: July 27, 2012 








 
   


 
Deloitte & Touche LLP 
800-100 Queen Street 
Ottawa, Ontario K1P 5T8 
Canada 
 
Tel: 613-236-2442 
Fax: 613-236-2195 
www.deloitte.ca 
 


 
 


  


  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


July 26, 2012 


Mr. Duane McNair, CGA 
Treasurer and Vice-President, Administration 
Algonquin College 
1385 Woodroffe Avenue 
Ottawa, ON K2G 1V8  
Canada 


Dear Sir: 


Draft Energy Performance Contract (EPC) – Accounting consideration 


Thank you for providing us with the draft energy performance contract dated April 23, 2012 between 
Algonquin College and an Energy Services Company (ESCO).  


We understand that the College’s predecessor auditors provided you on June 29, 2006 with a letter 
describing the accounting impact of a similar proposed energy performance contract. Paragraph 7600.06 
of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants’ Assurance Handbook (Reports on the Application of 
Accounting Principles) prohibit us in providing a written opinion (…) on the application of accounting 
principles of a hypothetical transaction; as such we cannot provide an opinion on this hypothetical 
transaction. Notwithstanding the previous, we have summarized the facts surrounding the draft contract 
and the related guidance under Public Sector Accounting Standards as they apply to the proposed 
transaction and the accounting impacts to the College. 


We noted the following key facts related to the draft energy performance contract and discussions with 
the College’s management that: 


 Upon signature of the draft energy performance contract, the College will enter into a lease 
agreement for a period of up to 20 years with ESCO.  


 The College’s financial obligations with regards to lease payments are to pay ECSO a percentage 
of the savings calculated using a pre-determined formula based entirely on energy usage of the 
selected buildings There are no other financial obligations related to lease payments. 


 Upon completion of the contract, the College will acquire the equipment at a cost of $1.  
 The College is deemed a government not-for-profit organization in accordance with the 


Introduction to Public Sector Accounting Standards (the “Introduction”) and has elected in 
accordance with paragraph 7 of the Introduction to adopt accounting standards for government 
not-for-profit organizations (e.g. Section 4200 of Public Sector Accounting Standards), 
supplemented by Public Sector Accounting Standards. 







Algonquin College 
July 26, 2012 
Page 2 
 
The following summarizes the accounting impacts related to lease agreements in the Public Sector 
Accounting (PSA) Handbook: 


 The accounting guidance in the PSA Handbook for lease agreements is included in Public Sector 
Guidance 2 (PSG-2), “Leased Tangible Capital Assets”. Paragraph 2 of the Introduction to 
Accounting Guidelines states that “Guidelines are a primary source of GAAP”; as such, the 
College is subject to the accounting interpretations included in this Guideline. 


 Paragraph 4 of PSG-2 details the quantitative criteria for determining whether a lease should be 
classified as a capital lease or an operating lease1. 


o The first criterion states that “There is reasonable assurance that the government will 
obtain ownership of the leased property by the end of the lease term.” As previous 
indicated, the College will obtain ownership of the assets for an amount of $1. 


o As such, a criterion is met, and the lease would be deemed a capital lease. 
 Paragraph 14 of PSG-2 defines the amount to be recorded for a capital lease; specifically, “The 


value of the leased tangible capital asset and the amount of the lease liability, recorded at the 
beginning of the lease term, would be the present value of the minimum lease payments, 
excluding the portion thereof relating to executory costs.” 


o PSG 2, paragraph 22 states that “contingent rentals should be charged to expense as 
incurred”, i.e. they are not capitalized as part of the asset or liability. 


o The Glossary to PSG-2 defines contingent rentals as “rental that is based on a factor other 
than the passage of time. However, if some portion of the factor (e.g., a minimum 
capacity or expected usage) is reasonably estimable at inception of the lease, the 
contingent rental portion includes only that proportion that is greater than a minimum 
capacity or expected usage that is reasonably estimable at inception of the lease.” 


o Contingent rentals are not part of the minimum lease payments; as such, the only amount 
that would be capitalized by the College would be the purchase amount of $1. The 
accounting entry would be as follows: 


DT: Capital asset  $12 


CT Capital Lease obligation $1 


  


                                                      
1 The College should note that the quantitative criteria under PSG-2 are similar to the criteria under CICA Handbook 
Section 3065, “Leases”, which was the previous accounting framework the College used for financial reporting 
purposes. 
2 This amount would be discounted to its net present value; for presentation purposes, the purchase amount is 
included in the accounting entry. 







Algonquin College 
July 26, 2012 
Page 3 
 
Our analysis described above represents our professional assessment based on current accounting 
standards and facts, circumstances and assumptions provided to us, which have not been audited. Should 
the facts, circumstances or assumptions differ, our conclusion may change. Our advice is as of the date of 
this report and we do not assume any obligation to update this report for subsequent changes in relevant 
rules or practice. Our report is intended solely for the information and use of Algonquin College and is 
not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than Algonquin College. 


If you have any questions, please don’t hesitate to contact us at (613) 751-5234 or by e-mail at 
sedesrochers@deloitte.ca. 


Yours truly, 


 


 


Chartered Accountants 
Licensed Public Accountants 
 


Enclosure 


 








Board of Governors 


December 10, 2012 


ESCO 2 STATUS 
UPDATE  







Technical Considerations 


Siemens Bid 
• B building - completion by fall 2014, open for classes by September. 


 


• Deferred maintenance - in Phase 1, some $14M of deferred 
maintenance will be addressed (about 35% of Algonquin’s 
outstanding deferred maintenance liability) 


 


• Innovation and sustainability – install a natural-gas 4-6 (min-max) 
MW co-generation plant to meet current and future electrical power 
needs for a digital college while reducing our greenhouse gas 
emissions by more than 5000T a year 


 


• Innovation, sustainability and revenue generation – install a 3 MW 
solar panel array on our rooftops to generate annual revenues in 
excess of $1.5M via the Feed-in-Tariff program 


 


ESCO2 Status Update 


2 December 10, 2012 







Financial Considerations 


Siemens Bid 


• “Off book” financing must be respected 


 


• Maximum 20 year re-payment schedule 


 


ESCO2 Status Update 


3 December 10, 2012 







Policy Considerations 


Siemens Bid 


• Authorities may be reluctant to approve a 
gas fired Co-Gen project, but: 


 


• Hydro Ottawa, the Local Distribution 
Company (LDC), supports this co-gen 
proposal 


• Barrhaven is growing and requires power 


• Hawthorne distribution station requires an 
upgrade and has little spare capacity. 


 


 


 


ESCO2 Status Update 


4 December 10, 2012 







Legal Considerations 


Siemens Bid 


• Siemens proposed Documents 
• Receivable Agreement 


• Issues: a number of items such as; release mechanism, 
letter of credit, etc. 


 


• Tri-Party Agreement 
• Issues: to ensure off-book financing is achievable 


 


• Final Contract Document 
• Issues: to ensure phased approach is acceptable to the 


College. 


 


• Review by Algonquin Legal Counsel 


 
ESCO2 Status Update 


5 December 10, 2012 







Sustainability, Innovation, Education 


and Partnership Considerations 


 


• Educate the college community on best 


behavioural practices for a sustainable 


community 


 


• Leverage Siemens expertise and global 


reach to invest in Algonquin’s education 


mandate via Applied Research 


 
ESCO2 Status Update 


6 December 10, 2012 







ESCO 2  


Phase 1 Description 


• Invest nearly $14 million on the Woodroffe 
Campus 


 


• Achieve over $950 thousand in annual savings to 
repay the project in 20 years or less 


 


• Manage risks: lock in 4.65% rate for 20 years 


 


• Complimentary and fully expandable with Phases 
2 and 3 (Co-gen & renewable energies) 


ESCO2 Status Update 


7 December 10, 2012 







ESCO 2  


Phase 1 Description 


• Address major deferred maintenance: new equipment, 
improved facility condition, improved indoor air quality, 
code compliance and site efficiency 


  


• Project execution with minimized interruptions 


 


• Align site-wide strategies of operations and 
management of facilities 


 


• Integrate Physical Resources operations with 
academia and global institutional standards 


ESCO2 Status Update 


8 December 10, 2012 







ESCO 2  


Phase 2 and 3 Descriptions 


• Phase 2 


• Remainder Woodroffe Campus and co-


generation plant 


 


• Phase 3 


• Feed-in-tariff (FIT)/photo-voltaic rooftop array 


ESCO2 Status Update 


9 December 10, 2012 







QUESTIONS 


PowerPoint Presentation Title 


Date 








  


BOG Transmittal - ERM and BCP 10DEC12.doc 


December 10, 2012  Finance and Administration 


 


 
 
Presentation to: Board of Governors 


Subject: Enterprise Risk Management and Business Continuity Plan 
Date: December 10, 2012 


Presenter(s):  Duane McNair, Vice-President, Finance and Administration 


 


Purpose:     
 
To present the next steps towards establishing an Enterprise Risk Management 
Framework and to present the draft Business Continuity Plan. 
 
Background:  
 
At the June 13, 2011 Audit Committee meeting, staff recommended that the College 
undertake the development of an Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) framework to 
identify, evaluate and rank key risks for the College.  Following a competitive bid 
process, Deloitte was engaged by the College to work with College management to 
complete this project.  The Algonquin College Risk Profile was developed and reviewed 
by The Audit Committee. 
 
In addition, the Board of Governors was given an overview of the Enterprise Risk 
Management project at the retreat on September 10, 2012. 
 
A key component of a comprehensive ERM framework is a Business Continuity Plan 
(BCP).  Over the past several months, all College departments have participated in the 
development of a Business Impact Analysis and the attached Business Continuity Plan 
program document. 
 
Discussion/Consideration: 
 
The Risk Profile report is attached for review and presented for approval by the Board. 
Following the Board’s approval of the Algonquin College Risk Profile, management 
would proceed with identifying ‘risk owners’ to further analyze these high exposure risks 
and implement risk mitigation tactics and regularly report on the risk exposure.  In 
addition, management would prepare a risk reporting framework and present it to the 
Audit Committee for review and feedback.  Upon the Audit Committee’s approval, the 
risk reporting framework would be presented to the Board of Governors.  
 
The College’s draft Business Continuity Plan document is attached for review.  This 
document outlines the BCP program that the College is implementing over the coming 
months to create resilience around the College’s critical services. 
 
 
Recommendations:    


 
That the Board of Governors receive the Algonquin College Risk Profile report and 
Business Continuity Plan report. 








Algonquin College Risk Profile 1 


 


 


 


Algonquin College 


 


Risk Profile 2011-12 


 
May 3, 2012 


 


 


 


 


 


 







Algonquin College Risk Profile 2 


Table of Contents 
 


 


Table of Contents ...................................................................................................................................... 2 


1.0 Executive Summary ............................................................................................................................ 3 


2.0 Introduction and Approach ................................................................................................................ 5 


3.0 Risk Assessment Results .................................................................................................................. 7 


4.0 Next Steps/On-going Risk Management ......................................................................................... 13 


Appendix A - Approach and Methodology............................................................................................ 16 


Appendix B - Discussion on Risks ........................................................................................................ 19 


Appendix C - Risk Universe ................................................................................................................... 28 


Appendix D - Risk Heat Map and Voting Results ................................................................................. 32 


Appendix E - Risk Governance Roles and Responsibilities ............................................................... 34 


Appendix F - Risk Reporting Template ................................................................................................. 36 


Appendix G - Risk Workshop Participants ........................................................................................... 38 


 







Algonquin College Risk Profile 3 


1.0 Executive Summary 


1.1 Introduction 


In today’s environment, the need for effective risk management to promote good governance and 


demonstrate accountability is critical.  Algonquin College (“the College”) wants to clearly understand 


its key risks and ensure that appropriate mitigation plans are in place.   Within this context, the 


objective of this initiative was to develop a Risk Profile for the College to more formally define the 


current risks to which the College is exposed.  These risks can also be seen as opportunities for 


improvement and development or activities that the College should be undertaking (i.e. missed 


opportunities).  The purpose of this Risk Profile is to enable management to identify and understand 


the potential risks to the achievement of the College’s objectives and to determine the exposure to 


these risks given current controls, enablers and/or mitigation activities.  In addition, the Risk Profile is 


a key tool in the strategic planning process, enabling the College to make informed decisions based on 


risk information.  


The assessment of risks presented in this report is a reflection of the organization's risks at this point 


in time.  The Risk Profile will need to be continuously managed and monitored by management to 


enable the organization to proactively address its risk exposure. 


1.2 Approach 


The process used to develop the Risk Profile followed a recognized methodology for risk assessment. 


Using the College’s previous risk profile as a starting point, a risk universe was developed (refer to 


Appendix C) to facilitate the identification of key risks/opportunities through a series of interviews with 


executive-level managers (i.e., President, Vice Presidents (VPs), Deans, and Directors).  In addition, 


online surveys were created in order to capture risk information from a broader set of the College’s 


Managers and Directors. The information collected through the interviews and online surveys was 


analyzed, in order to identify key risks for the College within the broader risk universe.  With the key 


risks identified, a risk assessment workshop was held with the College’s executive-level management 


in order to assess the impact and likelihood of the identified risks.   


1.3 Overall Results 


Based on the risk assessment process, six key risk areas have been identified that require continued 
focus given the potential risk exposure: 


� IT Infrastructure: Inadequate information technology (e.g. hardware, networks, software, people 
and processes) to effectively support requirements and maintain the College’s competitive 
advantage. 


� Knowledge Management: Knowledge management practices are insufficient/inappropriate in 
order to support informed decision making and otherwise maintain the corporate memory of the 
College. 


� Program Development: Resource requirements, potential demand, and time to deploy are not 
sufficient to develop and launch new academic programs. 


� Automated Services: The College does not take advantage of automated services available or 
automated services provided do not meet client expectations or demonstrate a level of client 
service acceptable to the College, including at peak times. 


� Labour Relations: Poor relations or changes occur within the work environment that lead to 
conflicts involving labour unions, thereby disrupting normal operations. 


� Change Readiness: Employees are unable to implement process and program/service 
improvements quickly enough to keep pace with changes in the marketplace. 
 
 
 
 







Algonquin College Risk Profile 4 


 
 
 


1.4 Next Steps 


The College’s senior management recognizes that developing the Risk Profile does not complete the risk 
management process, as key risks identified need to be managed on an on-going basis. The 
recommended next steps for the College are to: 


• Approve the Risk Profile, confirming which risks are acceptable to the organization and which are 
not, and thus require focused management attention; 


• Identify and put in place “risk owners” who will be accountable for conducting further “root-cause” 
analysis of the high exposure risks, complete identifying and implementing relevant risk mitigation 
activities to provide tangible feedback on the College’s risk exposure on an ongoing basis; and, 


• Implement a process using existing governance structures for ongoing monitoring and reporting 
on the progress of risk mitigation activities and results. This would also include the development 
of a risk management policy.  







Algonquin College Risk Profile 5 


2.0 Introduction and Approach 


2.1 Background 


In today’s environment, the need for effective risk management to promote good governance and 
demonstrate accountability is critical.  The College wants to clearly understand its key risks and ensure 
that appropriate mitigation plans are in place.   Within this context, the objective of this initiative was to 
develop a Risk Profile for the College to more formally define the key risks to which the College is 
exposed. 
 
The purpose of the risk assessment process undertaken was to enable management to identify and 
understand the potential risks to the achievement of the organization’s objectives and to determine the 
exposure to these risks.  The risk assessment process conducted was designed to assist management in 
developing strategies to address those risks considered to be most significant to the successful 
achievement of the College’s objectives. As a critical component of the corporate planning process, the 
risk profile will be used as the foundation for additional key documents, such as the Risk-based Internal 
Audit Plan (RBAP). 
 
The assessment of risks presented in this report is a reflection of the organization's risks at this point in 
time.  The Risk Profile will need to be continuously managed and monitored by management to enable 
the organization to proactively address its risk exposure. 
 


2.2 Importance of Risk Management 


In today’s environment, there is a need for effective risk management to promote good governance and 
demonstrate accountability.  Enterprise Risk Management is a comprehensive and systematic approach 
to understanding, communicating and managing risk from an organizational perspective.  Enterprise risk 
management provides a clear and structured approach to identifying, assessing and documenting key 
risks in order to apply due diligence in managing and mitigating risks on an ongoing basis.  Having a clear 
understanding of key risks allows an organization to measure and prioritize them and take the appropriate 
actions to reduce exposure. 
 
 
 
 
 


 


 


 


 
 
 
Generically, the risk management process can be thought of as a series of inter-connected and inter-
related steps that are repeatable and verifiable.  It offers a systematic way to structure the identification, 
assessment, response, communication and monitoring of significant risks through an established 
governance structure.  In addition to assisting individuals in their day-to-day decision-making, such a 
process can also bring a strategic and comprehensive focus to addressing the broader key risks that 
require sustained attention by senior management in any organization. 
 
In the risk management process, it is important to maintain an appropriate balance between managing 
negative impacts of risks while also establishing a culture of strategic risk-taking in seeking opportunities 
to be innovative. 
 
 


Risk:  A risk is defined as something that could impact the College’s ability to 
execute its strategies and/or achieve its objectives, either because there are 
some activities that the College may not be doing well, or because there are 
activities that the College should be undertaking (i.e. missed opportunities). 
 
Risk Management: Risk management refers to a coordinated set of activities 
and methods that is used to direct an organization and to control the many risks 
that can affect its ability to achieve objectives. 







Algonquin College Risk Profile 6 


Risk management can have other benefits for the organization, including:  


• improving performance through more informed priority setting, decision-making and resource 
allocation; 


• contributing to building a risk-smart workforce and environment that allows for innovation and 
responsible, informed risk-taking while ensuring legitimate precautions are taken to maintain 
public trust, and ensure due diligence;  


• assessing if appropriate controls and enablers are in place to mitigate the potentially adverse 
impacts of risk; and, 


• Enhancing the ability to prepare for various circumstances and increasing the stability of 
operations.  


 


2.3 Overview of Approach 


The approach to determine the College’s risk profile is described in detail in Appendix A and consisted of 
three distinct steps, as illustrated below: 
 


 


 


 


 
The process followed a recognized methodology for risk assessment. Key risks/opportunities were first 
identified through interviews with executive level managers (i.e., President, VPs and Directors). This step 
assisted in the development of Algonquin’s Risk Universe, which included detailed risk statements (see 
Appendix C). Following this, a risk assessment workshop was held with the College’s executive-level 
management to assess the impact and likelihood of the identified risks (Step 2).  Information gathered 
from the workshop and discussions is included in Appendix B, as well as a Heat Map in Appendix D. A 
list of risk workshop participants is included in Appendix G. 


Step 2 
Risk Prioritization 
through Risk 
Workshop 


Step 3 
Risk Reporting 
and Risk 
Mitigation 


Planning 


Step 1 
Data Gathering and 
Risk Universe 


Development 







Algonquin College Risk Profile 7 


3.0 Risk Assessment Results 


The following section provides a high level overview of the results of the risk assessment process.  


3.1 General Risk Results 


As illustrated in Table 1, sixteen risks were assessed and discussed at the risk assessment workshop 
held on April 2, 2012.  A total of 6 risks (out of 16) were rated by participants as high risks, indicating that 
the executive-level management group perceived these risks as having a high probability of occurrence 
and/or a considerable negative impact if they occurred.  These risks were found to be in some of the 
College’s key business areas, including a concentration in the “Empowered People” pillar from the 
strategic plan.  Findings suggest that the controls and activities in place specifically for these risk areas 
were not considered by management to be sufficient. 
  
Approximately a third of the risks received a ‘medium’ rating (5/16) and a ‘low’ rating (5/16). The medium 
exposure risks were concentrated in applied education and training as well as in the financial 
sustainability area. This indicated that financial planning and monitoring processes and processes around 
program deployment and development could be improved.   
 
Areas with a ‘low’ rating, primarily in the students and staff category, were perceived to be adequately 
managed; the risks within this category were not likely to occur, or if they occurred, they would not have a 
significant impact on the College.  
 
Table 1: Overall Risk Assessment Results 
 


Risk 
Category 


Specific Risk 
Overall Risk 


Result 


Applied 
Education 
and Training 


Program Offering/Mix Medium 


Program Development High 


Enrolment Targets Medium 


Experiential Learning Medium 


Physical Infrastructure Low 


Financial 
Sustainability 


Budgeting and Planning Medium 


Business Productivity  Medium 


IT Infrastructure High 


Student and 
Client 
Success 


Recruitment Criteria Low 


Retention Low 


Automated Services High 


Empowered 
People 


Innovation Low 


Recruitment & Retention of Faculty, Staff and Administrators Low 


Change Readiness High 


Labour Relations High 


Knowledge Management High 


 
Note: Refer to Appendix B for discussion on specific risks, with a risk heat map provided in Appendix D. 
 







Algonquin College Risk Profile 8 


3.2 Risks Requiring Immediate Attention 


The ‘Risk Heat Map’ (Figure 1) plots the same risk information in a graphic format. Risks in the upper-
right hand quadrant of the heat map (i.e. high impact and high likelihood) were considered ‘high’ risks to 
which the College has the greatest exposure.  As such, these risks require immediate attention through 
the development of risk mitigation strategies and on-going monitoring.  Risks in the yellow and green 
zones indicate moderate and low vulnerability, respectively. 
 
The risk tolerance of an organization is the willingness of the organization to accept or reject a given level 
of residual risk.  Risk tolerance may vary across the organization, based on the operating environment, 
stakeholders, etc., but should be clearly understood by the individuals making risk-related decisions on a 
given issue.  Clarity on risk tolerance at all levels of the organization is necessary to support risk-informed 
decision-making and foster risk-informed approaches.  On the following risk heat map, the six risks 
assessed as high risks have been deemed by the College’s management as high priority risks requiring 
immediate attention.  While medium and low risks still warrant attention, initial efforts should be focused 
on managing the high risks.  Senior management should validate and confirm their risk tolerance 
threshold on an ongoing basis. 
 


Figure 1: Algonquin College Risk Heat Map 


 


Likelihood


1.0


2.0


3.0


4.0


5.0


1.0 2.0 3.0 4.0 5.0


Risk 
Tolerance 
Threshold


High Risk
Medium Risk
Low Risk


Impact


 


 


 


 


 


 


 
 


Low Exposure Risks - “No Major 
Concern”  


• Physical Infrastructure 


• Recruitment & Retention of Faculty, Staff 
and Administrators 


• Retention 


• Recruitment Criteria 


• Innovation 


Medium Exposure Risks - “Periodic 
Monitoring”  


• Budgeting and Planning 


• Enrolment Targets 


• Experiential Learning 


• Program Offering/Mix 


• Business Productivity  
 


High Exposure Risks – 
“Ongoing Active Management”  


• IT Infrastructure 


• Knowledge Management 


• Program Development 


• Automated Services 


• Labour Relations 


• Change Readiness 
 







Algonquin College Risk Profile 9 


 
IT Infrastructure 


 


Risk Category Risk and Risk Definition Risk Level 


Financial 
Sustainability 


Inadequate information technology (e.g. hardware, networks, software, 
people and processes) to effectively support requirements and maintain 
the College’s competitive advantage. 


High 


Management Identified Practices
1
: 


Identified practices used to mitigate this risk included  A commitment to becoming a Digital College 
through the strategic plan and strong IT leadership. This includes a focus on a 3 to 5 year technology 
plan that takes into account the enrolment projections and the shift to digital delivery of class content 
and learning experiences.  Work has also been done in realigning the development of pedagogical 
content with delivery needs. Enhanced network, process and solution monitoring, analysis and alerting 
are also being installed to help ensure compliance with Service Level Agreements and performance 
objectives. 


 
Management noted concerns with the current IT infrastructure and the ability of IT systems to continue to 
meet the College’s needs.  Participants noted that there is a tendency within the organization to maintain 
existing manual processes as opposed to re-designing processes (i.e., potentially introducing new IT 
systems) to increase efficiency and effectiveness.   In that context, it was suggested that the number of 
manual processes could be greatly reduced through automation and improved integration of IT systems.  
The discussion also emphasized that successful implementation of large IT projects have to consider the 
total cost of systems ownership, including ongoing maintenance and upgrade costs. Furthermore, a key 
point that surfaced during discussions was to consider the end-users within the IT infrastructure risk. This 
meant providing the proper IT systems training for the staff. The driving point for this was that if the end-
users do not properly use the available technology, IT infrastructure will be perceived as dysfunctional 
and lacking and the College will not be able to move forward in its Digital College direction. Discussions 
also underscored the fact that the College does not adequately integrate IT knowledge requirements in 
the hiring process, potentially leading to a staff that does not take full advantage of the current IT 
systems.  
 
Knowledge Management 
 


Risk Category Risk and Risk Definition Risk Level 


Empowered 
People 


Knowledge management practices are insufficient/inappropriate in 
order to support informed decision making and otherwise maintain the 
corporate memory of the College. 


High 


Management Identified Practices: 


Identified practices used to mitigate this risk included: College data is retained within the applications 
that capture / generate the data, but support for decision making and analysis is not readily accessible 
at this time.  Through the broad mandate of the Business Intelligence group within IIRTS, initiatives are 
underway to catalogue, federate and make available improved data for decision making within the 2013-
14 timeframe.  Capture and retention of knowledge outside core operating systems remains an open 
priority for the College. 


 
In relation to the Digital College initiative from the College strategic plan, knowledge management was 
cited as being a high risk area, given its critical nature in making informed decisions. Participants noted 
that the main challenge was gathering and summarizing relevant and insightful business knowledge from 
                                                      
 
1
 Management identified practices listed in this report are examples only and are not meant to represent a 


complete list of mitigating practices.  A key responsibility of risk owners will be to identify the remaining 
relevant mitigating practices.   


 







Algonquin College Risk Profile 10 


numerous decentralized legacy systems. Comments indicated that the right data was captured by the 
College’s systems but the difficulty was in extracting the data from various scattered sources. The lack of 
a cohesive knowledge management system also impacted other processes such as enrollment targets, 
where enrollment numbers can sometimes be difficult to synthesize, as well as processes that require any 
sort of student/program statistics. In addition, participants noted that knowledge of the College’s systems 
and processes is not adequately captured from employees. This risk is exemplified by the fact that 
several employees that are critical knowledge sources for some legacy systems are on the verge of 
retirement. In other words, key business knowledge is not adequately retained from employees and the 
College could lose this knowledge when these employees leave the College.   
 
 
Program Development 


 


Risk Category Risk and Risk Definition Risk Level 


Program 
Development 


Resource requirements, appropriate demand, and time to deploy 
are not sufficient to develop and launch new academic programs. 


High 


Management Identified Practices: 


Identified practices used to mitigate this risk included: The College has the right resources to 
generate and develop good program ideas. In addition, there are budgeting tools used in order to 
estimate program development costs, as well as models that test the financial viability of Algonquin’s 
offerings. A formal Labour Market Analysis for new Ontario College and Degree programs under 
consideration was conducted.   


 
Management noted several concerns with the current program development process, primarily citing 
concerns with the available budget for course development as well as the current approach to program 
development.  The issue centers around the fact that program development dollars are tied to annual 
one-time investment requests and are not included in the base budget.  Participants noted that there is 
currently no established budgeting process for program development and that aside from a nominal 
amount of funds provided at the start of the fiscal year when the budget is approved, additional funding is 
primarily granted in the summer, just as the main resource for the process (faculty) leave for summer 
vacation. The participants also noted that not enough analytics are conducted for program planning 
purposes. There have been challenges in integrating diverse delivery methods (mobile/online/hybrid) with 
the College’s offerings and developing programs with both the global and local student in mind. 
Constantly changing demographics and student profiles have to be taken into consideration in program 
development.  Lastly, financial sustainability and viability is also an important factor that the current 
program development process overlooks on occasion.   
 
There were suggestions made by participants that program development within the College should be 
modeled closer to an R&D department. This program development ‘R&D’ function would operate 
throughout the year in order to discover and deploy programs that are in currently in demand, as well as 
manage existing programs in order to ensure program relevancy.  
 


Automated Services  
 


Risk Category Risk and Risk Definition Risk Level 


Student and 
Client Success 


The College does not take advantage of automated services available 
or automated services provided do not meet client expectations or 
demonstrate a level of client service acceptable to the College, 
including at peak times. 


High 


Management Identified Practices: 


Identified practices used to mitigate this risk included: Automated services already established in the 
registrar’s office and awareness of automated benefits is increasing in the College. In recent years, 
automated services have been given a high priority in the strategic plan and resources have been 







Algonquin College Risk Profile 11 


devoted to the development and implementation of automated services in more areas of the College.  


 
Despite already having some automated services established and pockets of success with automated 
services within the College, the College struggles when implementing services that reduce manual 
processes and increase client satisfaction, both for external (students) and internal (staff, administrators 
and faculty) clients. In addition, comments indicated that automated services do not always maintain an 
acceptable service standard during peak times. Participants recognized that there are a high number of 
manual processes within the College and the time-consuming nature of these processes impede any 
potential change initiatives within the College. Management perceived the successful integration of 
automated services as an essential ‘building block’ that will enable staff to have more flexibility to both 
participate in, and lead, change initiatives. Comments also underscored the fact that any automation 
efforts have to be well planned and executed, and that the true increases in efficiencies have to be 
derived from new systems and processes, as opposed to implementing a new system/process that 
requires the same, if not more amount of an employee’s time.  
 
While there have been improvements in this area, management emphasized that there are still 
opportunities for improvement which would help to lower the risk exposure.  It was suggested that further 
investigation into the current processes within the College would help identify inefficiencies where 
automation could improve business processes.  The College must also recognize that although 
automation will typically reduce manual effort and time, there is still a requirement to allocate ongoing 
resources to administer and maintain these new automation systems (that is, total lifecycle costing). 
 
 
Labour Relations 


 


Risk Category Risk and Risk Definition Risk Level 


Empowered 
People 


Poor relations or changes occur within the work environment that lead 
to conflicts involving labour unions, thereby disrupting normal 
operations. 


High 


Management Identified Practices: 


Identified practices used to mitigate this risk included: Management continued to conduct regular Union-
College Committee meetings, meets with our Support Staff union, and meets with union executives on a 
regular basis to discuss any "issues of the day". Management has also attempted to meet with the 
faculty union executive, but in 2012 only 2 meetings have occurred and requests for additional meetings 
have not even been acknowledged.   


Management remains committed to improving this negative working environment with our faculty union 
executive. 


 
Management feels that the current labour relations environment, especially with the faculty union, is not 
ideal. Comments also underlined that the collective agreements with faculty do not offer sufficient 
flexibility in terms of IT innovation within the classroom. Furthermore, the current labour relation 
environment also has a negative impact on productivity. Participants have also indicated that there is a 
potential reputational impact when labour relations are discussed in the media.  
 
Comments have indicated that several aspects of this risk are contingent on potential government 
legislation, but since this risk is mostly outside of the College’s control, the College should carefully 
monitor legislative developments and prepare for any potential impacts.  
 
 
Change Readiness 


 


Risk Category Risk and Risk Definition Risk Level 


Empowered 
People 


Employees are unable to implement process and program/service 
improvements quickly enough to keep pace with changes in the 


High 







Algonquin College Risk Profile 12 


marketplace. 


Management Identified Practices: 


Identified practices used to mitigate this risk included: smaller College campuses have an ability to 
adapt to change more quickly than the larger campus. The College has also established a Faculty 
Innovation Fund/Center that provides resources as well as a forum in which faculty are able to 
experiment with and initiate new ideas and technologies. In addition, the College has established a 
Business Process Review function that works with departments to improve and streamline existing 
College processes. 


 
Management has noted that the College’s ability to change with fluctuating student demographics and 
employer demands is a critical success factor for the College. The participant comments outlined several 
factors that contribute to the College’s inability to change rapidly. The first factor cited was the reluctance 
to change engrained in the College’s culture. An organization-wide change initiative would help shift the 
culture towards one that is more change oriented. The other factor that surfaced from discussions is that 
employees are often too encumbered with day-to-day tasks in order to properly lead and participate in 
change initiatives. This point was also discussed in the automated services risk. As mentioned previously, 
improved implementation of automated services would help free up employee time for change initiatives.  
 
Participants have also outlined a perception that change initiatives from lower to middle management are 
sometimes suppressed and change initiatives have a tendency to be directed by upper management in a 
top-down manner. This sentiment ties into a theme that surfaced during the risk workshop; the College is 
a hierarchical organization. Change within the College also seems to be directed by senior management. 
Mitigation strategies included orienting the College towards becoming a more horizontal organization. 
Furthermore, it was suggested that staff should have more autonomy and responsibility in completing 
their tasks. In other words, staff should be provided with high level goals and the tools to get there. This 
would allow staff the flexibility to change and innovate in order to best reach those goals.  
 
 
Medium Risks 
 
It is also important to underscore that, of the 16 risks addressed during the workshop, 5 were rated as 
‘medium’, suggesting that these areas could also present impediments to the College if left unattended or 
if circumstances change.  For these ‘medium’ risks, management has determined that given recent 
improvements in many of these areas to reduce exposure to the organization, strategies, enablers and 
controls exist to adequately manage these risks to an acceptable level of exposure.  Management has 
nonetheless acknowledged that further improvements could be made to further mitigate ‘medium’ risks.   
 
While it may be tempting to attempt to monitor and mitigate medium risks to the same extent as high 
risks, leading practices recommend that risk management efforts be focused on a limited number of risks 
presenting the highest exposure, and be aligned with the organization’s risk management capacity.  As 
risk mitigation practices become sufficiently established to reduce the exposure of ‘high’ risk areas, 
management intends to turn its attention to addressing the medium and low risks.   
 
It is recommended that risks in the areas of budgeting and planning, enrollment targets, experiential 
learning, program offering/mix and business productivity be monitored and examined more carefully 
once the ‘high’ risk exposure areas have been sufficiently addressed.  This monitoring should include 
updating the risk profile on a regular basis to determine if high risk areas have changed. 
 
 
 
 







Algonquin College Risk Profile 13 


4.0 Next Steps/On-going Risk Management 


While the College has undertaken a risk assessment and is now in the process of identifying required risk 
mitigation activities, there are additional activities which should be undertaken to implement a 
comprehensive risk management program, and to help ensure the program is sustainable and provides 
value to the organization.  The key activities which should be considered include establishing a clear risk 
management governance structure, clarifying ownership and expectations for the management of ‘high’ 
exposure risks, establishing and executing on a reporting and monitoring strategy for key risk exposures, 
and continuing to evolve the risk management program overall.  
 
When planning the steps ahead, it is imperative that senior management considers the inter-linkages 
between the assessed risks.  The College will require a dialogue to discuss the relationships and 
horizontality of the risk exposures when developing a comprehensive approach for mitigation. 
 


4.1 Establishing a Clear Risk Management Governance Structure 


The design of a robust architecture for risk management begins with a clearly understood governance 
model which includes a clear risk management policy as well as clarity of risk management-related roles 
and responsibilities.  These elements are critical to building the foundation needed for ongoing effective 
risk management implementation.   
 
The College does not currently have a formal risk management policy but the development and 
implementation of a policy would be a crucial next step. A risk management policy is intended to provide 
clarity on the requirements of the risk management program and to promote a common understanding 
and vocabulary regarding risk management.  A risk management policy can include details on the 
College’s risk culture, definition of terms (e.g. risk indicators, mitigation practices, etc.), roles and 
responsibilities, required risk management activities, and required communication to both senior 
management and the College. 
 
It is also critical to clarify risk management-related roles and responsibilities.  Roles typically include 
multiple levels of management as well as the organization’s governing body. Preferably, a Chief Risk 
Officer (CRO) or executive champion/sponsor would be nominated in order to drive the ERM program 
forward.   Example descriptions of roles and responsibilities in a risk management governance structure 
are included in Appendix E. 
 


4.2 Clarifying Ownership and Expectations for the Management of ‘High’ Exposure Risks  


The critical next step in the College’s risk management development involves taking the results of the risk 
assessment and identifying appropriate mitigation strategies to lower the exposure of the high risks.  A 
critical success factor to accomplish this is the identification of a risk owner for each of the high exposure 
risks. Risk owners are identified as the individuals who are deemed ultimately accountable for the 
effective management of specific risks. The primary responsibility of a risk owner is to coordinate 
organizational efforts and action plans related to their assigned risk.  Risk owners are typically 
responsible for completing a risk register template for their assigned risk, performing the ‘root cause’ 
analysis to understand the factors driving the risks, and reporting periodically on the status of mitigation 
actions/steps taken to reduce the risk exposure.  A risk register template typically includes information 
such as: 


• Risk Definition and Assessment – includes the definition of the risk (including root-cause analysis 
to ensure there is clarity to the drivers which are causing the risk to be high exposure) and the results 
of the risk assessment. It should be noted that the root-cause analysis is a critical first step in 
determining what the required risk mitigation activities should be (since it is imperative to have a clear 
understanding of what is driving the risk to be high exposure, in order to be in a position to determine 
what the required risk mitigation strategies need to be). 







Algonquin College Risk Profile 14 


• Summary Comments – provides high-level analysis of the status of the risk and any progress on key 
mitigation plans.  The risk owner can also provide comments on their level of confidence in existing 
practices/actions and/or any outstanding issues.  Recommendations on other mitigating strategies 
that might be required to further reduce risk can also be included. 


• Overview of Current Practices – includes any comments by the risk owner on actions/plans which 
are in place on an ongoing basis and are operating effectively. 


• Current Mitigation Plans/Actions – summarizes mitigating plans or actions which have been put in 
place by management to reduce the potential risk exposure.  For each mitigation plan or action there 
is assigned accountability, a targeted completion date, and status on the progress achieved to-date.  
The risk owner is responsible for providing an update on the progress on the mitigating plans/actions. 


• Risk Indicators – identified key measures or metrics used by management to track the effects of 
mitigating strategies on reducing the risk exposure.  A risk indicator can be something which senior 
management can actively control, or cannot control but still chooses to monitor.  A significant, 
prolonged change in these indicators would indicate that the potential risk exposure may have 
changed.   Key risk indictor information captured on the risk template includes target and actual 
metrics, a tolerance level / range which is acceptable to management, and a comment on whether the 
actual result is sufficient achievement of the target. Both leading and lagging indicators should be 
considered. 


An example risk register template has been included in Appendix F. 


4.3 Establishing and Executing on a Reporting and Monitoring Strategy for Key Risk 
Exposures  


Establishing a strategy for risk monitoring and risk reporting ensures that risk management remains a 
topic of discussion for the management team, provides a forum to challenge risk mitigation activities and 
status, and provides a mechanism to ensure that key stakeholders are updated regularly on risk 
exposures.   
 
To ensure continued emphasis on risk management, it is generally recommended that risk updates be 
added as a standing agenda item at selected senior management meetings.  During this agenda item, the 
identified risk owner for a specific risk would provide an update on the status of the risk and progress on 
key mitigation practices/actions.  Risk owners would also address the level of confidence in existing 
practices/actions and/or provide recommendations on other mitigating strategies that might be required to 
further reduce the risk exposure.  The senior management team would challenge the results to ensure 
they were comfortable with the conclusions being reached about the ongoing risk exposure levels. 
 
In addition to reporting to senior management, the Audit Committee / Board of Directors should also 
receive periodic updates from senior management on the organization’s risk exposures (e.g. bi-annual 
update on ‘high’ risk exposures, annual update on the risk profile). 
 
An example risk reporting strategy has also been included in Appendix F. 
 


4.4 Other Risk Management Implementation Considerations to Continue to Evolve the Risk 
Management Program 


Updating the Risk Universe 


The Risk Universe is intended to be a “living” document that will evolve and change as the College 
evolves. Updating and revising the Risk Universe and reviewing the risk profile on a regular basis (e.g. 
annually) is considered to be a leading practice. 
 







Algonquin College Risk Profile 15 


Communication and Training 


A critical component of any risk management program relates to communication and training to help 
educate the participants in the risk management process.  This should range from senior-level, strategic 
presentations, to more detailed training sessions for those facilitating and participating in specific risk 
management activities.  Communication/training material can be developed and delivered to staff on 
general risk management concepts, benefits, and application (including integration with ongoing day-to-
day processes).  Ongoing communication and training can also be used to reinforce the fact that risk is 
everyone’s responsibility collectively.  This will also help to promote a culture of risk responsibility and 
awareness. The implementation of a risk management program should address these types of change 
management considerations. 
 


Integration with Planning Processes 


The risk profile can provide important context when making resource allocation and strategic planning 
decisions.   In budgeting and planning, risk information can be used as a factor in determining the relative 
priority of any planned initiatives or expenditures. Ideally, efforts and resources should be focused on 
reducing the College’s risk exposure.  In the budgeting and planning process, priority can be placed on 
initiatives which help address or reduce a high or medium risk to the College.  


Integration with Internal Audit Activities 


The risk profile serves as a valuable input in the internal audit risk-based audit planning process and 
development of the annual internal audit plan.  A key role of internal audit is to provide senior 
management with “re-assurance” that management’s assessment and perception of risks and control 
effectiveness is indeed accurate.  For example, for risks which were assessed as high impact and low 
likelihood, the role of internal audit can be to review and test the risk mitigation controls and practices 
identified by management and provide management with qualitative and quantitative data on the 
adequacy and effectiveness of those risk mitigation controls.  Integrating risk management results with 
internal audit activities is therefore critically important. 


Cascaded Risk Management 


For select risks and risk areas, as noted previously, it is often beneficial to further break the risk down into 
sub-components in order to help identify root causes, risk drivers, and contributing factors.  This analysis 
can be facilitated by the risk owner but likely will need to include other stakeholders and subject matter 
experts from the organization.  This analysis will help the risk owner and management to identify and 
prioritize the critical issues which are considered to be the root causes/sources of the risk, and thereby 
identify required risk mitigation strategies and potential risk indicators. When the risk owners complete 
their risk registers, this type of activity should be considered.  Additionally, there may be benefit to doing 
this type of cascaded risk analysis for particular areas or programs within the organization (e.g. particular 
support functions, or key funding programs, etc.), and providing the results of these more operational risk 
assessments as input into the organization’s more strategic risk profile process. 


 







Algonquin College Risk Profile 16 


Appendix A - Approach and Methodology 


The following illustrates the approach and methodology being used to develop and act on the College’s 
Risk Profile: 


 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Step 1 - Data Gathering and Risk Universe Development  
 
For the first step in developing the Risk Profile for the College, a draft ‘Risk Universe’ was compiled, using 
previously identified risk categories and risks from similar post-secondary institutions. The draft Risk 
Universe represented a list of potentially significant risks that could be faced by the College.  Feedback 
on this draft Risk Universe was sought from members of the College’s executive-level management team 
through interviews and online surveys.  Interviews were conducted with the President, VPs and directors 
(n=7). In discussions with the College’s management team, the draft Risk Universe was refined to clarify 
the risks and/or identify any critical risks that were missing. Online surveys were also conducted in order 
to gather perspectives on the risks from Algonquin’s management. The Risk Universe included a broad 
list of possible risks that could impact an entity similar to Algonquin College. A finalized Risk Inventory, 
consisting of the top 16 risks from the Risk Universe, was developed which reflected the input provided. 
 
Step 2 - Working Session to Assess and Validate Risks 
 
Risk Assessment Workshop and Validation 
A risk assessment workshop was conducted with the executive-level management team.  The focus of 
the risk assessment workshop was to assess the risk exposure related to each of the risks identified in 
the Risk Inventory in order to determine and prioritize those risks which are of higher priority and require 
further mitigation by management.  
 
During this session, each of the risks was evaluated, using the following criteria:  
 


• Likelihood - Given the controls and practices in place today, how likely is it that this risk will 
occur? 


• Impact – What would be the impact on the College’s ability to meet its goals and objectives if this 
risk were to occur? 


• Anonymous voting technology was used to allow all participants to assess each of the individual 
risks. The following five point scales were used to assess both likelihood and impact for each risk. 
A list of risk workshop participants is included in Appendix G. 


 


Step 2 
Working Session to Assess 
and Validate Risks 


• Facilitate risk assessment 
working session to assess 
likelihood and impact of risks 
occurring 


• Validate risk assessment 
results with management. 


Step 3 
Risk Reporting and Risk 
Mitigation Planning 


• Compile results and 
develop draft Risk Profile 
Report 


• Solicit feedback and reflect 
feedback in Risk Profile 
Report 


• Risk “owners” (as identified 
by management) develop 
draft risk mitigation plans 
for the highest risk 
exposure risks 


• Management review and 
approval of risk mitigation 
plans 


• Update Risk Profile   
Report  


Step 1 
Data Gathering and Risk 
Universe Development 
 


• Using previously identified risks 
and frameworks from similar 
post-secondary institutions, 
develop a draft Risk Universe 


• Conduct interviews with select 
personnel (President, VPs, and 
Directors) to get comments on 
Risk Universe and to identify 
potential missing risks 


• Formalize the Risk Universe 
with specific risk statements for 
each risk. 







Algonquin College Risk Profile 17 


Table 2: Likelihood Criteria 


 
 
Table 3: Impact Criteria 


 


 


Following the risk assessment workshop, a heat map of the top risks was presented to the College’s 
management to validate the risk assessment results. 
 
Step 3 - Risk Reporting, Establishing Risk Tolerance and Risk Mitigation Planning 
 
The objective of this step in the project was to summarize the results of the risk assessment process in a 
Risk Profile report (i.e. this document). The Algonquin College Risk Profile captures the insights and 
information gathered through the initial interviews and the risk assessment workshop. The profile 
presented in this report is a snapshot of the organization's risks, including key risks that should be 
mitigated by management to enable the organization to achieve its objectives and results. 
 
Based on the results of the risk assessment process, the College’s senior management established its 
risk tolerance level, agreeing that the six risks assessed as ‘high’ exceed the College’s risk tolerance and 
therefore require immediate attention.  The critical next step in this process, as noted previously, will be to 
assign risk owners for each of the organization’s high exposure risks that require ongoing and active 







Algonquin College Risk Profile 18 


management.  The primary responsibility of a risk owner is to coordinate organizational efforts and action 
plans related to their assigned risk.  This step is ongoing at the time of the creation of this Risk Profile 
document.







Algonquin College Risk Profile 19 


Appendix B - Discussion on Risks 


This appendix includes detailed descriptions for each of the risks in the Algonquin College Risk Inventory, 
and summarizes comments and discussion raised by participants in relation to each of the risks.  These 
comments provide an overview of some of the perceptions, existing controls and mitigating actions, and 
key factors that influenced the risk assessment, helping to put the risk assessment results into context for 
the College. 
 
The risks presented below have been categorized in terms of risk exposure, ranging from high to low. 
 
Note: Management identified practices listed below are examples only and are not meant to represent a 
complete list of mitigating practices.  A key responsibility of risk owners will be to identify the remaining 
relevant mitigating practices.   
 


High Exposure Risks 


IT Infrastructure 


Risk Category Risk and Risk Definition Risk Level 


Financial 
Sustainability 


Inadequate information technology (e.g. hardware, networks, 
software, people and processes) to effectively support requirements 
and maintain the College’s competitive advantage. 


High 


Perspectives on the Risk: 
Management noted concerns with the current IT infrastructure and the ability of IT systems to continue 
to meet the College’s needs.  Participants noted that there is a tendency within the organization to 
maintain existing manual processes as opposed to re-designing processes (i.e., potentially introducing 
new IT systems) to increase efficiency and effectiveness.   In that context, it was suggested that the 
number of manual processes could be greatly reduced through automation and improved integration of 
IT systems.  The discussion also emphasized that successful implementation of large IT projects have 
to consider the total cost of systems ownership, including ongoing maintenance and upgrade costs. 
Furthermore, a key point that surfaced during discussions was to consider the end-users within the IT 
infrastructure risk. This meant providing the proper IT systems training for the staff. The driving point for 
this was that if the end-users do not properly use the available technology, IT infrastructure will be 
perceived as dysfunctional and lacking and the College will not be able to move forward in its Digital 
College direction. Discussions also underscored the fact that the College does not adequately integrate 
IT knowledge requirements in the hiring process, potentially leading to a staff that does not take full 
advantage of the current IT systems. 
 
Management Identified Practices:  
Identified practices used to mitigate this risk included:  A commitment to becoming a Digital College 
through the strategic plan and strong IT leadership. This includes a focus on a 3 to 5 year technology 
plan that takes into account the enrolment projections and the shift to digital delivery of class content 
and learning experiences.  Work has also been done in realigning the development of pedagogical 
content with delivery needs. Enhanced network, process and solution monitoring, analysis and alerting 
are also being installed to help ensure compliance with Service Level Agreements and performance 
objectives 


 


 


 







Algonquin College Risk Profile 20 


Knowledge Management 


Risk Category Risk and Risk Definition Risk Level 


Empowered 
People 


Knowledge management practices are insufficient/inappropriate in 
order to support informed decision making and otherwise maintain the 
corporate memory of the College. 


High 


Perspectives on the Risk:  
In relation to the Digital College initiative from the College strategic plan, knowledge management was 
cited as being a high risk area, given its critical nature in making informed decisions. Participants noted 
that the main challenge was gathering and summarizing relevant and insightful business knowledge 
from numerous decentralized legacy systems. Comments indicated that the right data was captured by 
the College’s systems but the difficulty was in extracting the data from various scattered sources. The 
lack of a cohesive knowledge management system also impacted other processes such as enrollment 
targets, where enrollment numbers can sometimes be difficult to synthesize, as well as processes that 
require any sort of student/program statistics. In addition, participants noted that knowledge of the 
College’s systems and processes is not adequately captured from employees. This risk is exemplified 
by the fact that several employees that are critical knowledge sources for some legacy systems are on 
the verge of retirement. In other words, key business knowledge is not adequately retained from 
employees and the College could lose this knowledge when these employees leave the College.   
 
Management Identified Practices: 
Identified practices used to mitigate this risk included: College data is retained within the applications 
that capture / generate the data, but support for decision making and analysis is not readily accessible 
at this time.  Through the broad mandate of the Business Intelligence group within IIRTS, initiatives are 
underway to catalogue, federate and make available improved data for decision making within the 2013-
14 timeframe.  Capture and retention of knowledge outside core operating systems remains an open 
priority for the College 


 


Program Development 


Risk Category Risk and Risk Definition Risk Level 


Program 
Development 


Resource requirements, appropriate demand, and time to deploy are 
not sufficient to develop and launch new academic programs. 


High 


Perspectives on the Risk:  
Management noted several concerns with the current program development process, primarily citing 
concerns with the available budget for course development as well as the current approach to program 
development.  The issue centers around the fact that program development dollars are tied to annual 
one-time investment requests and are not included in the base budget.  Participants noted that there is 
currently no established budgeting process for program development and that aside from a nominal 
amount of funds provided at the start of the fiscal year when the budget is approved, additional funding 
is primarily granted in the summer, just as the main resource for the process (faculty) leave for summer 
vacation. The participants also noted that not enough analytics are conducted for program planning 
purposes. There have been challenges in integrating diverse delivery methods (mobile/online/hybrid) 
with the College’s offerings and developing programs with both the global and local student in mind. 
Constantly changing demographics and student profiles have to be taken into consideration in program 
development.  Lastly, financial sustainability and viability is also an important factor that the current 
program development process overlooks on occasion.   
 
There were suggestions made by participants that program development within the College should be 
modeled closer to an R&D department. This program development ‘R&D’ function would operate 
throughout the year in order to discover and deploy programs that are in currently in demand, as well as 
manage existing programs in order to ensure program relevancy. 
 
Management Identified Practices: 







Algonquin College Risk Profile 21 


Identified practices used to mitigate this risk included: The College has the right resources to generate 
and develop good program ideas. In addition, there are budgeting tools used in order to estimate 
program development costs, as well as models that test the financial viability of Algonquin’s offerings. A 
formal Labour Market Analysis for new Ontario College and Degree programs under consideration was 
conducted.   


 


Automated Services 


Risk Category Risk and Risk Definition Risk Level 


Student and 
Client Success 


The College does not take advantage of automated services available 
or automated services provided do not meet client expectations or 
demonstrate a level of client service acceptable to the College, 
including at peak times. 


High 


Perspectives on the Risk:  
Despite already having some automated services established and pockets of success with automated 
services within the College, the College struggles when implementing services that reduce manual 
processes and increase client satisfaction, both for external (students) and internal (staff, administrators 
and faculty) clients. In addition, comments indicated that automated services do not always maintain an 
acceptable service standard during peak times. Participants recognized that there are a high number of 
manual processes within the College and the time-consuming nature of these processes impede any 
potential change initiatives within the College. Management perceived the successful integration of 
automated services as an essential ‘building block’ that will enable staff to have more flexibility to both 
participate in, and lead, change initiatives. Comments also underscored the fact that any automation 
efforts have to be well planned and executed, and that the true increases in efficiencies have to be 
derived from new systems and processes, as opposed to implementing a new system/process that 
requires the same, if not more amount of an employee’s time.  
 
While there have been improvements in this area, management emphasized that there are still 
opportunities for improvement which would help to lower the risk exposure.  It was suggested that 
further investigation into the current processes within the College would help identify inefficiencies 
where automation could improve business processes.  The College must also recognize that although 
automation will typically reduce manual effort and time, there is still a requirement to allocate ongoing 
resources to administer and maintain these new automation systems (that is, total lifecycle costing). 
 
Management Identified Practices: 
Identified practices used to mitigate this risk included: Automated services already established in the 
registrar’s office and awareness of automated benefits is increasing in the College. In recent years, 
automated services have been given a high priority in the strategic plan and resources have been 
devoted to the development and implementation of automated services in more areas of the College.  


 


Labor Relations 


Risk Category Risk and Risk Definition Risk Level 


Empowered 
People 


Poor relations or changes occur within the work environment that lead 
to conflicts involving labour unions, thereby disrupting normal 
operations. 


High 


Perspectives on the Risk:  
Management feels that the current labour relations environment, especially with the faculty union, is not 
ideal. Comments also underlined that the collective agreements with faculty do not offer sufficient 
flexibility in terms of IT innovation within the classroom. Furthermore, the current labour relation 
environment also has a negative impact on productivity. Participants have also indicated that there is a 
potential reputational impact when labour relations are discussed in the media.  
 







Algonquin College Risk Profile 22 


Comments have indicated that several aspects of this risk are contingent on potential government 
legislation, but since this risk is mostly outside of the College’s control, the College should carefully 
monitor legislative developments and prepare for any potential impacts.  
 
Management Identified Practices: 
Identified practices used to mitigate this risk included: Management continued to conduct regular Union-
College Committee meetings, meets with our Support Staff union, and meets with union executives on a 
regular basis to discuss any "issues of the day". Management has also attempted to meet with the 
faculty union executive, but in 2012 only 2 meetings have occurred and requests for additional meetings 
have not even been acknowledged.   
Management remains committed to improving this negative working environment with our faculty union 
executive. 


 


Change Readiness 


Risk Category Risk and Risk Definition Risk Level 


Empowered 
People 


Employees are unable to implement process and program/service 
improvements quickly enough to keep pace with changes in the 
marketplace. 


High 


Perspectives on the Risk:  
Management has noted that the College’s ability to change with fluctuating student demographics and 
employer demands is a critical success factor for the College. The participant comments outlined 
several factors that contribute to the College’s inability to change rapidly. The first factor cited was the 
reluctance to change engrained in the College’s culture. An organization-wide change initiative would 
help shift the culture towards one that is more change oriented. The other factor that surfaced from 
discussions is that employees are often too encumbered with day-to-day tasks in order to properly lead 
and participate in change initiatives. This point was also discussed in the automated services risk. As 
mentioned previously, improved implementation of automated services would help free up employee 
time for change initiatives.  
 
Participants have also outlined a perception that change initiatives from lower to middle management 
are sometimes suppressed and change initiatives have a tendency to be directed by upper management 
in a top-down manner. This sentiment ties into a theme that surfaced during the risk workshop; the 
College is a hierarchical organization. Change within the College also seems to be directed by senior 
management. Mitigation strategies included orienting the College towards becoming a more horizontal 
organization. Furthermore, it was suggested that staff should have more autonomy and responsibility in 
completing their tasks. In other words, staff should be provided with high level goals and the tools to get 
there. This would allow staff the flexibility to change and innovate in order to best reach those goals.    
 
Management Identified Practices: 
Identified practices used to mitigate this risk included: smaller College campuses have an ability to 
adapt to change more quickly than the larger campus. The College has also established a Faculty 
Innovation Fund/Center that provides a resources as well as a forum in which faculty are able to 
experiment with and initiate new ideas and technologies. In addition, the College has established a 
Business Process Review function that works with departments to improve and streamline existing 
College processes. 


 


Medium Exposure Risks 


As risk mitigation practices are sufficiently established to reduce the ‘high’ risk exposure areas, 
management intends to turn its attention to addressing the medium and low risks. 


 







Algonquin College Risk Profile 23 


Budgeting and Planning 


Risk Category Risk and Risk Definition Risk Level 


Financial 
Sustainability 


Resource allocation is inappropriate or inconsistent / misaligned with 
the College’s strategic plan and priorities. 


Medium 


Perspectives on the Risk: 
Participant comments in this area have outlined that a reasonable budget approach is followed where 
the College’s primary operations are funded from grants and tuition revenues.  In addition, there has 
been progress towards aligning the budget with the strategic plan. Management has also indicated that 
the current budgeting process is overly manual, and does not involve enough analysis, another 
symptom stemming from the College’s suboptimal knowledge management practices.  
 
Participants have suggested a few mitigation strategies. One of these strategies involves prioritizing 
classroom activities and learning as the budget priority. Services that don’t directly support learning 
should be challenged further and be based on other sources of funding. Another suggestion called for 
additional training and better orientation regarding budgetary and fiduciary responsibilities. There were 
also comments regarding potentially decentralizing the budget further, and giving each department more 
autonomy and responsibility in setting and meeting budgeting goals. 
 
Management Identified Practices: 
Identified practices used to mitigate this risk included: The College has a good budgeting model where 
primary operations are funded with grant and tuition revenues.  


 


Enrolment Targets 


Risk Category Risk and Risk Definition Risk Level 


Applied 
Education and 
Training 


Enrolment targets across all programs are not satisfactorily met or are 
based on unrealistic or incomplete assumptions. 


Medium 


Perspectives on the Risk: 


Management has indicated that historically, enrolment targets have been driven by budgeting and 
funding needs – due to the fact that government funding is granted on the basis of enrolment. 
Participants have noted that enrolment figures should be based on current student and industry trends, 
and that there is a lack of information for both of those data points. Comments were made that 
enrolment projections are currently felt to be well monitored and forecasted and the College’s diverse 
mix of programs does provide some hedging against large enrolment swings in one program area. In 
addition, there have been difficulties in obtaining an accurate figure for current enrolment, due to the 
decentralized state of multiple legacy systems.  
 
Management Identified Practices: 
Identified practices used to mitigate this risk included: A strong College history of and commitment to 
accurate enrolment forecasting and adequate monitoring; there is also a strategic enrolment committee 
in place.  


 


Experiential Learning 


Risk Category Risk and Risk Definition Risk Level 


Applied 
Education and 
Training 


The College does not provide sufficient/suitable experiential learning 
opportunities, including applied research. 


Medium 







Algonquin College Risk Profile 24 


Perspectives on the Risk:  


Management noted that the College has an ambitious goal in this area. A goal of the College’s strategic 
plan is for all students to have some sort of exposure to experiential learning during their studies at the 
College. This strategic goal raises the exposure for this risk. Participants noted that the College is 
currently not providing adequate experiential learning opportunities in some programs. Management has 
suggested that the College has to build the right facilities and workplace/placement partnerships in order 
to fulfill this strategic goal. In addition, the student and industry demand for experiential learning is high 
and the College needs to devote more resources into this area in order to pursue these opportunities.  
 
Management Identified Practices: 
Identified practices used to mitigate this risk included: For the majority of programs, a relevant 
experiential learning offering exists.  


 


Program Offering/Mix 


Risk Category Risk and Risk Definition Risk Level 


Applied 
Education and 
Training 


The mix of programs offered by the College does not adequately 
reflect demand, diversity, employee trends, and/or financial 
sustainability. 


Medium 


Perspectives on the Risk:  


Management has noted that the approach to evaluating and altering the program offering/mix has not 
been in the context of a long term and holistic perspective. This is partly due to the fact that the college 
is currently lacking a cohesive knowledge management system. This is further accentuated by 
comments indicating that there are creative program ideas from staff and faculty but the process is not 
responsive enough to implement these changes. In addition, the College needs to keep the long term in 
mind and needs to consider how best to prepare students for jobs that don’t even exist today.  
 
Management Identified Practices: 
Identified practices used to mitigate this risk included: Strategic Program Review has been conducted to 
evaluate the program offering and the process to phase out out-dated/low demand programs has 
already begun. 


Business Productivity 


Risk Category Risk and Risk Definition Risk Level 


Financial 
Sustainability 


Innovation and improvements to business processes are not effective 
in optimizing business productivity. 


Medium 


Perspectives on the Risk: 
Comments have indicated that several aspects of this risk stem from the current labour relations 
environment. More specifically, due to collective agreements in place with certain faculty/staff, it is more 
difficult to increase the productivity/utilization of these faculty/staff.  In addition, the faculty’s workload 
can be more easily measured for some functions but it is more difficult with other departments. This is 
important because staff utilization is an important aspect of business productivity.  
 
Management has also noted that as a mitigation measure, a review should be considered to look at 
where efficiencies could be achieved and where excess paperwork could be eliminated where value is 
not added. 
 
Management Identified Practices: 
Identified practices used to mitigate this risk included: Faculty has a standard workload formula that 
takes into account hours of teaching as well as number of students with measurable productivity. 


 







Algonquin College Risk Profile 25 


Low Risk Exposures 


Physical Infrastructure  


Risk Category Risk and Risk Definition Risk Level 


Applied 
Education and 
Training 


Inadequate infrastructure (e.g. lecture rooms, residences) to 
effectively support the current and future requirements of the College 
in a controlled, cost-effective and efficient manner. 


Low 


Perspectives on the Risk: 
Management has noted that the College currently uses its property in a very space-efficient manner. 
The College also has a good idea of future demand and is actively anticipating that demand with its new 
buildings. The concerns that were cited included a large deferred maintenance liability, as well as the 
proper maintenance of legacy heating and cooling systems. In addition, the College has to consider how 
technology will integrate with the physical infrastructure of the campus in order to move forward in its 
digitally-driven College strategic initiative.  
 
Management Identified Practices: 
Identified practices used to mitigate this risk included: Strong infrastructure planning resources and the 
current expansion of the College are taking future needs into account.  


 
 


Recruitment & Retention of Faculty, Staff and Administrators 


Risk Category Risk and Risk Definition Risk Level 


Empowered 
People 


The College cannot attract and retain the necessary faculty, staff and 
administrators with the passion, credentials, skills, and experience to 
effectively deliver on the College’s mission and strategic directions. 


Low 


Perspectives on the Risk: 


The comments made by participants noted that the College has done a good job of retaining the right 
staff but that there is currently a challenge in attracting the right talent at the senior management level. 
There is a shallow talent pool and the quality of potential candidates is declining. Burn-out is also a 
problem among front line staff.  Academic chairs often face an unbalanced workload/pay ratio, 
compared to unionized faculty. 


Participants have noted that the part time workers are usually one of the first budget cuts to be made. 
The potential unionization of these workers could lead to very significant costs for the College. In some 
areas, it has also been difficult to recruit part time workers due to wages that the College can’t compete 
with. 
 
Management Identified Practices: 
Identified practices used to mitigate this risk included: the current HR system and succession/leadership 
planning initiatives. 


 


Retention 


Risk Category Risk and Risk Definition Risk Level 


Student and 
Client Success 


The College is unable to foster a culture and implement practices that 
promote student retention. 


Low 


Perspectives on the Risk: 
Management has noted that retention has improved in recent years, due to various initiatives that the 
College has implemented but it remains a key risk that is to be closely monitored. Comments have also 







Algonquin College Risk Profile 26 


surfaced the issue of the government moving towards providing funding on a retention basis and the 
College has to be prepared for such a shift.  
 
Comments have indicated that most initiatives that the College implemented have not been on a 
College-wide scale and that large initiatives should be closer examined for potential benefits. In addition, 
A College-wide commitment is necessary in order to move towards improving retention rates. More 
collaboration is needed between student support services and faculty. 
 
Management Identified Practices: 
Identified practices used to mitigate this risk included: orientation activities, tutors, student/guidance 
councillors, student satisfaction surveys and early student contact.   


 


Recruitment Criteria 


Risk Category Risk and Risk Definition Risk Level 


Student and 
Client Success 


The College does not develop recruitment criteria that targets students 
best able to succeed. 


Low 


Perspectives on the Risk: 


One of the main points that surfaced during discussions was the uncertainty about whether the College 
should remain an accessible institution or only target students best able to succeed. There have also 
been comments about changing demographics and performance indicators within students. Once again, 
the right knowledge management tools would help mitigate this risk further, by allowing management to 
properly gauge the most relevant performance indicators for each program.  


 


There have also been comments that the College’s programs lack flexibility in that students will have 
difficulty switching programs mid-stream.  In addition, there is a general sentiment that students coming 
from high school are less prepared than before; the question is what should be done to prepare for such 
students.  
 
Management Identified Practices: 
Identified practices used to mitigate this risk included: The College Strategic Enrolment Committee is 
currently reviewing recruitment practices. 


 


Innovation 


Risk Category Risk and Risk Definition Risk Level 


Empowered 
People 


Current management models and initiatives do not adequately foster a 
culture of innovation and entrepreneurship within the staff. 


Low 


Perspectives on the Risk: 
Management has indicated that innovation is partly stifled by the College’s legacy systems. In addition, 
there is also no culture of continuous improvement at the College. The current hierarchical atmosphere 
within the College does not optimally foster innovation. Even though there has been success in fostering 
innovation within academic staff, several participants have noted a perception that innovation only 
happens from senior management in a top-down context.  
 
Comments have noted that even though innovation has the potential to be disruptive, it could prove 
beneficial on a smaller scale. Suggested mitigation strategies have indicated that innovation should be 
integrated with the processes and the services the College and that distributed leadership could be 
beneficial in order for staff to take responsibility and start to truly innovate from the bottom up. 
 
Management Identified Practices: 
Identified practices used to mitigate this risk included:  No specific mitigation practices were discussed.  







Algonquin College Risk Profile 27 


However, the College has established a Business Process Review (Value Stream ) function with an 
administrator who works with various College departments to improve processes and eliminate non-
value add activities. 


 


 







Algonquin College Risk Profile 28 


Appendix C - Risk Universe 


A Risk Universe is a tool which is used to facilitate the risk assessment process and becomes the basis 
for documenting, assessing and monitoring risks.  


The Risk Universe represents the “portfolio” of risks to be managed by the College at any given point in 
time.  It is based on the principles of enterprise risk management and as such considers all types of risks 
across the organization.  It is intended to examine both threats and opportunities in the context of an 
organization’s mandate, objectives and available resources. The Risk Universe forms the basis of a 
systematic and disciplined approach to comprehensive risk management. 


The purpose of the Risk Universe is to:   


• Identify significant existing and potential external and internal risks influencing the organization's 
policy and management agenda; 


• Provide a common means of classifying and communicating risk across the organization through 
a consistent “risk language”; 


• Provide a structure for the assessment, reporting and monitoring of risk on an ongoing basis; and 


• Assist in demonstrating accountability to Government officials. 


Ultimately, the Risk Universe will allow the College to demonstrate that it has a structured and 
comprehensive risk management program, and will assist the College in assessing its key risks and 
managing them to an acceptable level of exposure.  


 


Algonquin College Risk Universe 


The Algonquin College Risk Universe includes five risk categories and a total of 40 risks.  The Risk 
Universe is shown below: 


Risk Category Specific Risks and Risk Definition 


1 - Applied 


Education and 


Training 


1.1 - Program Offering/Mix 


The mix of programs offered by the College does not adequately reflect demand, 
diversity, employee trends, and/or financial sustainability. 


1.2 - Program Development 


Resource requirements, appropriate demand, and time to deploy are not sufficient 
to develop and launch new academic programs. 


1.3 - Program Acceptance   


College programs do not reflect student/employer demand, or do not provide 
relevant degree experience. 


1.4 - Enrolment Targets 


Enrolment targets across all programs are not satisfactorily met or are based on 
unrealistic or incomplete assumptions. 


1.5 - Performance Measurement 


Inadequate program performance metrics or ineffective program performance 
measurement practices do not adequately evaluate program performance and 







Algonquin College Risk Profile 29 


Risk Category Specific Risks and Risk Definition 


allow for corrective measures to be implemented. 


1.6 - Industry Partnerships 


Failure to capitalize on partnering & fundraising opportunities or expand the 
College’s engagement with industry.   


1.7 - Experiential Learning 


The College does not provide sufficient/suitable experiential learning 
opportunities, including applied research. 


1.8 - Community Connections 


Inability to develop centers of excellence or program clusters that take advantage 
of local community strengths. 


1.9 - Physical Infrastructure 


Inadequate infrastructure (e.g. lecture rooms, residences) to effectively support 
the current and future requirements of the College in a controlled, cost-effective 
and efficient manner. 


2 - Student and 


Client Success 


2.1 - Recruitment Criteria 


The College does not develop recruitment criteria that targets students best able 
to succeed. 


2.2 - Student Experience / Satisfaction 


Social/academic activities and student orientation programs do not adequately 
engage students or foster a sense of belonging amongst students. 


2.3 - Retention 


The College is unable to foster a culture and implement practices that promote 
student retention. 


2.4 - Client Services 


The quality of client services delivered to students does not meet expected 
standards set out by the College.   


2.5 - Automated Services 


The College does not take advantage of automated services available or 
automated services provided do not meet client expectations or demonstrate a 
level of client service acceptable to the College, including at peak times. 


2.6 - Security 


College security measures fail to prevent damage or injury to students, staff 
and/or property. 


2.7 - Diverse Delivery Channels 


Inability to keep pace with, understand, or respond to the evolving needs of 
students for educational content accessible through various delivery channels 
(mobile, hybrid and online). 


2.8 – Outreach 


The College is not able to leverage social media and other collaborative tools in 
order to engage existing and prospective students in a positive manner. 


2.9 - Access to Knowledge/Tools 


Students do not have access to the knowledge, skills, training and tools they 







Algonquin College Risk Profile 30 


Risk Category Specific Risks and Risk Definition 


require to thrive in today’s digitally connected world. 


3 - Empowered 


People 


3.1 – Innovation 


Current management models and initiatives do not adequately foster a culture of 
innovation and entrepreneurship within the staff. 


3.2  - Recruitment & Retention of Faculty, Staff and Administrators 


The College cannot attract and retain the necessary faculty, staff and 
administrators with the passion, credentials, skills, and experience to effectively 
deliver on the College’s mission and strategic directions. 


3.3 - Leadership Development 


Faculty and staff are not effectively led or provided with development opportunities 
that are required to thrive in a fast-changing college environment. 


3.4 - Succession Planning 


The College fails to identify and develop key personnel for succession planning 
purposes and does not effectively plan for resignations and retirements. 


3.5 - Communication and Collaboration 


Ineffective communication results in messages that are inconsistent or does not 
help to build employee engagement and collaboration. 


3.6 - Performance Management 


Individual performance is not adequately measured/captured or performance 
evaluation is imbalanced or not aligned with the College’s strategies and 
objectives. 


3.7 - Change Readiness 


Employees are unable to implement process and program/service improvements 
quickly enough to keep pace with changes in the marketplace. 


3.8 - IT Efficiency 


IT systems are not properly implemented to create operational efficiencies or 
increase automation. 


3.9 - Knowledge Management 


Knowledge management practices are insufficient/inappropriate in order to 
support informed decision making and otherwise maintain the corporate memory 
of the College. 


3.10 - Labor Relations 


Poor relations or changes occur within the work environment that lead to conflicts 
involving labor unions, thereby disrupting normal operations. 


4 – Financial 


Sustainability 


 


4.1 - Partner Investment 


Inability to develop and manage partnerships with government, industry, alumni 
and individuals in support or academic programs, student financial aid and 
facilities investment. 


4.2 - Budgeting and Planning 


Resource allocation is inappropriate or inconsistent / misaligned with the College’s 
strategic plan and priorities.  


4.3 - Business Productivity 







Algonquin College Risk Profile 31 


Risk Category Specific Risks and Risk Definition 


Innovation and improvements to business processes are not effective in 
optimizing business productivity.  


4.4 - Capital / Revenues 


Inability to secure sufficient capital and/or seek out alternative revenue sources to 
reduce dependency on government funding.  


4.5 - Investment Selection 


The College is unable to create a suitable investment decision framework or fails 
to adequately measure all costs and benefits of investments. 


4.6 - Sustainability 


The College fails to embed sustainable practices in accordance with the College’s 
Sustainable Strategy Framework.  


4.7 - Government Commitment 


The College does not adequately anticipate and/or provision for fluctuations in 
levels of government funding, threatening the College’s capacity to offer 
competitive programs and services.  


4.8 - Student Financial Capacity 


The College does not adequately anticipate and/or provision for fluctuations in 
levels of government funding, threatening the College’s capacity to offer 
competitive programs and services. 


4.9 - IT Infrastructure 


Inadequate information technology (e.g. hardware, networks, software, people 
and processes) to effectively support requirements and maintain the College’s 
competitive advantage. 


4.10- IT Investments 


Investment in IT systems is conducted in a manner that is not aligned with goals, 
sustainable, cost-effective or well-controlled. 


4.11 - Information Reliability 


Limited reliability in data or the quality and consistency of information for decision-
making, both within and external to the College. 


4.12 – Access 


Failure to adequately restrict access to confidential/personal information (data or 
programs) may result in unauthorized access and use of information, or overly 
restrictive access to information may preclude personnel from performing their 
assigned responsibilities effectively and efficiently. 


 







Algonquin College Risk Profile 32 


Appendix D - Risk Heat Map and Voting Results 


Risk Heat Map 


The following is the heat map that was generated on the April 2, 2012 risk workshop. The corresponding 
risks for the positions on the heat map follow below, in the voting results. 


 


Risk Workshop Voting Results 


Below are the voting results from the April 2, 2012 risk workshop. The numbers beside each risk 
correspond to their position in the above heat map. The total risk score was calculated by multiplying the 
average voting results of the risk likelihood and impact. The risks were then prioritized and categorized 
based on the risk score.  


Risk Name 
Average 
Impact 


Average 
Likelihood 


Risk Score 
(I*L) 


Risk Rating 


(15)   IT Infrastructure 4.4 4.3 18.8 High 


(16)   Knowledge Management 3.9 4.1 16.0 High 


(6)     Program Development 3.8 4.0 15.5 High 


(12)   Automated Services 3.7 4.0 14.7 High 


(1)     Labour Relations 3.7 3.9 14.3 High 


(4)    Change Readiness 3.8 3.7 13.8 High 


(13)  Budgeting and Planning 4.0 3.4 13.5 Medium 


(7)    Enrolment Targets 3.7 3.4 12.4 Medium 


(8)    Experiential Learning 3.4 3.6 12.5 Medium 


(5)    Program Offering/Mix 3.8 3.2 12.1 Medium 







Algonquin College Risk Profile 33 


Risk Name 
Average 
Impact 


Average 
Likelihood 


Risk Score 
(I*L) 


Risk Rating 


(14)  Business Productivity 3.4 3.4 11.7 Medium 


(9)    Physical Infrastructure 3.6 3.1 11.1 Low 


(3)    Recruitment & Retention of Faculty, Staff 
        and Administrators 


3.6 3.1 11.1 Low 


(11)  Retention 3.8 2.8 10.8 Low 


(10)  Recruitment Criteria 3.3 3.2 10.5 Low 


(2)    Innovation 3.0 3.4 9.9 Low 


 


 







Algonquin College Risk Profile 34 


Appendix E - Risk Governance Roles and 


Responsibilities 


The following are suggested roles and responsibilities of key risk management governance stakeholders. 
 
Table 3: Description of Roles and Responsibilities 


Stakeholder Roles and Responsibilities 


President  • Has overall accountability for risk management within the College. 


• Sets the tone for risk management and also participates in risk 
identification and assessment processes. 


• Contributes to and reviews and approves risk mitigation strategies. 


Audit Committee • Provides oversight for risk management.   


• Provides independent input on what constitutes good practice in risk 
management. 


• Receives regular updates from senior management on risk exposure, risk 
mitigation strategies, progress and issues. 


Senior Management 
Committee 
 


• Oversees management’s implementation of an appropriate Risk 
Management program to manage the risks related to the College’s 
business strategy and objectives. 


• Receives regular reporting on risk exposure, risk mitigation strategies, 
progress and issues.  


• Considers implications of risks and risk management activities to 
determine whether risks are being appropriately addressed.  


• Endorses and monitors the effectiveness of Risk Management policies 
and tolerances. 


• Annually reviews and approves the Risk Management strategy, and 
policies. 


• Ensures the appropriateness of risk governance and infrastructure. 


• Monitors for significant changes to Algonquin’s Risk Profile. 


 
Chief Risk Officer 
(CRO) or equivalent 
 


• Aligns risk management and deploys the strategy across the College. 


• Ensures the integration of Risk Management with strategic planning and 
management decision processes. 


• Maintains a current view of the risk profile, analyzes, consolidates and 
reports. 


• Develops and recommends Risk Management policies. 


• Develops and ensures the effective execution of risk assessment, 
measurement and monitoring processes. 


Risk Owners 
 


Individuals who own, and therefore are deemed accountable for the effective 
management of one of the specific risks.  Risk owners are responsible for: 


• Setting direction and monitoring the continual effectiveness of risk 
mitigating strategies relating to their assigned risk. 


• Obtaining information and feedback from Management & staff, the Chief 
Risk Officer (or equivalent), Internal Audit, third parties and other sources 
on whether the risk mitigating strategies put in place are effective. 







Algonquin College Risk Profile 35 


• Develops action plan, coordinates efforts, and integrates with other 
projects to ensure that management of their specific risk is effective. 


• Monitors and reports on status. 


VPs, Directors and 
Managers 
 


VPs, Directors and Managers are responsible for risk taking and managing 
their own risks. Responsibilities include: 


• Applying processes, practices, models and standards established by the 
Risk Management function to identify, assess, manage and report on 
risks. 


• Application of risk-aware thinking in day-to-day activities. 


• Consideration for the College’s current risk profile when conducting 
planning and budgeting activities. 


Internal Audit Responsible for independently evaluating the effectiveness of the Risk 
Management processes and practices and for providing assurance on the 
adequacy and operation of internal controls to senior management. Internal 
Audit: 


• Evaluates and recommends improvements on the effectiveness of the 
Risk Management processes. 


• Reviews and assesses the effectiveness and integrity of controls and 
mitigating practices for key risk exposures. 


• Liaises with external auditors to minimize redundancy and ensure 
efficiency of risk assurance activities. 


 







Algonquin College Risk Profile 36 


Appendix F - Risk Reporting Template 


The following is an example of a risk register template which can be used in the risk reporting process: 
 


Risk Category Specific Risk Risk Owner 


   


Risk Definition (including root-cause 
analysis to identify risk drivers) 


Last Risk Assessment Current Risk Assessment 


 Impact High Impact Medium 


Likelihood High Likelihood Medium 


Overall High Overall Medium 


Summary Comments on Risk Vulnerability 


• {High-level analysis of status of the risk (i.e. risk indicator results) and progress on key mitigation 
plans 


• Comment on level of confidence in existing practice/actions and/or any outstanding issues 


• Recommendations on other mitigating strategies that might be required to further reduce risk} 


Overview of Current Practices 


• {Comments describing key ongoing practices that the College engages in to address this area} 


Current Mitigation Plan(s) Accountability 
Target Completion 
Date 


Progress 
versus 
Plan 


    


    


    


Risk Indicators 
Last 


Actual 
Current 
Actual 


Trend (up/ 
down/unch.) 


Target 
Met 


(yes/no/ 
on track) 


   Up  Yes 


   Down  No 


   Unchanged  On Track 







Algonquin College Risk Profile 37 


The following is an example of a risk reporting strategy. 
 


Risk Level
   


Senior 
Management 
Response 


Role of Risk Owner
   


Risk Reporting to Senior 
Management Team 


Risk Reporting 
to the 
Governing 
Body 


High Actively discuss and 
assess rigour of 
current mitigating 
actions. 
 
Identify any 
additional mitigating 
actions. 


Individual assigned by 
risk to document 
mitigating actions and 
practices, monitor, and 
report on risk.   


Includerisk discussion as a Senior 
Management Team standing 
agenda item and discuss at selected 
Senior Management Team 
meetings.  


Bi-Annual 


Medium Periodically monitor 
and discuss any 
changes. 


Individual assigned by 
risk to monitor 
changes. 
 
Risk function 
coordinates with risk 
owners to gather 
updates on risks as 
required. 


 
Escalate/de-escalate 
risks if status changes 


Only changes in an individual 
medium risk which could potentially 
cause it to move to the high risk 
level are reported to Senior 
Management Team (as required).   
 
A formal bi-annual discussion is 
conducted with Senior Management 
Team. 


NA 


Low NA  No risk owner is 
assigned. 
 
Risk function monitors 
status. 


Only reported/discussed at Senior 
Management Team if the risk 
function or Senior Management 
Team considers the risk level has 
changed to high. 
 
On an annual basis, senior 
management should refresh the 
strategic risk assessment.  


NA 







Algonquin College Risk Profile 38 


Appendix G - Risk Workshop Participants 


A risk workshop was held on April 2, 2012 with the following participants: 
 


• John Tattersall 


• Duane McNair 


• Cathy Dempsey 


• Rob Powell  


• Joy McKinnon 


• Michel Savard 


• Misheck Mwaba  


• Denyce Diakun 


• Doug Ouderkirk 


• Gerry Barker 


• Kathryn Moore 


• Jane Trakalo  


• Mark Hoddenbagh 


• Laura Stanbra 


• Kevin Latimer 


• Dave Donaldson 


• Michael Sparling 


• Karen Foster 


• Deborah Rowan-Legg 


• Brenda Rothwell 


• Murray Kyte 


• Glenn MacDougall 


• Peter Mackie 


• Kent MacDonald 








  Algonquin College Business Continuity Plan 
 


1 
 


 


 


 
 
 
 
 


 
 
 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


Prepared by  
Sherryl Fraser MSBC, ABCP 


Professor (Police and Public Safety Institute)


BUSINESS CONTINUITY PLAN 
 
 







  Algonquin College Business Continuity Plan 
 


2 
 


This page intentionally left blank. 







  Algonquin College Business Continuity Plan 
 


3 
 


EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 


 


Overview: 
As part of the mandate requested by the Audit Committee of the Board of Governors, an 
Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) Framework is currently under development.  The 
ERM Framework and its tools are established to provide a coordinated and consistent 
means of managing College risks.  ERM involves a pro-active holistic enterprise-wide 
view of all risks and the institution’s risk appetite and tolerances.  
 
As part of the Enterprise Risk Management initiatives, the President’s Executive 
Committee sanctioned the development of a Business Continuity Plan for the College. 
Business Continuity Planning (BCP) includes the development and timely executions of 
plans, measures, procedures and arrangements to create resilience around critical 
services.  BCP ensures that critical services are not interrupted beyond established 
maximum allowable downtimes which have been established within the context of 
College risk tolerance thresholds. 
 
This BCP applies to all departments within Algonquin College.  The purpose of the Plan 
is to outline the processes and procedures to be used to respond to any event, and to 
recover and restore Algonquin College’s operations and services to minimum levels 
following a traumatic event, emergency or disruption.  In addition, both Pembroke and 
Perth Campus are also undertaking to develop their own BCPs, in coordination with 
Algonquin College’s BCP Program.  
 
The following assumptions have been made in the development of the College’s BCP: 


 


• Emergencies or threatened emergencies can adversely impact the College’s 
ability to continue essential functions and provide support to the day-to-day 
operations 


• There will be sufficient number of surviving and available senior managers with 
adequate supporting personnel to continue the essential functions of the College 


• Communication capabilities, transportation, and other infrastructures will be 
sufficiently intact to allow implementation of the BCP 


• A disaster may require student, faculty, staff, and the public to function with 
limited support services and some degradation of service, until a full recovery is 
made. 
 


The BCP can be described as progressing through four phases: 
  


a. Phase 1 - Mitigation and Prevention.  Mitigation plans and controls 
eliminate or reduce threats and hazards that can impact operations.  Key aspects 
are ensuring personnel safety, physical security of facilities, systems integrity and 
records management;  
b. Phase 2 – Response to a Disruption.  The College’s actions to be taken 
during a crisis, emergency or a disruption include assessing the situation, 







  Algonquin College Business Continuity Plan 
 


4 
 


reporting damage to the Director of Physical Resources, activating alternate 
facilities as necessary, populating details of the incident on Blackboard, notifying 
and briefing the President’s Council and the College Leadership Council as 
required, activating BCP(s) as required and, throughout, communicating with 
employees, partners and the public; 
c. Phase 3 – Recovery.  Re-establishing critical operations and services as 
directed by President’s Council; and activating the College’s recovery plans (e.g. 
IT/IM continuity) to ensure minimum service levels are maintained and maximum 
allowable downtimes are respected; and 
d. Phase 4 – Restoration.  Re-establishing all College’s operations and 
services to normal levels.   


 
The governance area includes the development of a BCP policy instrument to document 
accountability for the program and to set out roles and responsibilities. The Governance 
structure is outlined and aligns with the Enterprise Risk Management Framework. 
 
The business impact analysis (BIA) identifies what the critical services of Algonquin 
College are, the Maximum Allowable Downtime (MAD) of each critical operation within 
Algonquin College and how resilient they are to hazards as well as identifying 
operational risks to those services.  The business impact analysis is necessary, along 
with some assessment of threats and risks, for defining mitigation, preparedness and 
recovery strategies that will form the basis for Algonquin College’s risk management 
strategy. 
 
Algonquin College’s Critical Operations, at the highest level, can be grouped into three 
categories.  
 


1. Safety and Security – Activities needed to sustain a safe and secure environment 
for students, faculty, staff, the public and surrounding community.  While the 
Emergency Response Plan addresses restoring safety and security, the 
Business Continuity Plan may be concerned with sustaining those functions for 
an extended period. 


 
2. Learning and Education – Activities that carry out or directly support the 


academic mission of the College.  Examples include student support services, 
admissions and registration, and learning. 


 
3. Business Support Services – Activities that allow the college to maintain 


necessary business operations, safeguard assets, and ensure financial viability 
of the College.  These include payroll, revenue collection, accounts payable and 
financial reporting. 


 
 
Algonquin College’s abilities to deliver its critical operations are reliant upon the 
continued delivery of certain internal and external dependencies.  Consideration must 
be taken in how these dependencies will be met/delivered or else provide mitigation 







  Algonquin College Business Continuity Plan 
 


5 
 


strategies to ensure continuity of critical operations. These dependencies can generally 
be categorized as: 


 
a. Internal Dependencies: 


i. Facilities and network infrastructure; 
ii. Personnel; 
iii. Responsible Authority; 
iv. Decision Support; and 
v. Support/Sustainment. 


 
b. External Dependencies: 


i. Safety – i.e. first responders; 
ii. Services – electricity, gas, oil, water; 
iii. Communications – network providers; and 
iv. External suppliers and shippers. 


 
The intent for the BCP Program states: “Business Continuity Planning is the process 
whereby organizations ensure the maintenance of critical operations when confronted 
with adverse events such as natural disasters, technology failures, human errors, or 
terrorism.  The objectives of a business continuity plan are to minimize loss to the 
organization; continue to serve students, staff, faculty, and visitors; and mitigate the 
effects disruptions can have on the College’s strategic plans, reputation, operations, 
and ability to remain in compliance with applicable laws and regulations. Changing 
business processes and new threat scenarios require the college to maintain updated 
and viable BCP’s at all times. “ 
 
In the event of a disruption, information will be provided to the President’s Council as 
expeditiously as possible, using whatever means (e.g. briefings, telephone, e-mail) are 
appropriate. The initial information requirements of the President’s Council during a 
disruption of service are: 
 


a  the nature and scale of the disruption; 
b. the impact the disruption will have on the College operational capability 
and readiness; and 
c. the effect on staff, faculty and students. 


 
BCP readiness includes continuous maintenance, change management, training 
employees and other persons, exercising, preparing lessons learned reports and 
updating plans when there is a change in personnel, process, technology or 
departmental structure.  The BCP will be updated on an iterative basis to enable the 
Department to anticipate new risks and develop measures to address these risks.  BCP 
Program (BCPP) documentation should be revised every time there is a change to the 
organization that has an impact on the BCP Program 


 
BCP Program Documentation will be held by the Vice-President Finance and 
Administration and updated versions will be required to be reviewed and re-submitted at 







  Algonquin College Business Continuity Plan 
 


6 
 


least annually or whenever a significant organizational change occurs that would prompt 
a review and revision of a BCP document.   


 
Testing and validating the BCPs will be done on a regular basis, with a Senior 
Management level exercise conducted at a minimum every two years. 
 
This document is intended to provide an overview of the structure and key elements of a 
Business Continuity Plan.  The development of functional Departmental Business 
Continuity Plans will be the next step in this endeavour to ensure a robust program. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 







  Algonquin College Business Continuity Plan 
 


7 
 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


  


This page intentionally left blank. 







  Algonquin College Business Continuity Plan 
 


8 
 


Table of Contents 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY………………………………………………………………….. 3 
PLAN MAINTENANCE ............................................................................................ 99 


PART ONE - OVERVIEW .................................................................................... 1010 


INTRODUCTION ................................................................................................... 1010 


PURPOSE ............................................................................................................. 1010 


AUTHORITY .......................................................................................................... 1010 


APPLICABILITY..................................................................................................... 1111 


KEY DEFINITIONS AND REFERENCES .............................................................. 1111 


POLICY OBJECTIVES .......................................................................................... 1111 


ALGONQUIN COLLEGE BCP POLICY ................................................................. 1212 


METHODOLOGY .................................................................................................. 1313 


BCP GOVERNANCE ............................................................................................. 1414 


THREAT AND RISK ASSESSMENT (TRA) .......................................................... 1414 


BUSINESS IMPACT ANALYSIS (BIA) .................................................................. 1414 


PART TWO – PLAN IMPLEMENTATION ........................................................... 1717 


ASSUMPTIONS..................................................................................................... 1717 


ALGONQUIN COLLEGE’S STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE .......................................... 1717 


CONCEPT OF OPERATIONS ............................................................................... 1717 


INITIAL INFORMATION REQUIREMENTS ........................................................... 2020 


BCP RESPONSIBILITIES ..................................................................................... 2121 


ALGONQUIN COLLEGE SUPPORTING PLANS AND PROGRAMS.................... 2424 


ALGONQUIN COLLEGE BCP READINESS ......................................................... 2626 


ANNEXES ............................................................................................................ 2828 


ANNEX A – Algonquin College Response Plan ..................................................... 2828 


ANNEX B - Information Technology Business Impact Analysis Report ................. 2828 


ANNEX C - Business Impact Analysis Report ....................................................... 2828 


ANNEX D - Pandemic Plan ................................................................................... 2828 


ANNEX E - Glossary .............................................................................................. 2828 


 







  Algonquin College Business Continuity Plan 
 


9 
 


PLAN MAINTENANCE 
 
Algonquin College’s Business Continuity Plan (BCP) and accompanying annexes will be 
updated as required.  Specifically, maintenance entries will record: 
 


• The conduct of plan reviews and exercises; and 


• Changes to organizational structures and/or functional responsibilities. 
. 
 
 


 


BUSINESS CONTINUITY PLAN AMENDMENT HISTORY 
 


Change # Date Brief Description and Page Reference Authorized By 


    


    


    
    


    
    
    
    
    
    


    
    
    
    
    
    


    
    
    
    
    
    
    


    
    
 
 







  Algonquin College Business Continuity Plan 
 


10 
 


PART ONE - OVERVIEW 


INTRODUCTION 


 
Every organization is at risk from potential disruptions resulting from: 
 


• Natural disasters such as tornadoes, floods, blizzards, earthquake and fire; 
 


• Power and energy disruptions; 
 


• Communications, transportation, safety and service sector failures; 
 


• Environmental accidents causing facility contamination; 
 


• Cyber attacks and hacker activity; and 
 


• Physical attacks.  
 
Notwithstanding objectives related to humanitarian, liability and financial (property) 
exposures, the College owes a duty of care that is reasonable in the circumstances to 
protect and provide for students, faculty, staff, and visitors in the event a major 
interruption of our mission or operation. This obligation, depending on the 
circumstances, represents a regulatory exposure stemming from provincial legislation 
such as the Occupier’s Liability Act and the Occupational Health & Safety Act.  These 
obligations extend to a responsibility to provide services for each Department to be able 
to meet its individual obligations.  This includes the ability to provide the services 
expected of them to carry out functions critical to the mission of the College should an 
event occur that interrupts the normal course of operations.  Failure to have an 
adequate continuity plan could lead to financial disasters, interruptions of academic 
classes, loss of reputation, and delays in completing other mission critical activities. 
 
 


PURPOSE 


 
The purpose of this plan is to outline the processes and procedures to be used to 
respond to any event, and to recover and restore the College’s operations and services 
to minimum levels following a traumatic event, emergency or disruption. 
 


AUTHORITY 


 
Algonquin College’s BCP has been prepared under the direction of the Vice-President 
Finance and Administration. 


 







  Algonquin College Business Continuity Plan 
 


11 
 


APPLICABILITY 


 
This BCP applies to all Departments within Algonquin College. 
 


KEY DEFINITIONS AND REFERENCES 


 
A complete list of key references and glossary of BCP terms can be found at annexes E 
and F respectively.  The following key definitions will be used throughout this plan: 
 


a. Business Continuity Planning (BCP) Business Continuity Planning 


focuses on restoring critical services following any disruption that renders the 


normal workplace or systems unusable for longer than can be tolerated. The 


planning is aimed at identifying those critical and essential business activities 


that must be restored, establishing the order of priority for their restoration, 


and where possible making arrangements for the required staff, equipment, 


records and office facilities. 


 
b. Critical Operations and Services are functions that when not delivered 


creates an impact on the health and safety of individuals and that may 
lead to the failure of an Academic or Administrative activity if not 
performed in a specified time period.   


 
c. Business Impact Analysis (BIA) is the process of analyzing the degree 


to which a Department is exposed to risks, and impacts that could affect 
its ability to function, or its ability to provide the continuous delivery of 
critical services. 


 
d. Business Continuity Program is characterized by the establishment of a 


governance structure, the conduct of a threat and risk assessment and a 


business impact analysis, the development of business continuity plans and 


arrangements and the maintenance of business continuity readiness.  


 


 


POLICY OBJECTIVES 


 
The objective of Algonquin College’s BCP Program is: 
 


“to provide for the continued availability of critical services and assets, and 
of other services and assets when warranted by a threat and risk 
assessment and/or Business Impact Analysis.” 


 







  Algonquin College Business Continuity Plan 
 


12 
 


The BCP Program complements emergency preparedness that is mandated by 
legislation (e.g. fire and building evacuation plans; civil emergency plans). 
 


ALGONQUIN COLLEGE BCP POLICY 


 
The Algonquin College BCP policy (yet to be approved) states that: 
 


“The objective of this policy is to ensure that business continuity planning is 
managed throughout Algonquin College to ensure the effective coordination and 
recovery of critical business functions and services in the event of a disruption 
resulting from any cause.  It is also to insure the protection of critical 
infrastructure and essential assets.” 


 


The BCP policy outlines the following: 


• Algonquin College must establish and maintain a business continuity planning 
(BCP) program to provide for the continued availability of critical services and 
assets, and of other services and assets when warranted by a threat and risk 
assessment and/or Business Impact Analysis; 


• A governance structure establishing authorities and responsibilities for the 
program, and for the development and approval of business continuity plans 
must be established; 


• Within the context of the identification of assets, an impact analysis must be 
conducted to identify and prioritize the department's critical services and 
assets; 


• Must have identified, within the context of the BCP guidelines and plan, the 
maximum allowable downtime and minimum service level expected; 


• Algonquin College and its rural campuses must identify critical/essential 
functions, develop and maintain business continuity plans and provide 
continued Program support; 


• Must ensure that plans, measures and arrangements will provide for the 
continued availability of critical services and assets, and of any other service 
or asset when warranted by a threat and risk assessment; 


• Must have in place contingency plans enabling the organization to provide for 
the continued availability of critical services and assets, and of any other 
service or assets; 


• Must have in place activities to monitor the organization’s level of overall 
readiness, and; 







  Algonquin College Business Continuity Plan 
 


13 
 


• Must have in place provision for the continuous review, testing and audit of 
business continuity plans. 


• Provide a system of accountability to report deficiencies and vulnerabilities 
through the appropriate chain of command in order to initiate and adopt 
appropriate corrective measures. 


 
The complete Algonquin College BCP Policy, once approved, will be found on the 
Sharepoint Drive. 
 


METHODOLOGY 


 
The diagram at Figure 1 illustrates the methodology used to implement the BCP 
Program within Algonquin College.   


 


BCP Methodology 


 
 


Figure 1 – Algonquin College BCP Methodology 


Affirm the role/mandate of the Department 


Step 1: 
Establish 


Departmental  
BCP Governance Step 2: 


Conduct a TRA 
Complete a 
Business  


Identify critical 
operations, functions, 
services and assets 


Step 3: 
Prepare Continuity 


and  Step 4: 
Program 


Readiness 


Identify what plans and arrangements already exist 


Develop continuity and recovery strategies 
Review and maintenance 


Develop a training and exercise program 
Audit and Evaluation 


 


Business Continuity Planning: 
Development and timely execution 


of plans, measures, procedures 
and arrangements to ensure 
minimal or no interruption to 


critical operations and the 
continued availability of critical 
services and associated assets.  


 


Identify interdependencies/resources 


Identify Maximum Allowable 
Downtimes 
(MAD) and Minimum Service Levels 
(MSLs) 


Step 5: 
Plan 


refinement/ 


-Loss of Staff   
  (e.g. Pandemic Influenza) 


- Loss/Disruption of Services     
  (e.g. utilities) 


- Loss/Disruption of Facilities 
  (e.g. physical damage) 


Establish clear lines of authority, 
accountability and responsibility 


Incorporate lessons        


learned 







  Algonquin College Business Continuity Plan 
 


14 
 


BCP GOVERNANCE  


 
Algonquin College’s BCP governance structure establishes clear lines of authority, 
accountability and responsibility.  This will ensure that the College is well prepared to 
respond to a disruption or emergency, thereby facilitating a rapid recovery and 
restoration of the College’s operations and services.   The Board of Governors directs 
the President to establish and maintain a BCP program.  Decision making authority on 
the BCP program resides with the President supported by the President’s Council 
 


THREAT AND RISK ASSESSMENT (TRA) 


 
In March 2008, Night Hawk Technology and Prolity were contracted to conduct a high 
level Threat and Risk Assessment. The scope of the assessment was to identify, at an 
over-arching strategic level, high risk assets including the human elements, those of 
students, faculty, staff, contractors and visitors of Algonquin College, the threats to 
those assets and the injury to those assets. 
Algonquin College’s Threat and Risk Assessment (TRA) identified a wide variety of 
events that could affect Algonquin College operations and services.  These events can 
be categorized as resulting in: 
 
1.   Threat to Life/Act Threatening People/Shooter on Campus 
2.   Violence on Campus (Stabbing/Assault/Intimidation) 
3.   Unpredictable Infectious Agent/Infectious Disease 
4.   Major Property Damage/Fire/Flood/Explosion 
5.   Electrical Power Failure (especially in winter)/Critical Infrastructure Failure 
6.   Rape/Sexual Assault 
7.   No IT Redundancy - No Alternate or Hot Site/Catastrophic IT Failure (Hardware) 
8.   Information Security - Limited Backups - Unstructured 
9.   Serious Industrial Accident 
10. Breach of Privacy 


BUSINESS IMPACT ANALYSIS (BIA) 


 
Algonquin College’s Critical Operations and Services.  The following operations 


performed by Algonquin College that have been identified as Critical processes 


generally fall into one of three general categories: 


 
Safety and Security – Activities needed to sustain a safe and secure environment for 
students, faculty, staff, the public and surrounding community.  While the Emergency 
Response Plan addresses restoring safety and security, the Business Continuity Plan 
may be concerned with sustaining those functions for an extended period. 
 
Learning and Education – Activities that carry out or directly support the academic 
mission of the College.  Examples include student support services, admissions and 
registration, and learning. 







  Algonquin College Business Continuity Plan 
 


15 
 


 
Business Support Services – Activities that allow the college to maintain necessary 
business operations, safeguard assets, and ensure financial viability of the College.  
These include payroll, revenue collection, accounts payable and financial reporting. 
 
The complete BIA including Maximum Allowable Downtime (MAD) and Priority Level of 
each of the critical operations or services is confidential.  It can be accessed on the 
Sharepoint Drive. 
 
Internal Dependencies: The internal dependencies have been identified as:  
 


a. Facilities and Network infrastructure; 
 


b. Personnel; 
 


c. Support /Sustainment; 
 


d. Command and Control; and 
 


e. Decision Support. 
 


 
External Dependencies.  The external dependencies of Algonquin College include, but 
are not limited to: 
 


a. Safety – first responders, fire, police and ambulance; 
 


b. Services – electricity, natural gas, oil, fuel, water; 
 


c. Communications – network providers; 
 


d. Facility management – service and maintenance; and 
 


e. External suppliers and shippers. 
 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 







  Algonquin College Business Continuity Plan 
 


16 
 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


 
  







  Algonquin College Business Continuity Plan 
 


17 
 


PART TWO – PLAN IMPLEMENTATION 
 
 


ASSUMPTIONS 


 
The following assumptions have been made in the development of the College’s BCP: 


 


• Emergencies or threatened emergencies can adversely impact the College’s 
ability to continue essential functions and provide support to the day-to-day 
operations 


• There will be sufficient number of surviving and available senior managers with 
adequate supporting personnel to continue the essential functions of the College 


• Communication capabilities, transportation, and other infrastructures will be 
sufficiently intact to allow implementation of the BCP 


• A disaster may require student, faculty, staff, and the public to function with 
limited support services and some degradation of service, until a full recovery is 
made. 


 
PRESIDENT’S COUNCIL INTENT 
The capability of Algonquin College to support the vision and mission as outlined in the 
strategic plan 2012-2017 must continuously be maintained. This means we must be 
prepared, in any circumstance, to continue to conduct critical operations and deliver 
critical services whilst recovering quickly from the effects of natural or human-induced 
trauma.  Redundancies, alternate arrangements and effective Departmental strategies 
must be in place and regularly exercised to ensure the continuity of critical operations 
and the uninterrupted delivery of critical services.   
 


ALGONQUIN COLLEGE’S STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE 


 
Algonquin College’s strategic BCP objective is to maintain the college’s operational 
effectiveness. 
 


CONCEPT OF OPERATIONS 


 
Algonquin College Recovery Strategy.  The Algonquin College BCP recovery 
strategy addresses the key requirements of the College to conduct critical operations 
and services, namely:  
 


a. Facilities and Network Infrastructure. 
 


(1) Arrangements to ensure essential services (sources of electricity, 
etc.) are to be in place; 


 







  Algonquin College Business Continuity Plan 
 


18 
 


(2) All departments within the College will identify alternate work sites 
for key staff; and 


 
(3) All departments will maintain arrangements to facilitate working 


from home combined with telecommuting where feasible. 
 
b. Personnel. 
 


(1) Notification and contact lists are to be maintained at all levels of the 
College; 


 
(2) Personnel mobilization plans are to be maintained; 


 
(3) Operationally critical personnel are to be identified; 
 
(4) The roles and responsibilities of key individuals involved in BCP are 


to be defined; 
 


(5) Arrangements to facilitate working from home during disruptions 
(e.g. Pandemic Influenza) are to be in place; and 


 
c. Concept of Operation. 
 


(1) Clear succession and lines of authority have been established; 
 


(2) Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs) are in place to manage a 
crisis, emergency or disruption within the College; 


 
(3) An incident management system is to be in place in Algonquin 


College; 
 


(4) The ERG (Emergency Response Group) or proposed CRMC 
(College Risk Management Committee) ensures that  
comprehensive BCP plans and arrangements are maintained; 


 
(5) Web site containing detailed information regarding Algonquin 


College’s BCP Program and the actions to be taken during a 
disruption has been established. 


 
d. Systems. 
 


(1) Specific recovery and response plans are to be developed for: 
 


(a) IT/IM continuity; 
 


(b) Communications; and 







  Algonquin College Business Continuity Plan 
 


19 
 


 
(c) Space. 


 
 


(2) Redundancies in communication systems are to be in place (non-
reliance on single systems/service providers); and 


 
(3) Manual procedures will be maintained; 


 
e. Decision-Support. 
 


Arrangements and procedures are to be in place to ensure decision 
support (advice) to the Board of Governors, the President and other 
executive authorities are maintained during a disruption.  


 
f. Sustainment.  


 
(1) Service-level agreements with vendors and suppliers during 


periods of disruption are to be maintained; and 
 
(2) Alternate service delivery options during periods of disruption are to 


be maintained.  
 
Cooperation with other Post Secondary Institutions and Partners.  In addition, 
Algonquin College will examine mutual aid, reciprocal arrangements with other Post 
Secondary Academic Intuitions and partners. 


 
 
Algonquin College BCP Plan. 
 


a. Phase 1.  Mitigation and Prevention.  Mitigation plans and preventative 
controls eliminate or reduce threats and hazards that may impact the 
department.  All departments within Algonquin College maintain plans, 
processes and procedures to ensure: 


 
(1) Employee safety, e.g. emergency management plans for personnel 


evacuation during fires and other emergencies; 
 
(2) Physical security of all facilities; 
 
(3) Systems integrity; and 
 
(4) Records management (if applicable). 


 
b. Phase 2: Response to a Disruption.  Algonquin College’s actions to be 


taken during a crisis, emergency or a disruption include: 







  Algonquin College Business Continuity Plan 
 


20 
 


 
(1) Assessment of  the situation and damages by College first 


responders  
 


(1.5)   Activation of the College Emergency Management Plan, as 
necessary 


 
(2) Activate alternate facilities as necessary  


 
(3) Details of incidents/events are populated in the Incident Command  


System established under the emergency management 
plan;(Emergency Operations Centre / President’s Council); 


 
(4) Notify the Vice-President of Finance and Administration; 


 
(5) Executive briefing to Presidents Council and others as invited; and 


 
(6) Communicate with employees, partners and the public; 


 
 
 


c. Phase 3: Recovery.   
 


(1) Re-establish critical operations and services as directed by 
President’s Council; and 


 
(2) Activate Algonquin College recovery plans (e.g. Information 


Technology/Information Management continuity) to ensure 
minimum service levels are maintained and maximum allowable 
downtimes are respected. 


 
d. Phase 4: Restoration.  
 


(1) Re-establish all Algonquin College operations and services to   
normal levels 


          


INITIAL INFORMATION REQUIREMENTS 


 
The initial information requirements of the President during a disruption of service are: 
 


a  the nature and scale of the disruption; 
 
b. the impact the disruption will have on the College’s operational capability 


and readiness; and 
 







  Algonquin College Business Continuity Plan 
 


21 
 


c. the effect on employees and students. 
 
This information will be provided to the President as expeditiously as possible, using 
whatever means (e.g., telephone, e-mail) are appropriate. 
 


BCP RESPONSIBILITIES 


 
The following BCP responsibilities have been assigned as outlined in the proposed BCP 
Policy. 


 
 
a. President 
 


(1) Ensure that the Business Continuity Plan Program is adhered to 
and report findings to the Board of Governors; and 


 
(2) Approve major decisions affecting the College’s decision to invoke 


Business Continuity Plans. 
 
 
b. President’s Council 


 
 (1) Providing leadership at the corporate level in the BCP Program as 


required; and 
  
 (2) Setting priorities and resolving conflicts at the Dean and Director 


level in respect of the BCP Program. 
 
 


c. Vice-President Finance and Administration. 


 
 


(1) Developing implementing and maintaining the BCP Program to 
ensure the specified continuity of critical operations, services and  
associated assets, in the event of any disruption; 


 
(2) Identifying critical operations, services and associated assets; 


 
(3) Providing strategic direction and communication in respect of the 


BCP Program; 
 


(4) Implementing a comprehensive program to regularly validate and 
update the BCP Program; 


 
(5) Conducting strategic assessments to include: 







  Algonquin College Business Continuity Plan 
 


22 
 


 
(a) a review of the College’s governance structures to ensure 


clear lines of authority, succession of corporate leadership 
and alternate offices; 


 
(b) the completion of a strategic BIA to identify and prioritize 


critical operations, services and associated assets; and 
 


(c) the identification and review of existing plans, measures, 
procedures and arrangements designed to ensure continuity 
of critical operations, services and associated assets. 


 
 


 
d. Vice-Presidents 
 
 


(1) Developing, implementing and maintaining identified critical 
services in their business lines to ensure continued delivery of 
service; and 


 
(2) Conducting, as appropriate, Business Response Plans (BRPs) for 


departments, schools and other elements under their mandate. 
 


 
e. Information Institutional Research Technology Services (IIRTS)  
 


Developing, implementing and maintaining: 
 
(1) Business continuity plans for the management of Algonquin College 


critical information technology services and information 
management processes to support managed readiness; and 


 
(2) BCP readiness for critical and distributed information systems and 


supporting communications. 
 


f. Physical Resources 
 


Developing, implementing and maintaining a BCP to provide the 
necessary facilities, infrastructure and services supports for critical 
operations. 


  
g. Human Resources 


 







  Algonquin College Business Continuity Plan 
 


23 
 


Developing and maintaining BCP for Algonquin College employees to 
ensure adequate resources to support critical operations and services and 
continuing and HR planning services. 
 


 h. Deans and Directors. 
 


Developing, and maintaining business continuity plans for critical services 
under their management. 


i. Associate Director Safety, Security & Emergency Management 


(1) Developing, implementing and maintaining an emergency 
management framework that supports and integrates with the 
College BCP and providing general direction to the College Risk 
Management Committee (CRMC) on Algonquin College’s 
Emergency Management Framework as it pertains to the BCP 
Program; and 


 
(2) Providing strategic advice when the College Risk Management 


Committee (CRMC) approaches senior managers for direction. 
 
 j. College Risk Management Committee (CRMC) 
   


(1) Making recommendations to Presidents Council as required in 
respect of: 


 
 (a) the BCP Program policy and governance; 
 
 (b) the BIA and other templates; 
 


(c) the commitment of financial and other resources, and the 
endorsement of the budget for the BCP Program; and 


 
(d) identified critical services and associated assets after 


completion of the BIA; 
 


(2) Providing strategic direction and communication; 
 
(3) Providing recommendations to set priorities and resolve conflicts; 
 
(4) Directing training, review, testing and audit; and 


 
(5) Directing activities to monitor overall readiness. 







  Algonquin College Business Continuity Plan 
 


24 
 


 


ALGONQUIN COLLEGE SUPPORTING PLANS AND PROGRAMS 


 
Numerous plans and programs form an integral part of the Algonquin College BCP.  
They include: 
 


a. Departmental Business Continuity Plans.  The Departmental BCPs can 
be found on the SharePoint Drive.  The Vice-President Finance and 
Administration will provide oversight to this repository.  


 
 


b. Algonquin College’s Disaster and Recovery Plan.  The Algonquin 
College IT Department Business Impact Analysis Final Report can be 
found at Annex B:   


 
 


c. Vital Records Plan.  All organizations within Algonquin College need to 
maintain arrangements to ensure vital records protection.   


 
 


d. Algonquin College BCP Communication Plan.   
 


(1) Internal Communications.  Keeping Algonquin College 
employees and stakeholders informed of Departmental BCP 
activities is essential to ensure employees are aware of 
Departmental strategies, plans and procedures to deal with a 
disruption.   


 
(a) BCP information can be found on the Algonquin College’s 


Risk Management site  
       
    www.algonquincollege.com/         


 
(b) Classified information, such as the Algonquin College’s 


Business Impact Analysis (BIA) and Threat-Risk 
Assessment (TRA) can be found on the SharePoint Drive  


 
(2) External Communications.  In the event of a significant disruption, 


the Executive Director of Advancement will be the official 
spokesperson. Details outlining the process can be found on 
Algonquin College’s Crisis Communication Plan.   


 
(3) BCP Communications Strategy.  The detailed BCP 


Communications Strategy is available at Annex A. 
 


 







  Algonquin College Business Continuity Plan 
 


25 
 


e. Algonquin College Physical Security Plans.   
 


Algonquin College maintains extensive physical security plans.  Physical 
Resources is responsible for developing policies and plans to guide the 
management of safety and security of all its stakeholders within the 
college.   Physical Resources is responsible for all aspects of security 
within Algonquin College. The Associate Director of Safety, Security & 
Emergency Management is responsible for the integration of all aspects of 
security. Information on Algonquin College’s Physical Security Instructions 
can be found at:    
 http://algonquincollege.com/physical_resources/safety/ 


 
 


f. Algonquin College Emergency Management Plans.   
 


Algonquin College maintains and regularly practice their emergency 
response plans.  These plans have been prepared in accordance with 
best practices established by CSA standards for Emergency Management 
and Emergency Response and regulatory requirements such as the 
Occupational Health & Safety Act, Fire Code and Building Code.                                     


g. Algonquin College Safety Directives.   
The various safety directives can all be found at: 


I. HS02: Emergency Response  


II. HS03: Workplace Violence Prevention  


III. HS05: Accident Reporting and Investigation  


IV. HS06: Fire Safety and Emergency Evacuation 


V. HS07: Emergency Campus Closing 


VI. HS08: Fatal or Critical Injuries  


VII. HS09: First Aid 
 
 


h. Algonquin College Pandemic Influenza (PI) Plan.   
The Algonquin College plan to assist in minimizing, mitigating or   
preventing the spread and impact of a PI in order to preserve operational 
capabilities and readiness, save lives, and reduce human suffering can be 
found in Annex D. 


 
 


i. Labour Disruption Plan.  
Contingency plans have been developed in the event of an academic or 
support function disruption.  These plans are fluid due to the nature of the 







  Algonquin College Business Continuity Plan 
 


26 
 


event and are adjusted throughout the timeline of the disruption to ensure 
academic integrity. Due to the sensitivity and confidentiality of these plans, 
these plans are retained with Senior Leadership. 
 
  


 
j. Algonquin College Succession of Command and Alternate Location 


Plan.   
 


I. Algonquin College Succession of Command.  In the temporary 
absence or incapacity of the President, the Board of Governor’s would 
convene with President’s Council to appointment a Successor to the 


President. The successor may exercise all of the President’s powers, 
with the exception of matters that the President reserves for himself or 
herself. 


 
II. Alternate Location. Procedural guidance on the designation of an 


alternate location during the inoperability of C Building will be outlined 
in the Accommodations Plan 


 


ALGONQUIN COLLEGE BCP READINESS 


 
BCP readiness includes continuous maintenance, change management, training 
employees and other persons, exercising, preparing lessons learned reports and 
updating plans when there is a change in personnel, process, technology or 
departmental structure.  Algonquin College’s BCP will be updated on an iterative basis 
to enable the College to anticipate new risks and develop measures to address these 
risks. 
  
 a. BCP Document Revision Control.   
 
 


(1) BCPP documentation includes, but is no limited to: 


− relevant Policies and Directives; 


− Threat and Risk Assessments (TRA); 


− Business Impact Analyses (BIA); 


− Business Continuity Plans (BCP); and 


− Pandemic Plans. 
 


(2) BCPP documentation should be revised every time there is a 
change to the organization that has an impact on the BCPP.  This 
includes, but is no limited to: 


− organizational changes; 


− changes to mandate or function; 


− new accommodation; 







  Algonquin College Business Continuity Plan 
 


27 
 


− significant changes to existing accommodation; 


− new IM/IT or communications equipment; 


− significant changes to existing IM/IT or communication 
equipment; and 


− personnel changes requiring amendments to contact lists. 
 


(3) President’s Council will refresh its BCP annually or as required. 
 
(4) Deans and Directors will refresh their BCPs annually or as required. 
 
(5) Current copies of all BCPP documentation shall be held in a 


Central BCPP Repository on a SharePoint Drive by the Vice 
President of Finance and Administration. 


 
(6) Copies of all changes to any BCPP documentation shall be 


submitted to the Central BCPP Repository. 
 


b. Central BCPP Repository.  The Vice-President Finance and 
Administration.has established a Central BCPP Repository which holds 
copies of all current BCPs and BCPP documentation in a secure location 
in both hard and electronic formats. 


 
 c. BCPP Documentation Updates.  Whenever BCP documentation is  


updated, either due to the annual refreshing or other changes 
necessitating amendments, the amended document with the annotated 
changes shall be submitted to the Vice-President of Finance and 
Administration within 30 days of publication.  


 
d. BCP Exercises.  Testing and validating the BCPs will be done on a 


regular basis, with an exercise conducted at a minimum every two years.  
 


 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 







  Algonquin College Business Continuity Plan 
 


28 
 


ANNEXES 


ANNEX A – Algonquin College Response Plan  


Appendix 1 – President’s Council Contact List 
 Appendix 2 – Algonquin College’s BCP Response Management Process 


Appendix 3 – Algonquin College’s BCP Communications Strategy 
Appendix 4 – Algonquin College BCP Exercise Strategy 
 Sub-Appendix 4-1 –Exercise Scenarios 


ANNEX B - INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY BUSINESS IMPACT ANALYSIS REPORT 


ANNEX C - BUSINESS IMPACT ANALYSIS REPORT 


ANNEX D - PANDEMIC PLAN 


ANNEX E - Glossary 


 
**Annexes available for review upon request.** 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 








BOG Report - Budget Assumptions and ProForma 10DEC12.docx   1


 


 


Presentation to: Board of Governors 


Subject: 2013/14 Budget Assumptions and 3 Year Pro-forma 


Date: December 10, 2012 


Presenter(s):  Duane McNair, Vice-President, Finance and Administration 


 
Purpose 
 
To present the 2013/14 Budget Assumptions and 3-year Pro Forma. 


 
Background 
 
At the Board of Governors meeting in April the Board was presented with the 2012/13 
Annual Budget.  In addition, highlights of the 2012 Provincial Budget were presented  
that will have an impact on the College in 2013/14, 2014/15 and beyond: 
 


Algonquin Impact


Provincial Budget Measure 2013/14 2014/15


International Student Recovery Fee (450,000)$           (923,000)$           


Elimination of Small Northern and Rural Grant (900,000)$           (1,800,000)$        


'Policy Levers' - Operating Grant Reductions (1,000,000)$        (2,000,000)$        


International Student Municipal Tax (86,000)$              (86,000)$              


Elimination of Ontario Special Bursary Program TBD* TBD*


TOTAL IMPACT ON ALGONQUIN COLLEGE (2,436,000)$        (4,809,000)$        


* Dependent on impact of Ontario Tuition Grant  
 
At the Board of Governors retreat in September, management presented preliminary 
assumptions for the 2013/14 Annual Budget and a revised budget development timeline: 
 


CURRENT ACTIVITY PROPOSED


President's Council Retreat October 1 - 2


College Leadership Council Retreat October 25 - 26


January/


February/ 


March


Prepare Budget to Support Business 


Plan Priorities


November/


December/ 


January


April Annual Budget Presented to Board February


**If Required** - Board Amendments 


to Budget - Presented for Final 


Approval


March


June


Audited Financial Statements 


Presented to Board (includes 


spending from Internally Restricted 


Net Assets)


June


ESTABLISH BUSINESS PLAN PRIORITIES


Fall


BUDGET DEVELOPMENT


 







BOG Report - Budget Assumptions and ProForma 10DEC12.docx   2


College management has held retreats in October to begin establishing business plan 
priorities.  A task group has been formed to update budget assumptions and prepare a 
preliminary pro forma resulting in a balanced budget for Funded Activity.  While 
management has achieved a balanced pro forma for 2013/14 Funded Activity, Non-
Funded Activities and Strategic Investment Priorities are still under development and will 
be presented as part of the 2013/14 Annual Budget presentation to the Board in 
February 2013. 


Discussion/Considerations 


The preliminary pro forma for 2013/14 includes the following assumptions: 


• 3.1% full-time post-secondary enrolment growth 
• 0% price increase for full-time tuition and ancillary fees 
• No increase to General Purpose Operating Grant 
• $2.4 million increase in Enrolment Growth Grant 
• Salaries and benefits estimates based on current collective agreements 


and legislation 
• 0% increase for most other operating expenditures 
• No new capital funding 


The format of the pro forma is a preview of the revised format that will be used for the 
2013/14 Annual Budget.  This format continues to be aligned with the Strategic Plan 
(segregating Funded Activity from Non-Funded Activity) and reports the budgeted net 
contribution as per the new Public Sector Accounting Board Standards (PSAS).   


Funded Activity for 2013/14 and beyond is projected to produce a cash net contribution 
that will be sufficient to annually fund $2 million in contributions to Reserve Funds and 
the principal portion of long-term debt payments. 


The pro forma for Net Assets are projected to result in positive fiscal year-end balances 
for Unrestricted Net Assets plus Internally Restricted Net Assets.  This is compliant with 
the Ministry’s Business Plan Directive on Deficit Recovery Plans and the College’s 
Financial Management Policy. 


 
Recommendation 
 
That the Board of Governor’s accepts the report as presented, 
 
 
 


 
 
 
 
 


 
 
 
 
 
 
  







BOG Report - Budget Assumptions and ProForma 10DEC12.docx   3 







BOG Report - Budget Assumptions and ProForma 10DEC12.docx   4


 








  


BOG Transmittal Report - Audit Committee TOR 10DEC12.doc  


 
 


 
 
Presentation to: Board of Governors 


Subject: Audit Committee Terms of Reference 
Date: December 10, 2012 


Presenter(s):  Fred Blackstein, Chair of the Audit Committee 


 


 


Purpose:     
 
To present the revised Terms of Reference of the Audit Committee. 
 
Background:  
 
Over the past year, the Audit Committee has been developing revisions to its Terms of 
Reference to align with current best practices.   The Audit Committee Terms of 
Reference were previously reviewed and approved in 2003. 
 
Discussion/Consideration: 
 
Referencing current best practices, the Audit Committee has made the following 
amendments to its terms of reference: 


- Updated its responsibilities to include oversight of a pre-approval process to 
ensure external auditors’ independence, review and approve internal audit plans 
and reports and review and approve external audit plans;  


- Reflected the change in accounting and reporting standards from generally 
accepted accounting principles to public sector accounting standards; 


- Require that the Audit Committee approve the College’s annual submission of 
draft financial statement information to the Ministry; 


- Incorporated responsibilities and oversight of risk management and internal 
controls; and 


- Amended the Term of Appointment to a minimum of 2 years. 


In addition, the name of the Committee has been amended to Audit and Risk 
Management Committee. 


 
Recommendation:    
 


 
� That the Board of Governors approves that the Audit Committee be re-named the 


Audit and Risk Management Committee. 
 


� That the Board of Governors approves the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee Terms of Reference. 
 
 
 








 


   
 
 
MEETING NUMBER FOUR HUNDRED AND SEVENTY SEVEN OF THE BOARD OF GOVERNORS OF 
ALGONQUIN COLLEGE WILL BE HELD ON MONDAY DECEMBER 10, 2012, BEGINNING AT 4:00 
P.M. IN THE ROSSER BOARDROOM, C539, WOODROFFE CAMPUS 


 
 AGENDA 


Item   
 


Tab # 


1.  Conflict of Interest Declaration   


2.  Approval of Previous Minutes of November 12, 2012  1 


3.  Business Arising   
4.  Decision Items & Reports   


  4.1 Program Approval: 
General Arts and Science – English for Academic Purposes,     
OCC 


2 


  4.2 SPSP Services Review Report   3 


  4.3  Energy Services Company Agreement Update  4 


  4.4  Enterprise Risk Management & Business Continuity  5 


  4.5  2013/14 Budget Assumptions & 3 Year Pro Forma  6 


  4.6  Audit Committee Terms of Reference   7 


  4.7  Report of the Governance Committee 
  ‐ Policy BG I‐01: Responsibilities of the Board of Governors 
  ‐ Skills Matrix for External Governors      


 
8 
9 


5.  Report of the Chair   


6.  Report of the President   


7.  Management Summary Report  10 


8.  Other Business    


9.  In Camera   11 


 








TERMS OF REFERENCE: AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 


 


The Audit and Risk Management Committee, a standing committee of the Board of Governors, 


was established to assist the Board in fulfilling its financial accountability and oversight 


responsibilities. (Article 15, By-Law #1 of the Board of Governors). 


 


Responsibilities 


The Audit and Risk Management Committee shall: 


 


1. AUDIT  


a. Recommend to the Board the appointment of the external auditor. 


b. Review the scope of the internal and external auditor’s reviews of the College’s 


internal controls, any significant findings and recommendations by the internal 


and external auditors and the responses of the College’s staff to those findings 


and recommendations. 


c. Define the pre-approval process for all audit and non-audit services to be 


performed by the external auditor and review the external auditors’ reports on 


independence. 


d. Review and approve annual or multi-year internal audit plans and on all 


proposed major changes to plans. 


e. Review and approve internal audit reports. 


f. Review and approve the external auditors’ audit plan including areas of 


identified risk. 


g. Review with the external auditors the results of the audit and determine if there 


were any difficulties or disputes with management, any significant changes in 


the audit plan, any significant changes in accounting policies and any 


management estimates that required significant judgement. 


h. Have the right to make inquiries and call upon corporate officers of the College 


as the Committee deems necessary  


 


2. ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 


a. Review and discuss the annual financial statements and related note disclosures 


with management and the external auditors. 


b. Seek assurance that the financial statements of Algonquin College are prepared 


in accordance with public sector accounting standards, which would include 


oversight of the selection of accounting policies used in the preparation of the 


financial statements, and consideration of all relevant alternatives. 


c. Review the annual draft financial statements and, where appropriate, suggest 


improvements in the financial information and, when accepted, recommend the 


final statements for approval by the Board. 







d. Review draft financial statements and approve submission of year-end financial 


statement information to the Ministry of Training, Colleges and Universities.  


 


 


3. RISK MANAGEMENT/INTERNAL CONTROLS 


a. Discuss with the College’s corporate officers, the College’s significant risks and 


the measures the officers have taken to monitor and manage these risks. 


b. Review with senior management the adequacy and effectiveness of controls and 


management and information systems, including accounting and budget 


controls, financial planning and computer operation, information technology (IT) 


and security. 


c. Review the President’s biannual report on incidences of fraud. 


d. Review each  June a summary of single/sole source procurement transactions 


over $100,000  


e. Oversee the College’s system for monitoring compliance with legislative 


requirements. 


 


4. OTHER DUTIES 


a. To review the Endowment Fund Investment reports. 


b. Evaluate the Audit and Risk Management Committee’s performance in meeting its 


mandate through the periodic review of the terms of reference; 


c. Review and report on such other matters as may be assigned by the Board. 


 


Membership 


The Audit and Risk Management Committee shall be composed of five members of The Board 


of Governors: four external members and the Chair of the Board.  The President of the College 


shall be a non-voting member of the Audit and Risk Management Committee. 


 


Term of Appointment 


Each Audit and Risk Management Committee member shall be appointed for a two year term 


and the term may be extended while the member continues as a Governor of the College. 


  


Chair 


The Governance Committee of the Board of Governors will bring forward an annual 


recommendation for the Chair of the Audit and Risk Management Committee. 


 


Vacancy 


The Board shall fill a vacancy on the Audit and Risk Management Committee by appointing a 


new external member to the Committee. 







 


Meetings 


Meetings shall be closed sessions.  At meetings where the auditor is present, time should be 


allocated for the Committee to meet separately with the external auditor.  


 


Frequency of Meeting 


The Audit and Risk Management Committee shall meet at least twice each year or more often 


as is deemed necessary. 


 


Calling Meetings 


Any member of the Audit and Risk Management Committee or the external auditor may call a 


meeting of the Audit and Risk Management Committee to consider any matter he or she 


believes should be brought to the attention of the Committee or the Board. 


 


Auditor's Attendance 


The external auditor has the right to appear before and be heard at any meeting of the Audit 


and Risk Management Committee and shall appear before the Audit and Risk Management 


Committee when required to do so by the Committee. 


 


 


Approved by the 


Board of Governors 


October 14, 2003 


Revised XX XX XXXX 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 








                                   BOARD OF GOVERNORS  


DRAFT 


MINUTES OF MEETING NUMBER FOUR HUNDRED AND SEVENTY SIX OF THE BOARD 
OF GOVERNORS OF ALGONQUIN COLLEGE WHICH WAS HELD ON MONDAY 
NOVEMBER 12, 2012, AT 5:00 P.M. IN THE ROSSER BOARD ROOM, C539, WOODROFFE 
CAMPUS 


Present James McIntosh, Chair 
Fred Blackstein 
Nancy Cheng 
Jeanine Chiasson  
Lynne Clark 
Michael Dunlop  
Barbara Farber 
Kyrylo Kasyanenko 
Louis Lamontagne 
Kent MacDonald, President 
Shawn McBride 
Doug Orendorff  
John Owens 
Andrew Pridham 
Mark Sutcliffe  
 


Regrets 
 


Denise Amyot 
Kathyrn Leroux  
 


Vice 
Presidents:
 
 
 
Recording 
Secretary 


Claude Brulé, Academic 
Duane McNair, Administration  
Laura Stanbra, Student Services 
 
Anna Cobus 


Observers Jo-Ann Aubut, Acting Dean, Academic Development 
Jennifer Daly-Cyr, Director, Strategic Programs & Services Planning 
Karen Davies, Dean, Algonquin College in the Ottawa Valley 
Joan Degan, Chair, Allied Health 
Cathy Dempsey, Director, Finance & Administration 
Dave Donaldson, Dean, School of Business 
Barbara Foulds, Acting Dean, Faculty of Health, Public Safety & Community Studies 
Karen Foster, Director, Ancillary Services 
Richard Hagemeyer, Professor, ICT 
Chris Janzen, Acting Dean, Faculty of Technology & Trades 
Murray Kyte, Chair, Algonquin College in the Ottawa Valley 
Russ Mills, Dean, Faculty of Arts, Media & Design 
Kathryn Moore, Registrar 
Aaron Pope, Algonquin Times 
Judy Puritt, School of Business 
Doug Ouderkirk, Executive Director, Academic Operations & Planning 
Joe Ranieri, Director, Business Development 
Brenda Rothwell, Executive Director, Algonquin College Foundation 
Michel Savard, Dean, School of Hospitality & Tourism 
Fred Sebastien, Coordinator, Illustration & Concept Art 
Mike Sparling, Director, Information, Institutional Research & Technology Services 
Shelley Styles, Director, Student Support Services 
Doug Wotherspoon, Executive Director, Advancement 
 
 







B.G. #476    November 12, 2012 
Page 2 


 
 


12-52  CONFLICT OF INTEREST DECLARATION 


None. 


 
 
12-53 APPROVAL OF THE PREVIOUS MINUTES 
 
RESOLUTION 
 
MOVED & SECONDED – Dunlop & Cheng 
 
That the minutes of June 11, 2012, be approved as amended.   
 
 
 
12-54 BUSINESS ARISING 
 
None. 
 
 
 
12-55 DECISION ITEMS & REPORTS 
 


ILLUSTRATION & CONCEPT ART 


Russ Mills, Dean, School of Media and Design, presented a proposal to offer a one-year Ontario 
College Diploma program in Illustration and Concept Art which prepares graduates for entry into 
the traditional field of illustration and the emerging field of concept art. Students develop 
industry-standard technical skills in digital and traditional media, as well as strong conceptual 
and creative skills. Graduates of this program can find employment in the print/editorial, 
advertising/commercial, and technical illustration industries.  Program recommendations from 
the Strategic Programs and Services Planning Committee included phasing out the one-year 
graduate certificate program in Professional Illustration because of weak applicant demand from 
qualified applicants. The Ontario College Diploma in Illustration and Concept Art is a possible 
next step for students in General Arts and Science programs in Design Studies, Introduction to 
Concept Art, Introduction to Fine Art, and Pre-Animation and Illustration. The Illustration and 
Concept Art program is a non-semestered diploma program (NSDP). Students will complete the 
program in 12 months. Students who begin in a General Arts and Science certificate program 
will complete both the Ontario College Certificate program and the Ontario College Diploma 
program in two years. The implementation of this program reflects the strategic directions of the 
College including the commitment to digital learning and alternative delivery with online and a 
compressed program delivery, experiential learning working directly with publishers, mobile and 
web game companies, and studio and art directors that leverage our relationships with business 
and industry, and meeting the needs of students and the community. 







B.G. #476    November 12, 2012 
Page 3 


 
 


Questions/Comments: 


- Governor McIntosh:  What is the percentage of online delivery in this program?  40%. 


- Russ Mills noted that this program is part of a broader Ottawa strategy to develop the 
industry.   


RESOLUTION 


MOVED & SECONDED – Dunlop & Sutcliffe 


That the Board of Governors approve the Illustration and Concept Art Ontario College Diploma 
program effective Fall 2013 and seek validation of the program title and outcomes from the 
Credentials Validation Service and approval for funding from the Ministry of Training, Colleges 
and Universities. 
 
DIAGNOSTIC MEDICAL ULTRASOUND 


Barb Foulds presented a proposal to offer a 16 month Ontario College Graduate Certificate 
program in the area of Diagnostic Medical Ultrasonography.  Diagnostic medical sonographers 
capture and analyze a variety of complex sonographic images to assist physicians in the 
diagnosis and management of multiple system disorders.  


Graduates may find employment in community and teaching hospitals, medical clinics, 
education and research settings and in private industry. Algonquin College has initiated the 
accreditation process with the Canadian Medical Association Conjoint Accreditation Services. 
Graduation from an accredited program is required for eligibility to write the national certification 
exams. Upon successful completion of these exams, students will be credentialed as a 
Canadian Generalist Sonographer or American Registered Diagnostic Medical Sonographer. 
Graduates have the opportunity to become a member of several professional diagnostic 
ultrasound organizations such as the Canadian Association of Registered Diagnostic Ultrasound 
Professionals and the Canadian Society of Diagnostic Medical Sonographers. 
 
The implementation of this program reflects the strategic directions of the College including the 
commitment to digital learning with 27% online for non-clinical/lab courses, leveraging of our 
relationships with business and industry with 1200 hours of clinical placement, and meeting the 
needs of students and the community. This program was identified as a new opportunity in the 
Strategic Programs and Services Planning Final Report. 
 


Questions/Comments: 


 Governor Lamontagne:  Are we referring to ultrasound equipment?  Yes, we will work 
with industry partners to secure the equipment for our facilities. 







B.G. #476    November 12, 2012 
Page 4 


 
 Governor Blackstein:  Of the seven admission requirements, how many are trained for at 


Algonquin?   Four.  We currently do not offer MRI but would like to explore offering it in 
the future, as well as nuclear medicine.   


 Governor McIntosh:  Do we have placements secured for the students?  Yes. 


 Governor Orendorff?  Are there still x-ray technicians competing with this? At the current 
time we are the only program as the Kingston program closed.  This is a field in which 
the technology changes so quickly we are constantly changing to keep pace.  The 
community is looking to the College to assist in filling the shortages.  Our other program 
has 40 seats with over 700 applications.   


 Governor Owens:  Why don’t we expand the other program to take more students?  We 
have an agreement with our hospital partners and are limited in laboratory space.  
However, we are investigating a partnership to bring clinical training on site in the future.   


RESOLUTION 


MOVED & SECONDED – Farber & Orendorff 


That the Board of Governors approve the Diagnostic Medical Ultrasonography Ontario College 
Graduate Certificate program effective Fall 2013 and seek validation of the program title and 
outcomes from the Credentials Validation Service and approval for funding from the Ministry of 
Training, Colleges and Universities. 


 


MEDICAL DEVICE REPROCESSING 


Barb Foulds presented a proposal to offer a one-year Medical Device Reprocessing (MDR) 
Ontario College Certificate program that prepares students to apply principles of infection 
prevention and proper handling in the decontamination, inspection, assembly, sterilization and 
storage of reusable patient care equipment and instrumentation in healthcare settings. This 
unique program offers a combination of theory, lab practice, simulation and clinical experience.  
Graduates may seek employment opportunities as medical device reprocessing workers in 
healthcare facilities such as hospital medical device reprocessing departments, public and 
private endoscopic clinics, dental clinics and surgi-centres. The implementation of this program 
reflects the strategic directions of the College including the commitment to digital learning with 
30.7% online delivery, experiential learning with placements in local hospitals and other 
healthcare facilities that leverage relationships with business and industry, and meet the needs 
of students and the community.  


Questions/Comments: 


 Governor Blackstein:  Is there no other prerequisite other than English?  No.  It is an 
entry level program for someone interested in the medical field, similar to a Personal 







B.G. #476    November 12, 2012 
Page 5 


 
Support Worker who must be a high school graduate and have the ability to enter the 
workforce. 


 Governor Blackstein:  Why don’t we specific other sciences or math?  The Sterile Supply 
program was also entry-level and did not have those requirements.  It is at a basic 
introductory level from a theoretical component and our experience indicates that 
science and math prerequisites are not necessary.  The Sterile Supply program was 
successful in the past and we will monitor and evaluate this as we move forward.   


RESOLUTION 


MOVED & SECONDED 


That the Board of Governors approve the Medical Device Reprocessing Ontario College 
Certificate program effective Spring 2013  and seek validation of the program title and outcomes 
from the Credentials Validation Service and approval for funding from the Ministry of Training, 
Colleges and Universities. 


 


CONSTRUCTION TECHNIQUES 


Karen Davies presented a proposal to offer a one year Ontario College Certificate Program in 
Construction Techniques at Algonquin College in the Ottawa Valley.  The program prepares 
students to work within the building construction industry and address the anticipated shortages 
of skilled workers as a result of an aging workforce and local construction expansion. Students 
explore the foundational trades areas within the building construction sector and gain practical 
hands-on skills which provide opportunities to pursue employment, apprenticeship and/or further 
academic training. Students acquire knowledge and skills in hand and power tool usage, 
carpentry/framing techniques, blueprint reading, welding, hoisting and rigging, plumbing, applied 
construction geometry, mathematics and the Ontario Building Code.  In the second semester, 
students experience an authentic hands-on learning opportunity when constructing a community 
based building project.   


The implementation of this program reflects the strategic directions of the College, including the 
commitment to digital learning, with 20% online for non-shop courses, laddering opportunities, 
leveraging of relationships with industry with 100 hours of hands-on community projects and 
industry certifications, and meeting the needs of students and the community. This program was 
identified as a new opportunity in the Strategic Programs and Services Planning Final Report. 


Questions/Comments: 


 Governor Dunlop:  Do we have anything similar in Ottawa?  We do not have a certificate but 
there is a diploma.  Pathways to both Perth and Woodroffe programs have been examined.   


 Governor Owens:  How much time is spent on tools or labs?    There is 100 hours of building 
a community project so there is a good hands-on opportunity.   







B.G. #476    November 12, 2012 
Page 6 


 
RESOLUTION 


MOVED & SECONDED – Blackstein & Owens 


That the Board of Governors approve the Construction Techniques Ontario College Certificate 
program effective Fall 2013 and seek validation of the program title and outcomes from the 
Credentials Validation Service and approval for funding from the Ministry of Training, Colleges 
and Universities. 


 


The President concluded that in February 2013, an overview of the process which is used to 
determine which programs are brought forward will be presented to the Board in terms of the 
filters, program needs, industry and student needs, as well as financial aspects.   


 


SECOND QUARTER FINANCIAL REVIEW 


Duane McNair presented the second quarter financial projection for the 2012/13 fiscal year.   


On April 9, 2012 the Board of Governors approved the 2012/13 Annual Budget with a net cash 
flow of $1.0 million and a net contribution after Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 
(GAAP) adjustments and expenditures from internally restricted funds of $3.3 million. On June 
11, 2012, the Board of Governors approved the 2011/12 Financial Statements which included 
authority to spend $9.1 million from internally restricted funds.  The Board approved using $23 
million of internally restricted funds to construct the new Pembroke campus rather than long 
term finance the project through the Ontario Financing Authority at the March 12th, 2012 Board 
meeting.   This financial report reflects the projected revenue and expenditures using the most 
current information available from deans, directors, chairs and managers throughout the 
College.  This forecast shows a projected increase in the total net cash flow position from $1.0 
million to $4.3 million before GAAP adjustments.  The 2nd Quarter Financial report was 
presented and included variance analyses compared to the approved budget.  Domestic 
enrolment is trending 3% higher than originally forecasted resulting in higher domestic tuition 
fees revenue.  This is offset by a 15% lower than expected International student enrolment and 
the corresponding tuition fees.  The International Education Centre is exploring the reasons for 
this shortfall and developing strategies to realize the College’s International student enrolment 
objectives going forward. 


The Ontario Special Bursary Program funding has been discontinued by the Ministry of Training 
Colleges and Universities.  This has resulted in a net loss of approximately $660,000 for the 
College for 2012/13 and $900,000 in 2013/14. 


 


Contract activity revenue increased by a net of $1.3 million, comprised of an increase of $4.8 
million for provincial contracts and decreases of $3.5 million from other activities including the 







B.G. #476    November 12, 2012 
Page 7 


 
Corporate Training Centre, the Personal Development Institute, Applied Research and all other 
miscellaneous contracts.   


Reductions for in-year salaries and benefits related to the academic and administrative 
employee groups and staff vacancies have been reflected in this report showing an estimated 
savings of $1.6 million.  Other operating costs and provisions established for contingencies 
were reviewed and adjusted based on current information. 


Net contract activity expenditures have increased by $3.3 million, which is comprised of an 
increase of $4.6 million to match the increase in provincial contract revenue and a decrease of 
$1.3 million in variable costs associated with the decline in revenue for the Corporate Training 
Centre, the Personal Development Institute and Applied Research.  Aspects of the former 
Business Development department fell short of revenue targets.  These services are now 
integrated within other College operations and appropriate plans are being developed to ensure 
targets are achieved going forward.  During the 1st Quarter of the year, the College was advised 
that it would receive Apprenticeship Enhancement funding of $934,000 and College Equipment 
renewal funding of $559,000. 


The Strategic Investments Schedule includes estimated cash requirements for Campus 
Development such as the Student Commons and Pembroke projects, as well as various 
strategic projects. 


 


Questions/Comments: 


 Governor Dunlop:  What is the reason our approved budget and year-end 
projection is different based on GAAP?  The College drew down $23M from 
reserve funds to finance construction and as well received approval to draw 
down a loan from the Ontario Financing Authority (OFA); at budget time, it was 
planned that the entire amount would be drawn down.  However, in the spring, 
in discussion with the OFA, it was determined that the best way to use the 
reserve funds to pay down the balance of the debt at that time, therefore not 
realizing the loan proceeds as revenue for the duration of the year.  The main 
reason for the difference is not recognizing the loan proceeds; however, GAAP 
adjustments also caused an increase as well.   


 Governor Owens:  Did the College incur costs as a result of the late turn over 
of the new campus in Pembroke?  Meetings are ongoing with the contractor at 
this time to discuss this.   


 Governor Orendorff:  Is it a one time occurrence that we are below the $10M 
threshold for net revenue in International Education?  A business plan is being 
developed in order to meet the goals identified in the strategic plan which will 
address the activity lines and project reasonable growth in future budgets. 







B.G. #476    November 12, 2012 
Page 8 


 
 Governor Orendorff:  Is the $2M reduction in the student contribution toward 


strategic investments a trend or one-time?  It is a timing difference.  When the 
budget was prepared we anticipated that we would receive the grant in the 
amount of $2M more than actual.  It was a timing issue which created the 
variance. 


 Governor Orendorff:  Since April, the budget has moved from a $10M deficit to 
balanced books.  How was this done?   Some changes were made to 
bookkeeping such as collaborative programs were re-categorized into funded 
activities; international education accounting was changed to recognize the 
costs of the activity in academic areas and 50% of activities are now shared 
with academic areas.  In addition, all Vice Presidents, Directors, Managers and 
Chairs made significant reductions in discretionary funds and part time staffing.  
In addition, there were opportunities to enhance revenues which also made up 
the short fall.   


 Governor Dunlop:  A year ago, we had a discussion about the principles 
attached to international contracts.  We approved a contract in Saudi Arabia; 
however if there is a reset about the types of contracts we undertake 
internationally, we must ensure they align with our reputation as a public 
institution.  We are developing a more precise international strategy. A part of 
that strategy will be to determine what principles guide business decisions.  We 
will review these international principles under the College values.   


 Governor Kasyanenko:  Is there a reason for the 15% shortfall in international 
education and is there a schedule of when we they expect to return with the 
results of that shortfall?  Yes.  That is being done and will be complete by the 
end of the month. 
 


SECOND QUARTER BUSINESS PLAN UPDATE 


Questions/Comments: 


 Governor Orendorff:  Since the ministerial consent was received for the 
Bachelor of Building Science, does it mean we have broke the concern about 
the Ministry not approving any more degrees?  Yes. Efforts to address this 
issue were led by Colleges Ontario. 


 Governor Orendorff:  When we looked at this business plan and the change of 
the management team, the Board thought it may have to provide some slack; 
however, progress is being made and congratulations are due to the President 
and his team.  The President noted that at a recent College Leadership 
Council retreat, there was a consensus amongst the group to tracking towards 
the goals of the strategic plan while at the same time trying to balance the 







B.G. #476    November 12, 2012 
Page 9 


 
number of activities required to achieve those goals.   


 Governor Cheng:  As a new Governor, it is nice to see the progress being 
made.  Is there concern in the goals that are delayed in that most are in the 
financial sustainability area?  And, the last goal appears to indicate we may be 
off the SLA in terms of the 99.9% service level agreement for the network?  
The fact that we are over 99% without the system being down is remarkable; 
however, the goal of 99.9% may not be realistic for the next goal.  The ITS 
team did a great job, including providing outstanding support for our new 
Pembroke Campus.  


 Governor Kasyanenko: Were there any significant impacts to the students as a 
result of the network outage?  In this instance, the impact was bidirectional – 
partially inbound and partially outbound, and the incident was within the 
Rogers network which highlighted the fact that we need second significant 
provider.  The timing is never ideal.  Although it caused some frustration at the 
time, it appears there was likely no material impact.   


 
REPORT OF THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 


The Executive Committee met following the last meeting of the Board on October 9th 
and authorized management to proceed with the Foundation Self Sufficiency Strategy 
presented during the regular Board meeting of October 9th. 


The Committee met again on November 1st to discuss the replacement of the 
Executive Assistant to the Board following the resignation of A. Cobus. 


 


REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE 


The Audit Committee met on November 12th prior to the Board meeting and discussed 
the following: 


 A new Terms of Reference will come to the Board in the New Year that will 
address a more expanded role for the Committee, including its name being 
changed to the “Audit and Risk Management Committee”. 


 The new Auditors met with the Committee and responded favourable to all of 
the Committee’s questions. 


 At the Board retreat, the Board was provided with an overview of the 
Enterprise Risk Management Profile and how the risks will be mitigated.  A 
detailed document was tabled with the Audit Committee and will be brought 
forward to the Board for review at its December 10th meeting. 







B.G. #476    November 12, 2012 
Page 10 


 
 Four items were identified in the Management Report and all items were 


discussed and addressed.  The Committee was satisfied with Management’s 
response.   


 A report was received which indicated that the Endowment Fund is meeting its 
established benchmarks.  The Endowment Fund will be reviewed as part of the 
Foundation Self Sufficiency strategy in the future. 


 The Ontario College System has moved to PSAS – Public Sector Accounting 
Standards.  The Board will see the changes in the format at its meeting in 
February, 2013. 


 Audit Committee meetings will likely be held on dates separate from regular 
Board meetings in the future. 


 


REPORT OF THE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 


The Governance Committee met on November 1st and reviewed the policy related to 
the Responsibility of the Board of Governors after it was deferred by the previous 
committee pending review by the new President and Board Chair.  It is anticipated that 
the policy will be presented to the Board for approval in December. 


Also discussed was the skills matrix which will be updated for the next round of LGIC 
(Lieutenant Governor in Council) appointments to the Board of Governors for 
September, 2014.   


Governors who have been contacted to determine their intent in continuing to serve 
for a further term on the Board were asked to notify the Board office as soon as 
possible. 


RESOLUTION 


MOVED & SECONDED – Owens & Kasyanenko 


That the Governance Committee recommend to the Board of Governors, the approval 
to submit the following names to the Lieutenant Governor in Council for appointment 
to the Board of Governors effective September, 2013 


Appointment Renewal   Term Length (years) 


1. Kathyrn Leroux   3  
2. Doug Orendorff   1 
3. Mark Sutcliffe     3 


 


 







B.G. #476    November 12, 2012 
Page 11 


 
 


ONTARIO SPECIAL BURSARIES UPDATE 


D. McNair presented a report to update the Board following the June 11, 2012 Board of 
Governors report regarding programs impacted by the reduction and elimination of Ontario 
Special Bursary Program (OSBP) funding. 


Following the update, D. McNair presented the following recommendations: 


• That the AAADD, Academic Upgrading and ESL Canadian programs continue to be 
delivered beyond Fall 2012 and that the College continue to regularly assess the 
financial sustainability and alignment of these programs to the Strategic Plan. 


• For 2012-13, that the ISBP financial aid program shortfall be funded from a combination 
of TSA funds and the institution’s budgeted contingency provisions. 


• For 2013-14 and beyond, that the ISBP financial aid program be funded from TSA funds 
only.  


 
Following discussion, it was agreed that the motions would be deferred to the December 
meeting for a decision following an in camera discussion. 
 


12-48 REPORT OF THE CHAIR 


The Chair reported the following: 


 The Board’s Annual Christmas Dinner will be held on Monday, December 10th following the 
Board Meeting. Invitations were sent to all current and former Governors last week 


 The Fall Convocation ceremony was held on Wednesday, November 7th at the National Arts 
Centre.  Governor Farber attended one of the ceremonies and read the citation for Roger 
Greenberg’s honorary diploma. 


 The annual Governor Orientation Program and Colleges Ontario Higher Education Summit 
is taking place in Toronto beginning November 24th.  All of our new Governors will be 
attending the Orientation, and a number of Governors will also be attending the Conference.  
We will report to the Board at our December 10th meeting. 


 No correspondence has been received in the Board office this past month. 


 All Governors received an invitation to attend the opening of the new Pembroke campus on 
Thursday, November 29th beginning at 2:30 p.m.  An invitation has also been extended for 
Governors to travel on the bus that is departing from the main entrance of the Woodroffe 
campus at 12:30 p.m.  Please RSVP to Kathy Conlon to reserve your seat on the bus. 


 5 responses were received with feedback following last month’s meeting, all of which were 
positive.  Some comments included Governors who appreciated the opportunity to socialize 
following the meeting, great staff presentations, cohesive advanced material, well organized.  
There were no suggestions for improvement.   







B.G. #476    November 12, 2012 
Page 12 


 
 
12-49  REPORT OF THE PRESIDENT 


The President reported the following: 


 The Corporate and Community Social Responsibility Conference was held on November 
6th and was very successful, attracting individuals from across North America, including 
a number of academic institutions.  Dean Dave Donaldson was commended for the 
effort in the successful execution of the event. 


 The Pembroke Campus has opened and Dean Karen Davies and her team were 
commended for their tremendous efforts.  ITS Staff were also thanked for their excellent 
support.   


 The Student Commons opening ceremony was held on October 18th and was a great 
tribute to former President Robert Gillett.  The building is truly a hub of activity which 
attracts a variety of different groups.  Entertainment at the Student Commons Theatre is 
gaining popularity.  As an example, Randy Bachman is booked for February 28, 2013.  
These events provide an opportunity for those otherwise not on campus to experience 
the College.  


 Early feedback has indicated that the College’s Strategic Mandate Agreement 
submission has been positively received. The submissions are currently being evaluated 
and a decision is expected by February. 


 The Algonquin Centre for Construction Excellence (ACCE) has been certified as a LEED 
Platinum building which has created a lot of excitement in the construction industry and 
for the College.   


 The students in varsity athletics have represented the College very well this fall.   
 At the Greater Nepean Chamber of Commerce Business Achievement Awards on 


October 18th the College received two awards.  The Algonquin College Foundation was 
recognized with the Not for Profit award, and the Algonquin Centre for Construction 
Excellence won in the Green Award category.   An Algonquin College Alumnus also 
fared quite well at the gala. The Scottish & Irish Store, owned by Michael Cox, took 
home Business of the Year. Michael Cox is a graduate of the Business Administration 
program (class of ’80). 


 The Employee Engagement survey has been completed with over 1200 responses 
being submitted.  The results will be analyzed and will be shared with the College 
community, and the data will be used to continue to make improvements. 
 


 
12-50 MANAGEMENT SUMMARY REPORT 
 
The Management Summary report for November, 2012 was received and is available online at 
www.algonquincollege.com/board.  
 
 
12-51 OTHER BUSINESS 
 
There being no further business, the Board moved in camera for a discussion at 6:17 p.m.   
 


 



http://www.algonquincollege.com/board





B.G. #476    November 12, 2012 
Page 13 


 
                    
James McIntosh, Chair     Anna Cobus, Recording Secretary 








 


Board Governance Policy  


BG I‐01  Responsibilities of the Board of Governors  


Policy Category :  Board Process     


Date First Approved:  2012‐12‐10  Date Last Reviewed  2012-12-10 


Board Meeting Number:  477  Mandatory Review Date  2017-12-10 


PURPOSE  


This  policy  outlines  the  responsibilities  of  the  Algonquin  College  Board  of  Governors  (the  Board)  in 
fulfilling its mandate as set out in the Ontario Colleges of Applied Arts and Technology (OCAAT) Act; the 
Ontario  Regulation  34/03;  the  Minister’s  Binding  Policy  Directives  and  the  OCAAT  Guidance  on 
Appointments and Effective Governance. 


POLICY  


Each board of governors of a college of applied arts and technology is responsible for the governance of 
the college and, as such, is accountable to the students, employers, and communities the college serves 
for ensuring that  it  is effectively and appropriately managed to achieve  its established mandate and to 
provide needed services (Reference: Governance p. 2).  


The  Board  shall  perform  the  responsibilities  of  the  Board  identified  in  the Minister’s  Binding  Policy 
Directives. These include: 


1. The Board shall establish governance structures to enable the achievement of expected 
institutional outcomes with clear lines of communication and internal accountability 
(Governance p. 3). 
 


2. The Board shall set the College mission, vision, strategic directions, and overall goals and 
outcomes within the context of the appropriate laws, government policy, and local need  
(Governance p. 3). Working with the Management of the College, the Board shall develop a 
strategic plan in support of that mission statement and  ensure that mechanisms are in place to 
monitor the College performance against the strategic plan. (Appendix B p. 14). 


 
3. The Board shall be responsible for hiring the President, delegating to the President the  


accountability for the operations of the College then evaluating the President’s performance  
(Governance p. 3) on the attainment of corporate goals and outcomes. The Board shall assess 
annually the attainment by the President of corporate goals and outcomes (Board – President 
Relations p. 2). 


 
4. The Board shall review, amend, and approve the College’s annual business plan, budget, and 


annual report that support the strategic plan (Governance p. 3).  
 







5. The Board shall assess periodically the effectiveness of the Board with respect to governance, 
accountability and the attainment of College mission and strategic plan. (Governance p. 3) 
 


6. The Board shall take corrective action, as necessary, where expected outcomes or quality of 
performance are not achieved (Governance p. 3). 
 


7. The Board shall approve all programs of instruction that a college will offer, suspend or cancel 
(Program Suspension, p. 6). The Board shall ensure that programs of instruction are developed 
and implemented consistent with provincial standards where they exist (Credentials Framework, 
protocols for grading, advancement, and dispute resolution, quality assurance policy, College 
Advertising and Marketing Guidelines) (Programs of Instruction p. 7). 
 


8. The Board shall approve the creation of a wholly owned subsidiary corporation, including a 
college foundation, if required (Entrepreneurial Activities p. 2). 


The Board may perform best practices  including  the  following  suggested by  the OCAAT Guidance on 
Appointments and Effective Governance. 


1. The  Board  should  ensure  that  proven methods  for  program  development  and  review  occur, 
involving stakeholders in an effective and meaningful way (Appendix B p. 14). 
 


2. The Board  should ensure  that appropriate practices are  implemented  to  identify and manage 
risk including appropriate monitoring and reporting (Appendix B p. 15). 
 


3. The Board should ensure  that regular reports on the operational and  financial situation of the 
College are done,  including reports on the progress the College  is making towards meeting the 
strategic plan and on performance measures against benchmarks. The Board should also ensure 
that necessary audit systems are in place (Appendix B p. 20). 
 


4. The board  should use an established process  for  recruitment, delegation of accountability  for 
College operations, performance review and compensation of the President (Appendix B p. 16). 
 


5. The Board should ensure that the College’s communications with students, business, community 
stakeholders, and the Ministry is ongoing and effective (Appendix B p. 17). 
 


6. The  Board  should  ensure  that  the  college  operates  in  accordance with  legal  and  regulatory 
requirements  (Board‐President  Relations  p.  2).  Colleges  are  Crown  agencies  and,  therefore, 
subject to provincial legislation such as those listed in Appendix A. 
 


7. The  Board  should  ensure  that  ongoing  review  and  development  of  academic  programs  uses 
proven methods that involve stakeholders in an effective and meaningful way (Appendix B p 14). 
 


8. The Board should ensure the College’s   commitment to quality education and service excellence 
including continuous improvement (Appendix B p 14). 
 


9. The  Board  should  ensure  that  the  College’s  applied  research  activities    have  appropriate 
accountability  for  research  funds and appropriate processes  for    research outcomes,  including 
commercialization (Appendix B p. 14). 







MONITORING  


The  Governance  Committee  shall  report  on  Board  compliance  with  all  Board  Responsibilities  by  
reporting to the Board any deficiencies on an annual basis.  


PROCEDURE  


The President shall inform the Governance Committee of any changes in the OCAAT Act; the Regulation 
or  Minister’s  Binding  Policy  Directives  which  impact  the  Board  responsibilities.  If  there  is  a  new 
Minister’s Binding Policy Directive, the Governance Committee shall determine its impact on the College 
and implement strategies to achieve compliance.   
 
The Governance Committee will present a report card on  the Board’s  fulfilment of  its responsibilities, 
targeting the June meeting. 
 
This report card on the Board’s fulfilment of its responsibilities will be part of orientation package for 
new governors. 
 
RELATED MATERIALS  
 
Ontario Colleges of Applied Arts and Technology Act 
The Act establishes the authority to create colleges of applied arts and technology in Ontario. Each 
college is a corporation without share capital and consists of members of its board of governors. 
 
Ontario Regulation 34/03 
Ontario Regulation 34/03, Section 8 and 9, outline the responsibilities of the Board of each college for 
the strategic plan, business plan, annual report; and the annual approval and submission of a balanced 
budget. 
 
Algonquin College By‐law #1, Section 5‐ Powers of the Boards 
The powers of the Algonquin College Board are outlined in the Algonquin College by‐law #1, Section 5 . 
 
MTCU Minister’s Binding Policy Directive – Governance and Accountability Framework (Governance) 
This  binding  directive  defines  the minimum  expectations  for  governance  and  accountability  of  the 
colleges. 
 
MTCU  Minister’s  Binding  Policy  Directive  –  Framework  for  Programs  of  Instruction  (Programs  of 
Instruction) 
This binding directive defines  the expectations  for all programs of  instruction offered by  the  colleges 
regardless of funding source. 
 
MTCU Minister’s Binding Policy Directive Program Suspension and Cancellation: Operating Procedure 
(Program Suspension) 
 
Ministry  of  Training,  Colleges  and  Universities  Colleges  of  Applied  Arts  and  Technology, Minister’s 
Binding Policy Directive, Entrepreneurial Activities, 2003 (Entrepreneurial Activities) 
 







MTCU Ontario Colleges of Applied Arts and  Technology OCAAT Governance  and Accountability Policy 
Framework ‐ Protocol for Board Nominations and Appointments, Appendix B Guidance on Appointments 
and Effective Governance (Appendix B) 
This appendix provides examples of Board practices that are in place and used in some Ontario colleges 
and elsewhere  in dealing with  the  strategic plan, quality  education  and excellence, budget  approval, 
internal controls, risk management, human resources strategy, capital asset management, stakeholder 
communications,  new  member  nomination,  Board  evaluation,  new  member  orientation  and  public 
reporting. 
 
Ministry  of  Training,  Colleges  and  Universities  Colleges  of  Applied  Arts  and  Technology,  Policy 
Framework, Board – President Relations, 2003 (Board – President Relations) 


APPENDIX A  


The Corporations Act governs the operation of the college except where limited by the Ontario Colleges 
of Applied Arts and Technology Act, 2002, and its regulations. Colleges are Crown agencies and, 
therefore, subject to provincial legislation such as, but not limited to: 
 
•  Accessibility for Ontarians with 


Disabilities Act, 2005, SO 2005, c 11, 
•  Broader PubicSector accountability, BPS 


Perquisites Directive (Aug 2011) 
•  Building Code 
•  CPP 
•  Colleges Collective Bargaining Act 


(unique),  
•  Construction Lien 
•  Corporations Act (Ontario) 
•  Dangerous Goods Transpotation 
•  Employer Health Tax 
•  employment standards  
•  environment protection, 
•  Financial Administration Act,  
•  Fire Protection and Prevention 
•  Freedom of Information and Protection 


of Privacy Act 
•  Income Tax 
•  Not For Profit Corporations Act 


(Ontario) – in force late 2012 
•  Occupational health and safety,  
•  Ombudsman Act 
•  Ontario Water Resources 
•  Pesticides 
•  Protection of Privacy Act. 





		BG I-01

		Responsibilities of the Board of Governors 

		PURPOSE 

		POLICY 

		MONITORING 

		PROCEDURE 

		RELATED MATERIALS 

		APPENDIX A 








 


GAS - English for Academic Purposes -1- December 10, 2012 


     
PRESENTATION TO BOARD OF GOVERNORS 


 
 Program Title:  General Arts and Science - English for 


Academic Purposes 
 Credential:   Ontario College Certificate  
 Program Length: One Year (Three Levels) 
 School:  Language Institute  
 Director:   Ernest Mulvey 
 Proposed Start Date: Spring 2013 
 
 
PURPOSE 
 
To offer a one-year Ontario College Certificate program entitled General Arts and Science - 
English for Academic Purposes (GAS-EAP). GAS-EAP will replace the Language Institute’s 
English Second Language Intensive Program, which is a combination of college-approved 
courses and tuition-short programs. The EAP Program meets the Ministry of Training, Colleges, 
and Universities’ (MTCU) requirements for an Ontario College Certificate in General Arts and 
Science, and simultaneously prepares students whose first language is not English for further 
college studies. Graduates of the EAP program will meet the English language requirements for 
admission into Algonquin College programs of study. 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
On July 5, 2012, MTCU sent a memorandum to the Presidents of Colleges of Applied Arts and 
Technology informing them of the reassignment of tuition short programs to be delivered as 
either Ontario College Credential programs or as local board certificate programs. Selection of 
the Ontario College Certificate (OCC) credential brings the Algonquin College Language Institute 
into conformity with other colleges in Ontario that are already offering GAS-EAP programs. To 
continue to receive funding on a full-time basis, OCC programs require title, credential and 
learning outcomes validation from the Credentials Validation Service and Ministry policy and 
funding approval.  
 
The GAS-EAP program will utilize the facilities currently allotted to the Language Institute.  
 
CONSIDERATIONS 
 
(i) Evidence of Need 
 Immigrants to Canada who are seeking employment often require an Ontario College 


credential to supplement their foreign certification. For many years, the Language Institute 
has been the sole service provider to prepare newcomers for the advanced linguistic 
requirements of college studies. 


 
(ii)  Student Interest 


  Historic registration data indicates a strong and growing demand for English Second 


 







 


GAS - English for Academic Purposes -2- December 10, 2012 
 


Language training at Algonquin College. In the 2009-2010 academic year, there were 277 
Canadian registrants in the Intensive English as a Second Language program, and by 
2011-2012 this number had increased to 456 students. 


  
(iii) Staffing  
 The program will utilize five existing full- time faculty, supplemented by part-time faculty. The 


program will continue to be twinned with delivery of English as a Second Language for 
International Students, so that staffing and classroom resources can be clustered for 
maximum efficiency. 


 
(iv) Admissions Requirements 
 College Eligibility: 


-Ontario Secondary School Diploma (OSSD) or equivalent. Applicants with an OSSD 
showing senior English and/or mathematics courses at the Basic Level, or with Workplace 
or Open courses, will be tested to determine their eligibility for admission; OR 
-Academic and Career Entrance (ACE) certificate; OR  
-General Educational Development (GED) certificate; OR 
-Mature Student status (19 years of age or older and without a high school diploma at the 
start of the program). Eligibility may be determined by academic achievement testing for 
which a fee of $40 will be charged. 
 


(v) Advisory Committee Support 
A motion of support for the General Arts and Science – English for Academic Purposes 
program was carried by the Teachers of English as a Second/Foreign Language (TES/FL) 
Advisory Committee on Monday, October 15, 2012. 
 


(vi) Strategic Alignment  
The implementation of this program reflects the strategic directions of the College including 
the commitment to digital learning, with 17% hybrid. This program was identified as a 
“Revise Program to Achieve Improvement” in the Strategic Programs and Services 
Planning Project Report. 


 
 
Appendix 1: Program of Study 
Appendix 2: Cash Flow Analysis 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
That the Board of Governors approve the General Arts and Science – English for Academic 
Purposes Ontario College Certificate program effective Spring 2013 and seek validation of the 
program title and outcomes from the Credentials Validation Service and approval for funding 
from the Ministry of Training, Colleges and Universities. 







 


GAS - English for Academic Purposes -3- December 10, 2012 
 


Appendix 1 - Program of Study  
 
 


Level 1 – 16 weeks 
 


 
COURS


E 
NUMBE


R 
COURSE 


TITLE 


Hours  


Th
eo


ry
  


La
b 


Fi
el


d 
/ C


lin
ic


al
 


To
ta


l H
ou


rs
 


In
 


cl
as


s 


O
nl


in
e 


In
 


cl
as


s 


O
nl


in
e 


ESL4001 Basic Academic  Reading 48 16  64
ESL4002 Basic Academic Writing 80 16    96 
ESL4003 Basic Academic  Listening 32  16   48 
ESL4004 Basic Academic  Speaking 64     64 


TOTAL LEVEL HOURS 224 16 32   272 
 


 
 


Level 2 – 16 weeks 
 


 
COURS


E 
NUMBE


R 
COURSE 


TITLE 


Hours  


Th
eo


ry
  


La
b 


Fi
el


d 
/ C


lin
ic


al
 


To
ta


l H
ou


rs
 


In
 


cl
as


s 


O
nl


in
e 


In
 


cl
as


s 


O
nl


in
e 


ESL6001 Applied Reading for Postsecondary Studies 32 16  48
ESL6002 Applied Writing for Postsecondary Studies 80 16    96 
ESL6003 Applied Listening for Postsecondary Studies 32  16   48 
ESL6004 Applied Speaking for Postsecondary Studies 64     64 
GEN600 Our Changing World 5 40    45 


TOTAL LEVEL HOURS 213 56 32   301 
 







 


GAS - English for Academic Purposes -4- December 10, 2012 


Level 3 – 16 weeks 
 


 
COURSE 
NUMBER 


COURSE 
TITLE 


Hours  


Th
eo


ry
  


La
b 


Fi
el


d 
/ C


lin
ic


al
 


To
ta


l H
ou


rs
 


In
 


cl
as


s 


O
nl


in
e 


In
 


cl
as


s 


O
nl


in
e 


ESL7001 Advanced Academic Writing 64 16   80
ESL7002 Advanced Academic Speaking 48  16   64 
GEN7001 Growing in Global Awareness  45    45 


Select one of the following: 
ESL7003/4/5 Advanced Integrated Skills –    


(Academic, Business or Health) 
96  16   112 


ESL7003/4/5 Advanced Integrated Skills –   
(Academic, Business or Health) 


96  16   112 


ESL7003/4/5 Advanced Integrated Skills –   
(Academic, Business or Health) 


96  16   112 


TOTAL LEVEL HOURS 208 61 32   301 
 
 


 
Certificate Program Total Hours:   874


 








SKILLS MATRIX OF ALGONQUIN COLLEGE EXTERNAL BOARD GOVERNORS 
Draft:  December 3, 2012  


 
 


In
se


rt 
N


am
e 


 


Algonquin catchment area resident (Ottawa - O, Perth - P, Pembroke - PK)     
Expertise as per Algonquin Programming Areas   
Advanced Technology   
Construction   
Business   
Health & Community Studies   
Media & Design   
Police & Public Safety   
Continuing & Online Learning   
Academic Access   
International Programming   
Student Support Services   
Heritage Trades   
Hospitality & Tourism   
Outdoor & Environmental Programming   
SERVICES Experience:    
Political / Gov’t / Public Service   
Health Care / Health Services   
Diversity issues   
Sustainability (Environment, Economy, Society)   
EDUCATOR Experience:     
Postsecondary   
International   
Information Technology   
Research   
BOARD COMPETENCY & EXPERIENCE PROFILE:   
Board member experience (H – over 10 years’ service in multiple sectors, M 
– in between the high and low levels, L – under 3 years on a single board) – 
a higher rating suggests higher member fit 


  


Board Officer (Chair, Vice Chair, Secretary)   
Fundraising   
Strategic Planning – Setting Vision, Mission, Values   
Advocacy   
Knowledge of Post Secondary & Community College Environment   
Policy Development   
Community involvement, non-board   
Governance Courses or Credentials   
OTHER:     
Algonquin Alumni   
Individual with Special Needs   
Member of Multiple Cultures   
PPP - Public/Private Partnerships & Capital Assets   
2012-13 BOARD PRIORITY AREAS   
Entrepreneurship, Culture and Spirit   
Digital College   
Staff Relations   
Community Engagement   
Student Experience   
Strategic Plan Costs/Pace of Change   
Cooperative Curriculum Development   


 








0 0 0 0 0


GAS-English for Academic Purposes (EAP)
Ontario College Certificate
Cash Flow Analysis


TOTAL ENROLMENT 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19
Year 1*** 300 450 450 450 450 450


Tuition Fee per Semester 1,292 1,318 1,344 1,371 1,399 1,426


REVENUE
Fees 387,600 593,028 604,889 616,986 629,326 641,913
Grant* 145,267 363,167 581,067 653,700
Flowthrough** 493,333 549,067 377,600 188,800


Total Revenue 880,933 1,142,095 1,127,756 1,168,953 1,210,393 1,295,613


EXPENSES
FT Academic + Fringe (22.46%) 522,173 535,046 548,338 562,062 576,232 590,862
Temp Acad +  Fringe (9%) 88,682 88,682 88,682 88,682 88,682 88,682
FT Supp + Fringe (27.07%)
Temp Supp + Fringe (10%)


Operating 21,686 22,770 23,909 25,104 26,359 27,677
Total Expenses 632,541 646,498 660,929 675,848 691,273 707,221


CONTRIBUTION BEFORE 248,392 495,597 466,827 493,105 519,120 588,392


INVESTMENTS
Equipment 0 0 0 0 0 0
C D l tCourse Development 30 00030,000 0 0 0 0 0
Renovations 0 0 0 0 0 0


Total Capital 30,000 0 0 0 0 0


NET CONTRIBUTION 218,392 495,597 466,827 493,105 519,120 588,392


% 24.79% 43.39% 41.39% 42.18% 42.89% 45.41%


* Grant Value $ 4,358 
Program Weight 1.0, Funding Unit 1.0 (Estimate)
F.T. academic costs represent 5 F.T. staff in the existing Tuition Short program
A number of variables are considered when calculating tuition and expenses; these are changed based on government 
direction as required


Note: The purpose of the Cash Flow Analysis for a new program is to capture the direct revenues and expenses associated


with the program. The resulting contribution indicates the funds the program will generate to help support


the current operations of the Academic Area. Therefore, pre-existing costs such as department overheads 


and space costs are not included in the cash flow. These costs are captured in the annual Program Costing exercise.


Flowthrough**  The cash flow recognizes the grant which continues to flow from the discontinued Tuition Short program


**Enrolment Detail
Level 01 150 150 150 150 150 150
Level 02 150 150 150 150 150 150
Level 03 150 150 150 150 150
Total 300 450 450 450 450 450





		 Cash Flow






 


Presentation to: Board of Governors 
Subject: SPSP Service Review Final Report 
Date: December 10th, 2012 
Presenter(s):  Jennifer Daly-Cyr 
 
Purpose 
 
To present the final SPSP report to the Board of Governors. 
 
 
 
Background 
 
Further to the SPSP update report provided in June 2012, please see attached the SPSP 
final report for your review.  This report provides an overview of the SPSP project as 
well as the findings and recommendations of the last phase of the SPSP project. 
 
 
 
Recommendation 
 
That the Board of Governors accept this final SPSP report. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  


 1








1 
 


Board of Governors 
Management Summary Report 
December 10, 2012 
 
Area 1 HUMAN RESOURCES 
ORGANIZATIONAL EFFECTIVENESS 
 
PAYROLL:  EXCEPTION REPORTING PILOT 
• As part of a Business Process Review and a SPSP’s Payroll Review an interim solution has been 


designed to facilitate the processing of payroll for part-time academic staff. This solution will be 
considered a temporary measure until a new College-wide technology-based system is 
implemented to address the inefficiencies of payroll processing. 


• The School of Business will participate in this pilot in November and December. 
 


PERFORMANCE SUPPORT AND EVALUATION OF FULL-TIME FACULTY 
• A committee comprised of faculty and administrators and an external facilitator has been working 


to develop a Performance Support and Evaluation strategy. 
• In the month of November, in order to gather more information from faculty employees on the 


most effective approach to a summative evaluation process.  Four (4) focus groups took place at 
the Woodroofe, Pembroke and Perth campuses.  Algonquin College is committed to ensuring the 
final product is a cooperative collaborative effort that exists for the purpose of supporting faculty 
to be effective practioners.  
 


RECRUITMENT 
• New job competition postings for November include: 


• 8 Support Staff Positions 
• 3 Academic positions 
• 3 Administrative Positions 


 
ORGANIZATIONAL DESIGN 
• HR representatives and the Manager Organizational Effectiveness attended and offered one-on-


one coaching sessions at the Hire Immigrants Ottawa Fall Public Sector Coaching Event.  This 
community-based initiative brings together employers and the talents of skilled immigrants in the 
Ottawa area.  


• The CJEC Committee met twice during November and evaluated 8 Support Staff positions. 
• Counselling Services engaged Human Resources to advise on reorganization of the Test Centre. 
 
HR WEB STATISTICS 
• A total of 13,594 people visited the HR website this period. A total of 51,859 pages were viewed 


through a total of 34,567 visits. 
  


COMPENSATION, PENSION & BENEFITS (CP&B) 
CP&B received the NEER Statement from WSIB indicating the College will be receiving a rebate in 
the amount of $140,516.91.  We have and continue to work diligently over the past year to reduce 
WSIB costs through case management, in liaison with WSIB and working closely with Occupational 
Health and Safety for an early and safe return to work. 
 
CENTER FOR ORGANIZATIONAL LEARNING (COL) 
Activities and professional development provided and faciliated during the months of October and 
November 2012 included: 
 
October 2012 
• Teaching Adult Lifelong Learners (TALL) program being delivered to part time faculty. 
• COL provided teaching and learing PD for 9 professors visitng from Iraq. 







2 
 


• COL continues to provide customized support of faculty and staff in ACCE.  
• Planning for 2013 Kaleidoscope Conference is underway. 
• Faculty focus groups facilitated  to glean faculty input regrarding faculty perfomanace support and 


review process. 
• Manager of COL had great fun collaborating and learning with the CLC.  


 
November 2012 
• 20 Part-time Faculty Orientation sessions designed for delivery in December and January. 
• COL continues to provide support to 35-40 newly hired FT faculty at monthly seminar sessions. 
• Fall edition of Live.Laugh.Learn employee e-newsletter published.  
 
LABOUR RELATIONS 
As of November 26, 2012 there are 18 active Support Staff grievances and 6 active Academic 
grievances which are ongoing through the Step process. 
 
Area 2 FINANCE AND ADMINISTRATION 
FINANCE AND ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES 
 
Projects Currently In Progress 
• Payment Card Industry-Data Security Standards (PCI) project to ensure that the College is in 


compliance with the PCI standards. 
• Implementation of a new service delivery model in the Student Commons, including “triage” 


processes through Student Success Centre. 
• Automation of bursaries process. 
• Elimination of credit card acceptance for tuition fees – complete. 
• Expansion of the Purchasing Card Program. 
• Value stream review of Part time pay process, i.e. automate timesheet process. 
• Review of the paper ordering and delivery process. 
• Review of three Chairs’ administrative processes with SPSP (forwarding e-mail, genesis reports 


and course loading). 
• RFP for Banking Services. 
 
Projects In Planning Stages 
• Offer co-op or applied learning opportunities to College Business Students. 
• New budget model and schedule for 2013-14. 
• RFP for Investment Services. 
 
Staffing Success Worth Highlighting 
Staff retirement in Shipping and Receiving - Gerry Griese. 
 
PHYSICAL RESOURCES 
 
Physical Planning & Sustainability 
• The order of magnitude costing for the shortlisted CSIC space requests is underway. 
• Planning for 2013-2014 Mobile Classroom Project was initiated. 
• A team was mobilized to lead the Centrepointe Development Opportunity business model 


analysis. 
• The Facilities Master Plan initiatives for Buildings A, B, C, and J were launched. 
• A list of “shovel-ready” projects was submitted to President’s Council in response to the ACCC 


request to lobby for potential federal stimulus funding.  These are preliminary and continue to be 
revised. 


 
Major Capital Projects 
• The official opening ceremony for the new Pembroke campus took place on Thursday, November 







3 
 


29, 2012.  A wonderful event with excellent participation from across Eastern Ontario.  A full bus 
transported staff and faculty from the Woodroffe Campus to participate in the event. 


• The ACCE Building achieved another one of its major goals – Canada Green Building Council 
(CaGBC) LEED Platinum Certification on Novemer 2, 2012.  Efforts to promote this achievement 
are underway. 


 
Ottawa Construction Association 
On November 6, 2012, at the instigation of Algonquin College, the Ottawa Construction Association 
conducted a 90 minute panel discussion “Current Construction Delivery Models – what is working, 
what is not?”  Moderated by John Owens (Governor, BOG), the discussion revealed many insights 
that will permit the College to better contract services from the constructrion industry. 
 
Facility Operations And Maintenance Services (FOMS)  
• ESCO 2 Status Update 


Siemens continues to make good progess with its detailed feasibility study to identify energy 
conservation measures and revenue generating opportunities at the Woodroffe Campus. 
Provincial uncertainties with incentives, power purchasing agreements and Ontario’s Feed in 
Tariff Program (FIT) may put at risk some of the potential revenues but Siemens is working 
diligently to deliver its promised program and complete its study by April 2013. 


• 800 Ton Chiller Project Update 
On November 13th Algonquin received a cheque for $117,000 from Ontario Hydro’s incentive 
program  towards last summer’s project that: replaced 2 aging chillers with one new unit, reducing 
Algonquin’s  deferred maintenance backlog; and reduced the Woodroffe campus electrical 
demand load by165KW.  The project was completed on time and on budget. 


 
Facilities Planning & Development 
• A “Lessons Learned” exercise was conducted with key stakeholders on the delivery of Open 


Mobile Classroom Conversion project. 
• A plan is being developed on how to deliver a potential program of construction projects for fiscal 


year 2012-2013. 
• Construction delivery work began for “Expansion of Health Services” project and “Digital College 


Video Production” project. 
 
INFORMATION, INSTITUTIONAL RESEARCH & TECHNOLOGY SERVICES  


 
For the month of November 2012-13, Information, Institutional Research and Technology Services 
highlights the following accomplishments: 


 
Institutional Research 
 
• Multi-Year Accountability Agreement report for 2010-11 completed, reviewed and approved by 


the President’s Council and posted to the MTCU web-site Oct. 31, 2012 
• Compiled and posted Performance Indicators to college web-site as per MTCU requirements. 
• Concluded advanced KPI Student Satisfaction Survey administered in-class from November 5 to 


16, 2012. 
• The Director, AR attended the IR work-group meeting of Polytechnics Canada to address 


standards for program counts x credential and coding of programs to CIP (Classification of 
Instructional Programs) standards, allowing national and international comparisons among PSE 
institutions. 


• Participated in panel presentation at HEQCO – Learning to Earning Conference – on Nov. 2, 
2012. 


• Student administrative data has been compiled to support the predictive analytic study of 
retention and outcomes being conducted in conjunction with Dr. Ross Finnie, the Educational 
Policy Research Initiative and the University of Ottawa. Agreement has been reached to conduct 
2 further phases of research involving retention factors among all Algonquin students enrolled in 







4 
 


FTPS programs and tracking graduates into the labour market in conjunction with Statistics 
Canada. 


• Currently involved with two provincial committees under the aegis of the MTCU and OCAS to 
revise the KPI Student Satisfaction survey questionnaire and implement a Business Intelligence 
KPI reporting application. 


• Provided data and support for labour market research being conducted by Academic 
Development in conjunction with Prism Research. 


• Cognos Express BI server installation complete.  Initial analysis models for KPI under 
development with data integration and modeling to the data mart nearly completed. 


• 3 team members have completed the Cognos Framework Manager training.  Two additional 
members will be trained in December. 


• End user and power user training curriculum and schedule for Cognos deployment is nearing 
finalization and will be published in early December with the first tranche of training to take place 
before Christmas. 


 
Infrastructure 
 
• Work continues on the implementation of new isolated network segments in order to meet the 


College's obligations to PCI requirements and standards. 
• Several changes have been implemented in the College's wireless network to provide improved 


communications in areas of very high density classrooms (rooms with over 80 laptop users). 
• Internet access was provided at 900mb/s in Woodroffe and Perth campuses, and 50mb/s in 


Pembroke.  All internet access and core network access met the 99.9% availability SLA 
• Wireless infrastructure suffered a partial impairment several times in the month of November, 


though there were no total system outages.  The 99.9% availability SLA was not met, with an SLA 
compliance of 99.05% 


 
Learning Management Systems and Solutions Automation 
 


SharePoint 
• Facilitated and funded SharePoint training for over 40 end users and 8 members of the IIRTS 


Client Service team.  The training was successful and well received, and additional sessions are 
planned. 


• Migration of the SharePoint 2007 Board of Governors committee site to the new Connect 
environment. 


• We have added new sites for multiple committees, schools and department into the SharePoint 
Connect environment. 


• The metrics below show an increase in the usage from November 1st to November 21st, 2012 
and speaks to the interest in SharePoint and our success marketing this effective tool. 


 
Category Metrics Value 


(Current) 
Value 


(Previous) 
Trend 


Traffic        
  Total Number of 


Page Views 
33,170 23,299 42.37 % 


  Average Number 
of Page Views 
per Day 


1,658 1,165 42.32 % 


  Total Number of 
Daily Unique 
Visitors 


649 480 35.21 % 


  Average Number 
of Unique Visitors 
per Day 


32 24 33.33 % 


  Total Number of 46 29 58.62 % 







5 
 


Referrers 
  Average Number 


of Referrers per 
Day 


2 1 100.00 % 


Search        
  Total Number of 


Search Queries 
24 21 14.29 % 


  Average Number 
of Search Queries 
per Day 


1 1 0.00 % 


Inventory        
  Number of Site 


Collections 
44 37 18.92% 


 
BlackBoard 


• The team spent time working towards the implementation of new infrastructure (load balancing 
server) that will provide 24 x 7 accesses to Blackboard. In order to avoid interfering with normal 
operations of the College this new infrastructure will be deployed between Christmas and New 
Year's Day. 


• Various monitoring and system improvements have been implemented to help with identifying 
issues before they become outages within the Blackboard and SharePoint infrastructure systems. 


• Added 4 new Blackboard front end web servers to help with the load (24000+ students) this 
semester. 


• The BlackBoard system met the 99.9% availability SLA with the exclusion of the 3am – 4am 
maintenance window, which will be phased out with the implementation of the load balancing 
server. 


 
Client Care 


• Operational support continues with providing the following performance metrics: 
  


# of tickets generated: 2,404 
# of tickets closed: 2,069 
Highest volume (Day of 
Week): 


Thursday (Followed by Monday then 
Tuesday) 


Average Daily Peak 
Period: 


9:00am to 2:00pm 


Top ‘Type’ of Client: Students – 34.3% of total (FTStaff 18.2%) 
 
• Provided extensive support and resolution of the outstanding deficiencies following the Pembroke 


campus cutover. 
• Phase 1 (C102 Renovation Project) continued with the counters being raised at the IIRTS Service 


Desk to a final height of 42”. Additional electrical and data will be added to the counter surface to 
better work with client devices. 


• Phase 2 (C102 / C101 Renovation Project) is in planning / design phase and well underway to 
being finalized for the areas. 


• SSCM (Microsoft system management solution) training completed (8 individuals attended). 
Ultimate goal is to redefine the software image deployment process and reduce workload in this 
domain significantly.  


• Defining standards for further laptop purchases which will facilitate and provide efficiencies in 
support efforts.  


• Planning is underway to design the e-classroom configurations to support the MLP Program. New 
governance structure was proposed to improve the delivery of the integrated 
learning/construction/technology projects.  


 







6 
 


Enterprise Business Platforms 
 
• System requirements documentation and conceptual architecture/standards definition in progress 


for HR/Pay and GeneSIS on for the Ingres migration. Server setup for development, staging and 
production environments in progress. 


• PeopleSoft technical upgrade completed which included a database upgrade to SQL Server 2008 
and data migration and testing. User testing and training in progress with a target completion date 
of mid-December.  Significant performance improvements have been realized through the overall 
platform stabilization effort through modernization of the software and systems. Roadmap for 
PeopleSoft upgrade in progress with a target completion date of end of the fiscal. 


• OCAS Coltrane report submitted and accepted. 
• PSIS statistics submitted to the RO for final review and sign off. Target delivery date by end of 


November for 2010/11 academic year. 
• PFIS/CSER report submission in the final stages of acceptance testing. Revisions ongoing with a 


target delivery date by end of November. 
 
Business & Planning Services 
 
• Infrastructure evergreen needs and operational planning for F13/14 budgeting is underway. 
• Transformation of the Application Release Management process has begun.  Engagement of 


various Client groups to begin identifying the business cycles and release cadence for 
applications. Implementation of new release process to continue for the remainder of this fiscal. 


• Conducted an open space format townhall to engage the department’s staff in helping define how 
we can leverage the technology to support the College that is digital direction. 


• Submitted a proposal and solicited a team of Telfer School of Business MBA’s to assist in 
developing a road map to support the IIRTS strategic direction as part of the broader Digital 
College/College that is Digital effort*. 


 
COLLEGE ANCILLARY SERVICES 
 
• Ancillary Services is trending to meet forecasted targets in the aggregate.  Retail Services sales 


have been slower than forecast due to construction issues, however, year over year sales in 
Food Service are strong.  Students have been receptive to the new food kiosk in the Student 
Commons and Food  Services will be installing counter seating for those who wish to sit and eat 
at the kiosk. 


• Online micro departmental surveys are being launched for all business units in an effort to 
capture real time feedback.  The questions asked will be changed on an ongoing basis. 


• The waitlist for both red and green parking permits has been cleared.  The One Card program 
continues to add services to the program and Peer Tutoring is now accepting the One Card as 
tender type as is the Fitness Zone.  One Card kisoks are now operational at Perth and Pembroke. 


• The Print Shop welcomes a new addition to the team; Mike Heaslip, Production Coordinator.  
Mike  began working with Ancillary Services on October 29, 2012. 


 
Area 3 STUDENT SERVICES 
REGISTRAR’S OFFICE 
 
Registration Statistics 
Full-time Registration in Post-Secondary/Post-Diploma Programs 
For the 2012 Fall Term, as at the November 1, 2012 (Audit Date), the net registered students 
numbered 15,964 or 102.4% of the projected enrolment.  This compares to 15,061 or 97.6% of 
projected enrolment for the same period last year. 
 
Please see Appendix 1 – Area 3: Student Services, at the end of the report, for more information. 
 
 







7 
 


Continuing Education Registrations 
For the 2012 Fall Term as at November 9, 2012, registrations stood at 12,904 as compared to 11,456 
at the same time last year.  The term registrations to November 9, 2012 represent 123.8% of the 
projected enrolment.  Registration continues throughout the term. 
 
Admissions Statistics 
2013 Winter Term 
• As at November 12, 2012, OCAS statistics for the 2013 Winter Term indicate that, for College 


Choices (i.e. number of individual applicants to Algonquin College), our Non-Secondary School 
applicants are up 10.6% from last year, Secondary School applicants are up 18.6%, with an 
overall increase in applicants of 12.6%.  Province wide, the variances are -5.9%, 27.1% and 2.7% 
respectively. 


• As at November 12, 2012, for Program Choices (applicants are allowed a maximum of 5 program 
choices, with up to 3 at any one College), our Non-Secondary School applicants are up 13.0% 
from last year, Secondary School applicants are up 24.8%, and overall we show an increase of 
15.9%.  Province wide, the respective variances are -7.1%, 28.7% and 2.0% respectively. 


• As at November 12, 2012, for confirmations, our Non-Secondary School confirmations are up 
11.6% from last year, Secondary School confirmations are 41.6%, and overall, we show an 
increase of 17.6%.  Province wide, the respective variances are -4.8%, 38.3% and 5.4% 
respectively. 


 
Fall Convocation, Ottawa Schools 
The 2012 Fall Convocation Ceremonies for Ottawa Schools took place on Wednesday, November 7, 
2012.  Ceremonies were held at 2:00 p.m. and 6:30 p.m. in Southam Hall of the National Arts Centre 
with attendance of 635 graduates.  This compares to 2011 Fall Convocation graduate attendance of 
564. 
 
Roger Greenberg was awarded an Algonquin College Honorary Diploma in recognition of a lifetime of 
achievement and service to the Ottawa community and as a leader who embodies the values, 
traditions, and aspirations of Algonquin College. 
 
2013-2014 Tuition and Ancillary Fees 
Algonquin College is currently awaiting an updated Tuition and Ancillary Fees policy from the Ministry 
of Training, Colleges and Universities (MTCU). The MTCU operating procedures apply to all Colleges 
of Applied Arts and Technology and pertain to the establishment of tuition fees and related 
requirements for activity eligible and reported for funding through the college general purpose 
operating grant.   
 
Initial preparations for the 2013-2014 fees are, typically, underway for presentation to the Board of 
Governors in the December - January time-frame.   Tuition fees are finalized during this time-frame to 
ensure that the fees are available for inclusion in our February Offers of Admission; however, at this 
time, the current tuition fee framework has expired. 
 
Committee of Registrars, Admissions and Liaison Officers (CRALO) Provincial Award 
Algonquin College Registrar, Kathryn Moore, received the CRALO Provincial Award at the CRALO 
AGM held in Toronto on November 14 - 15, 2012.  The CRALO Award was presented ‘in appreciation 
for continuing an outstanding contributions to CRALO and the Colleges of Applied Arts and 
Technology of Ontario’.  Kathryn Moore was also elected as the provincial Chair of this committee at 
the AGM.   
 
FOUNDATION 
 
Endowment Funds: 
Confirmed endowment pledges of $296,500 against goal of $600,000. 
 
Endowment Funds Received: June 15, 2012 to November 19, 2012:$53,580 







8 
 


Endowment Funds Received: June 15, 2011 to November 19, 2011:$55,248 
(4% decrease over 2011-2012) 
 
Confirmed non-endowed annual awards 
The following non-endowed awards, scholarships and bursaries established:  
Annual donations renewed for School of Business and School of Advanced Technology-ACCE 
Awards Nights. 
 
Annual Funds Received: June 15, 2012 to November 19, 2012: $203,139 
Annual Funds Received: June 15, 2011 to November 19, 2011: $118,047 
(42% increase over 2011-2012) 
 
Bursary, Scholarship and Award Disbursments 
Disbursements: June 15, 2012 to November 19, 2012: $521,129 
Disbursements: June 15, 2011 to November 19, 2011: $391,200 
(25% increase over 2011-2012) 
 
Alumni Relations 
AlumNet, the Alumni electronic newsletter was sent to 50,000 alumni on November 12, 2012. 
 
Alumni Relations was present to provide greetings at the Fall Convocation and the Fall Open House. 
 
Campaign Updates 
 
(i) Constructing OUR Future Pledge Payments: 


The Campaign total was over $7.5-M, exceeding the $7-M goal. Most gifts were pledged over 
5 years. Confirming and receiving each annual donation requires effective donor relations 
and ongoing stewardship.  


 
April 1, 2012 to November 18, 2012: $471,440.52. 


 
(ii) Major Gifts and Partnerships /GIK Program: 
 
Major Gifts  (Cash) / GIK Received to date:      $117,420 (as in Oct 31/12 F/S) 
Major Gifts (Cash) pledged to date:      $ 93,750  
TOTAL Major Gifts/GIK Pledged/Received to Date:       $211,170 
GIK Confirmed and/or delivered but not yet processed: $959,051 (app value) 
 
TOTAL Confirmed to date (approximate value):    $1,170,221 
 
Major Gifts / Gift Anticipated but not yet confirmed/delivered (app value): $118,792 
Note: GIK included in Research Funding Submissions have not been included here. 
 
Partnership Media Event: November 2, 2012 announced a new collaboration with Ciena 
Corporation and the generous gift-in-kind of two Ciena 6500 systems for the OptoPhotonics 
Laboratory. Ciena also worked to restore the original lab equipment so that our students will benefit 
from increased bandwidth capacity through this powerful fibre optic network. Students in the Bachelor 
of Information Technology - Photonics and Laser Technology Program, which is run through an 
articulation agreement with Carleton University, and also, students in our Wireless/Mobility 
Telecommunications Engineering Technician program, will benefit from this advanced technology. 
 
Nepean Chamber of Commerce Not For Profit Award 
On October 18, 2012, the Algonquin College Foundation was awarded the 2012 Nepean Chamber of 
Commerce Not For Profit Award. 
 
 







9 
 


STUDENT SUPPORT SERVICES 
 
Aboriginal Student Services/Mamidosewin Centre 
 
Mamidosewin Centre Visits: 
For the period of October 15th to November 9th, an average of 66 students per day visited the 
Mamidosewin Centre to use the gathering space, kitchenette, and mobile learning centre. This 
represents a 100% increase in average daily student visits recorded for 2011/12. 
• 148 students attended the Grand Opening event in the Mamidosewin Centre held on October 


18th.   
• On November 7th, seventeen students attended an information workshop on bursary applications. 
 
Centre for Students with Disabilities (CSD) 
 
The CSD has been working on the development of a transcription policy for students requesting 
alternative format materials. This policy outlines the timelines that are required to produce Braille, 
electronic and other transcriptions, as well as the procedures.  To increase awareness of these 
timelines, they will be posted on the CSD website.  
 
A meeting of the CSD External Advisory Committee was held on November 14th. Twenty persons 
attended, including representation from Eastern Ontario School Boards and community agencies 
such as CNIB, In The Community and Northern Lights.  Following the meeting, a tour of the Student 
Commons was provided. 
 
Two counsellors held a meeting with students on the Autism Spectrum to determine the future of 
Aspirations (a club for students who have disclosed having Asperger’s Syndrome/Autism Spectrum 
Disorder).  It is hoped that this will become a student led group, with support from the Students’ 
Association.  
 
CSD Counsellor, Lorri McLeod, presented Learning Strategies workshops to approximately 80 
students in Perth.  Feedback was very positive.  
 
Apprenticeship Support will be participating in a project that Gail Allan (Faculty e-Learning 
Development and Support, of the Centre for Organizational Learning) is spear-heading. This project 
is to help apprenticeship programs create uniform accessible digital technology, initially for the Sheet 
Metal program, in their developing Blackboard site.  If this pilot project proves successful it will be 
expanded to other apprenticeship programs. 
 
The CSD hosted two Employment Sessions for students with disabilities in October. On Wednesday, 
October 10th, Human Resources Professional, Kelly Mertl of TD Canada, met one-on-one with 
students to offer strategies for job searching and disclosure of a disability to an employer.  On 
Wednesday, October 17th, Laura Smith of TD Canada interviewed students with disabilities for front 
line positions at TD Canada locations in Ottawa. 
 
On Tuesday, October 16th, Jenn Neufeld provided a CSD presentation to Faculty and Academic 
Advisors as part of the “Making and Renewing Connections” day.  


 
Jenn Neufeld and Sandra Fraser attended the Regional Assessment and Resource Centre (RARC) 
Conference in Huntsville on October 18th and 19th.   The Conference keynote speakers offered insight 
into the upcoming changes to the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM–5), 
supporting students on the Autism Spectrum at College, and evidence-based resources for 
supporting students with mental health disabilities at College.  


 
Counselling Services 
 
For the period of October 15th to November 9th, Counselling Services completed a total of 483 







10 
 


counselling sessions; an average of 24 sessions per day and a 5% increase over the same period in 
2011.  Of those 483 sessions, 55 were designated as “Urgent” sessions in response to the student’s 
request to meet with a counsellor immediately (10% of the total sessions).   
 
Academic/career planning (29%), stress/anxiety (21%), depression/grief (11%) were the most 
reported presenting issues.  
 
Six (3%) students reported thoughts of attempting suicide; four of whom had reported having 
previously made a suicide attempt.  One of these students was transported to hospital by ambulance 
for psychiatric assessment. 
 
For the period of October 15th to November 9th, the Welcome Centre reports that they have met 79% 
of student requests for an appointment with a Counsellor. This rate is a 7% improvement over the 
same period in 2011 (72%). 
 
In the first three weeks since the launch of the iCopeU.com/Algonquin website for Mental Health 
awareness and support, the site received 1,101 visits, of which 925 were from unique IP addresses. 
Of those visits, 2% entered the section of the page titled “Help – I need Help Immediately”; which 
contains instructions for contacting emergency mental health support services in the national capital 
region. Five per cent of visitors entered the section of the website titled “Help on Campus”; which 
contains a listing and description of mental health support services at the Woodroffe, Heritage, and 
Ottawa Valley campuses.    
 
The Employment Support Centre, Student Affairs and Orientations; Student Success Service 
 
The Employment Support Centre (ESC) 
Numerous class visits were made to promote services, and conduct résumé and job search 
presentations. In addition, the Employment Support Centre hosted: a job search information booth in 
the Residence; an information booth during the College’s Open House; and a résumé review booth 
during the Police Foundations Volunteer Fair. The Employment Outreach Officer attended the 
Accounting Career Evening. 
 
From mid-October to mid-November the total the number of students served by the Employment 
Service Centre was 775 in comparison to 642 served during the same time period in 2011. This 
reflects a 20.7% increase in 2012, of the total number of students served. 
 
On-campus recruitment activity during the 2012 Fall Term 
The following organizations were on campus this fall: Schlumberger, Thales, Investors Group, 
Deloitte, Sun Life, IBM, and Fairmont Resorts. 
 
MyCareerZone is a new online career services solution application that was introduced in January, 
2012.  This past month: 
•  110 new employers created profiles; 
•  240 new jobs were posted; 
•  5,353 emails were sent out to graduates promoting local employment opportunities. 
 
Co-Curricular Record Update 
The Co-curricular Coordinator is working closely with the staff at Orbis Communications to customize 
the co-curricular record Web application in preparation for our launch in the January-February, 2013 
timeframe.  A list of learning outcome categories and definitions has been developed and uploaded to 
the system.  Internal partnerships are being developed with the Student Affairs and Orientation office, 
the Students’ Association, Residence Life, and faculty within the Police and Public Safety Institute 
and School of Hospitality. The first Advisory Committee meeting will take place in mid-
December.  The criteria that will be used to validate activity submissions in the system have been 
created and uploaded.   Electronic addresses are now established for Twitter:  AC_CCR; 
email:  CCR@algonquincollege.com; Web address:  www.algonquincollege.com/ccr.  Brainstorming 



mailto:CCR@algonquincollege.com

http://www.algonquincollege.com/ccr





11 
 


and planning has started around material and activities to promote the Co-curricular Record system 
on campus. 
 
Student Affairs and Orientation (SAO) 
Arts Programming 
The SAO in partnership with the Students’ Association has introduced some unique programming to 
the students.  They have connected with the arts community to have diverse events and support and 
expose local talent to Algonquin College.  
 
Poetry Slam 
This was the first time the SAO/SA hosted a Poetry Slam on campus.  The event was marketed 
through gorilla poetry (a poet went around the school over the course of three days and did “spoken 
word” in different areas of the College).  This visual marketing was very successful. It showed 
students what spoken word is and how powerful the messaging can be. This event hosted six local 
poets to compete against each other. Students were integrated into the program by having them play 
the role of the judges. Poetry Slam was extremely successful as it sold out (150 seats) in the 
Observatory. 
 
Passive Programming 
Pumpkin Carving  
The SAO hosted a pumpkin carving contest on Halloween to get students into the spirit and to show 
off their creativity. Over forty students came out to partake in this event. 
 
November Movie Night 
Student Affairs and Orientation along with the Students’ Association hosted a free Movie Night each 
month. This year, movie night was hosted in the Algonquin Commons Theatre. November’s movie 
night brought in approximately 400 students.  Last year, an average of 60-80 students participated in 
Movie Night. 
 
Educational Programming Workshops 
Each month the SAO and SA host diverse workshops for Algonquin students to engage in. These 
workshops allow students to experience something new or build on their passion. Workshops range 
from culinary lessons, photography, baking, dance, women’s self-defence, beer and wine tastings, 
etc.   September’s wine tasting workshop attracted 65 students (up from 50 student participants in 
2011) and October’s culinary workshop sold out at 50 students.  Students receive hands-on 
experience at these interactive workshops.  
 
Dirty Bingo 
This monthly event, hosted by the SA, SAO and Health Services in the Observatory serves to 
encourage dialogue and provide education related to sexuality.  Each month this event sells out at 
just over 200 students.  
 
Health Services 
 
Community Partnerships 
The Health Services Manager is discussing provision of nursing services to Perth campus with two 
community health centres in the area.  This will result in savings to current provision of nursing 
services and increase connection to community resources relevant to Perth students.   
 
Health Promotion 
Digital online health promotion magazine, Student Health 101, has been purchased and is being 
added to both the Health Services webpage and Health Services Facebook page with the assistance 
of the College’s social media officer.  The online magazine will offer monthly health and wellness 
topics to all of Algonquin’s student population across the campuses and online.  
 
Health services hired a nursing agency to provide registered nursing staff to supervise Woodroffe 







12 
 


nursing student-led flu clinics held on campus November 13th to 16th.   Student-led flu clinics aid 
nursing students to gain practical experience and contribute to having more students get their flu 
shots with the goal of reducing the number of flu victims this year.   
 
Health Services Reform 
40 to 55 Year One recommendations (73%) have been started. 
 
Peer Tutoring 
 
During the period of October 15th to November 9th, Peer Tutoring booked 1,317 tutoring sessions; a 
23.4% increase over the same period in 2011.  There are currently 69 students trained and registered 
as tutors.  Courses related to Accounting and Communications are the most commonly requested by 
students.  Peer Tutoring became a cash-less service on November 1st; exclusively accepting 
payments through the One-Card function of the Algonquin Student Card.  
 
Residence 
 
Halloween Programming   
A variety of programming featured: 
• An Annual visit to Saunders Farm;  
• The Gonq Sober Pub (safe alternative for Halloween night); 
• Pumpkin Carving. 


 
United Way Programming 
Residence Life staff and students participate in organizing a series of events to raise money for the 
United Way. This year Residence Life has raised approximately $600, with the final totals still rolling 
in from the penny drive.  Last year, Residence contributed approximately $1,100 in total. In addition to 
money, Residence students donated 455 canned goods. The purpose of these initiatives is to engage 
the student population in fundraising initiatives and service-learning.   
 
Test Centre (TC) 
 
Test Center (TC) service volumes  
Services were offered to 482 clients from October 22 to November 19, 2012, compared to 449 
candidates in the comparable time period in 2011. This marks a 7% increase in volume in testing 
services offered to clients. 
 
TC revenues  
Year-to-date [April 1 to November 19, 2012] revenues were $180,354.60, which is an increase of 
26% over the comparable YTD reporting period for the previous year.   The Test Centre is on target 
to meet its revenue target of $330,000 for 2012/13. 
 
TC Electronic Grading Service  
Electronic grading volumes processed for the College by the TC for the October 22 to November 13, 
2012 period were 509 course sections/15,540 individual exams.  For the comparable reporting period 
in 2011 (i.e., October 24 to November 15, 2011), there were 388 course sections/13,183 individual 
exams.  This marks a 31% increase in course sections processed, and a 19% increase in the 
individual exams utilizing the electronic grading service offered by the TC. 
 
Welcome Centre 
 
Throughout the past month, the Welcome Centre Supervisor has continued to work closely with the 
College’s Business Process Review Manager to identify any current gaps in the new service platform   
Efforts continue with ITS to enhance the current telephone system to support the new service 
initiative to clients at the Welcome Centre.  ITS has been instrumental in making suggestions and 
recommendations to better serve Welcome Centre clients accessing service via telephone.   







13 
 


On Monday, October 29th, the Welcome Centre Supervisor participated in the BAB (eSCM) Degree 
Consent Renewal Assessment process by facilitating the Student Commons portion of the panel’s 
overall Campus Tour.  Comments and feedback from the panel were very positive.  
 
During the time period encompassing Tuesday, October 8th to Friday, October 26th, the Welcome 
Centre provided service to 1,483 clients.     
 
Business Operations 
 
The Q2 review is complete.  All adjustments, journal entries and salary projections have been 
updated and are complete. 
 
Area 5 ACADEMIC 
Algonquin College in the Ottawa Valley 
More than 500 high school students from across Renfrew and Pontiac Counties attended an Open 
House Career Day at the new Waterfront Campus on November 2, 2012. The School also hosted the 
College Information Program (CIP), featuring other Ontario colleges at this event. 
 
Algonquin Heritage Institute 
Community Employment Services (CES) continues to develop formalized referral agreements with a 
number of organizations including the Perth Business Improvement Area, Service Canada and 
Service Ontario in order to provide an integrated approach to the complex employment needs of 
clients.  Further, CES is pleased to report that it has exceeded provincial expectations in all core 
measures with the exception of assisted service clients.  
 
School of Advanced Technology 
Ciena and Algonquin College have marked the start of a new collaboration with the grand unveiling of 
advanced optical telecommunications equipment now installed in the College’s Ciena Optophotonics 
Lab. The optical equipment donated by Ciena will ensure students are receiving practical learning 
opportunities with technology that is in use in the networks of major telecommunication providers 
around the world. It also allows greater collaboration with other educational institutions, laboratories, 
and advanced research and innovation networks to further their learning. 
 
A joint proposal submitted by the Mechanical and Transportation Technology Department and the 
University of Guelph Kemptville Campus to deliver the Motive Power Green Technician pre-
apprenticeship programs has been approved by the Ministry of Training, Colleges and Universities for 
$245K. 
 
School of Health and Community Studies 
Algonquin College co-hosted the Simulation Summit on November 17-19, 2012, in collaboration with 
the Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons, the Ottawa Hospital and the University of Ottawa. 
Three hundred and fifty (350) attendees over three days heard from simulation experts. Nursing 
Studies faculty presented a day-long session on debriefing. 
 
Centre for Continuing and Online Learning  
Fall 2012 enrolment in online courses is up 54% as compared to this time last year. Overall, the year-
to-date activity, including Spring and Fall, is up 43% or 3,748 course section enrolments. 
 
Applied Research and Innovation 
Algonquin College was successful with its grant application to Natural Sciences and Engineering 
Research Council of Canada (NSERC) through the College and Community Innovation (CCI) 
Program. This Innovation Enhancement (IE) Grant of $2.3M in funding over five years will be put 
towards a Health and Wellness Research Centre in support of related projects on all three campuses. 
The overarching goal of the proposal is to enhance healthcare delivery by providing better tools for 
the development of medical assistive and analytical devices. 







14 
 


 
Algonquin College was well represented in the Ontario Centres of Excellence Annual Report. It was 
the only college represented and the only institution to have two success stories profiled: 
• Impakt Protective – sensor for helmets to detect potential concussive blows to the head 
• Elevator Cab Renewals (joint with the University of Waterloo) – development of a tester for 


determining the flammability of elevator panels. 
 
International Education Centre 
Ten professors from the Ministry of Higher Education of Iraq attended Algonquin College for a four-
week program entitled “Faculty Professional Development Research Methodologies” from November 
5-30, 2012. The focus of the program was on modern teaching methodologies and applied research 
linkages with industry.  
 
Student/Alumni Activity 
Will Muth, Dan Thomas and John Stevens, final year students in the Mechanical Engineering 
Technology program received awards from the American Society of Materials (ASM) Ottawa Chapter 
on November 20, 2012. The awards, aimed at encouraging students to continue with their 
work/interest in the materials field, are based on academic performance in an engineering materials 
program. 
 
Students in the Social Service Worker program, Algonquin Heritage Institute, held a fundraising 
dinner for the United Way of Lanark County on November 18, 2012 which raised $4,194. Funds are 
targeted for five youth centres in the county. As well, the United Way Day held on October 25, 2012 
was a great success with proceeds from a breakfast, and a used book and clothing sale totaling 
$2,422.  
 
Thirty graduates of the General Arts and Science streams Pre-Health and Pre-Nursing participated in 
a drop-in forum on November 22, 2012.  They are currently continuing their studies at Algonquin 
College and hope to inspire and share their experiences with current students. 
 
This year’s “24 Hours of Homelessness” initiative undertaken by the Community and Justice Services 
students raised $3,000 for Operation Come Home, as well as $1,500 for the Esty Bybelyzer bursary. 
 
Hotel Education Centre (HEC Montenegro) offers educational programs in Montenegro licensed by 
Algonquin College. Recently, the HEC Montenegro national team won 4th place at the World Culinary 
Olympics. The competition involved more than 100 teams from around the world. 
 
The Ottawa Branch of the Canadian Culinary Federation (CCFCC) doubled its bursary program to 
meet the impressive intake of bursary applicants from the School of Hospitality and Tourism. The 
2012 winners are: 
• Alana Awad, Culinary Management, 1st year 
• Eliotta Daoud, Culinary Management, 1st Year 
• Whitney Meyer, Hospitality and Tourism Management, 1st year 
• Christopher Yule, Culinary Management, 2nd year 


The awards were presented during the Ottawa Wine and Food Show on November 9-11, 2012. 
 
Veronique Rivest, Sommelier alumnus, is the newly crowned winner of the Best Sommelier of the 
America’s competition in Bento Gonalves, Brazil held on October 24, 2012. She defeated all 
competitors from North and South America.  
 
Bruno Jung, 2010 graduate from the Tourism and Travel program, is the head trainer for “In Charge 
Flight Attendant” for Porter Airlines which deals with the training for flight attendants. 
 
Terrence Morrison, a recent graduate from Electrical Engineering Technology, represented Algonquin 
College at the November Polytechnics Canada Student Applied Research Showcase at NAIT in 







15 
 


Edmonton. Terrence presented on TimeKeeper Pro, an electronic scoreboard and represented 
himself very well amongst nine student presenters. 
 
Faculty/Staff Activities 
Wayne Palombo, Professor, Mechanical and Transportation Technology attended the Medical Device 
Manufacturing Summit in Toronto on October 24 and 25, 2012. 
 
John Willman, Coordinator, Bachelor of Information Technology (Interactive Multimedia and Design) 
and lead developer for the new Mobile and Social Media Management program, spoke at the 
Canadian Marketing Association’s November luncheon on “The Changing Role of Marketing in a 
Digital Age.”  
 
Sandra Gibbons, Coordinator, Kitchen and Bath Design program, was one of the judges for this 
year’s Housing Design Awards. Sandra was interviewed by the Ottawa Citizen about kitchen design 
trends. 
 
James Acres, Professor, Bachelor of Information (Interactive Multimedia and Design) has been 
working with Ottawa Shakespeare Company and A Crafted Story to create live theatre visuals. He 
has created cinematic content using Microsoft Kinect cameras that allow the actors to control the 
visuals using their body movements and voices. They are using the same open-source technology 
that our students are using. 
 
Terry Quinlan, Professor, Applied Museum Studies, was interviewed by the CBC regarding the impact 
of federal funding cuts on National Historic Sites and the subsequent impact on the role of 
interpretation. 
 
Helena Merriam, Coordinator, Library and Information Technician, and her second year students 
participated in the Webinar Conference on Library 2.0 which focused on discussions about the future 
of libraries, with participants and experts from around the world. 
 
Katherine Pattillo, Professor, Applied Museum Studies, attended the Ontario Museum Association 
Conference held October 18-20, 2012. 
 
Dmitri Priven, Rana Ashkar, and Michelle Wardman, Language Institute professors represented the 
College at the Teachers of English as a Second Language (TESL) Conference in Toronto on 
November 8-9, 2012.  
 
Denyce Diakun, Director, Workforce and Personal Development, and Dr. Linda Manning, presented 
at the Canadian Association of Prior Learning Assessment (CAPLA) in Halifax in October, 2012. 
CAPLA has identified this work as a priority for the upcoming year. 
 
Community Activity 
STAR 96 Radio broadcast its Morning Show from the new campus in Pembroke on Opening Day, 
October 29, 2012. 
 
On November 6, 2012, representatives from the Construction Trades and Building Systems 
Department participated in the launch of National Trades and Technology week held at the Museum 
of Civilization. This annual event was well attended by approximately 300 Grade 7 and 8 students 
who participated in a number of hands-on demonstrations and visited various information booths. 
Cody Malloch, our Algonquin World Skills competitor, was at the event showing his work and 
speaking to the attendees. 
 
Academic Upgrading faculty and staff attended the “Friends of Literacy Luncheon” hosted by the 
Ottawa Community Coalition for Literacy at the Restaurant International in October. 
 
On November 22, 2012, Russell Mills, Dean, Faculty of Arts, Media and Design was among the first 







16 
 


inductees into the Order of Ottawa at a ceremony at City Hall. 
 
Paul Dewar, the NDP Member of Parliament for Ottawa Centre, addressed the General Arts and 
Science students enrolled in the Introduction to Political Studies and the Evolution of Western 
Civilization courses on November 16, 2012.  Students from the Police Foundations program who are 
studying political science and public administration were also invited.  The topic of Mr. Dewar’s 
address was “Globalization and the 21st Century Student.” 
 
Culinary, Baking, and Hotel and Restaurant Management students assisted the CCFCC (Canada’s 
national association for chefs and cooks) with their booth at the Ottawa Wine and Food Show held at 
the Ottawa Convention Centre on November 9-11, 2012, as well as with the two VIP receptions on 
the Friday and Saturday. 
 
Event Management students volunteered, as part of their field placement requirements, to support the 
CanHave Gala at the Centurion Conference and Event Centre on October 26, 2012. 
 
Students of the Bachelor of Hospitality and Tourism Management program hosted an awareness 
dinner and silent auction. This event was part of a major project within the Food and Beverage 
Operations course. Proceeds from the silent auction went towards the Royal Ottawa Foundation for 
Mental Health and the Do It for Daron (D.I.F.D.) fund. D.I.F.D. is a youth-driven initiative focused on 
raising awareness about youth mental health. 
 
Culinary students in the School of Hospitality and Tourism and Photography students from the School 
of Arts and Media Design are working together to design posters of food photography to showcase in 
the School of Hospitality and Tourism.  In a second example, Television Broadcasting students 
attended a culinary class to do a new article for the station. 
 
Donations 
The Lapointe Automotive Group announced a $100K donation to the Algonquin College in the Ottawa 
Valley’s new campus automotive shop. 
 
Butler GM donated a new car to Algonquin College in the Ottawa Valley to be used by faculty and 
staff for travel. The vehicle is being leased to the College at no cost for three years and all 
maintenance is being provided free of charge. 
 
Jamie Bramburger, Manager, Community and Student Affairs, Algonquin College in the Ottawa Valley 
hosted a fashion show fundraiser for the campus on November 14, 2012 at Sunset Nursery. All 
proceeds, over $1000, were donated to the Campus’ capital campaign. 
 
Empty beverage bottles are being returned by the School of Hospitality and Tourism with the credit 
going to Harvest House and a tax receipt going to the College. 
 
A Memorandum of Understanding between Algonquin College and Magor Communications was 
signed and includes the donation of Magor’s telecollaboration software and guidelines to develop 
applied research, international and other projects. 
 
Area 7 ADVANCEMENT 
SALES AND STUDENT RECRUITMENT 
Presentations (High School, University, Employment Centres) and Events 
• Thirty day period ending October 31, 2012 – 209 campaigns 
• Thirty day period ending October 31, 2011 – 195 campaigns 
 
Recruitment Generated Leads Collected  
• Thirty day period ending October 31, 2012 – 4,752 leads 
• Thirty day period ending October 31, 2011 – 2,189 leads 







17 
 


 
Significant Accomplishments: 
Open House and College Information Program (CIP) 
Open House held on Thursday, November 1st from 9:00 a.m. to 1:00 p.m. and 5:00 to 7:00 p.m.  The 
daytime portion was targeted towards high school students.  Attendance was estimated at 
approximately 2,500 students, parents and teachers.  The evening session was targeted at the adult 
population with an estimated attendance of 400. 
 
A trade-show style presentation of all Algonquin programs and services was set up in 4 locations:  the 
gym, the atrium of the ACCE, Salon A of the Marketplace Food Court, and the foyer of the Student 
Commons.  Also included were displays by Continuing and Online Learning and our Perth and 
Pembroke Campuses.  Forty-four Algonquin programs provided 59 program-specific activities such 
class visits, presentations and lab tours to welcome the prospective students throughout the event.  
This is a 76% increase in program participation from last year.  CIP was also part of the College’s 
Open House and displays from 19 Ontario Colleges were set up in the room T102 of the Advanced 
Technology Centre.   
 
A total of 55 school buses arrived at Algonquin with 1901 students aboard from the following school 
boards: 
• 11 - Ottawa Carleton District School Board 
• 12 - Ottawa Catholic School Board 
• 18 - Upper Canada District School Board 
• 9 - Catholic District School Board of Eastern Ontario 
• 4 - West Quebec School Board 
• 1 - Conseil Scolaire Francais d’Ottawa 


 
Faculty Level Marketing Officer | School Of Business 
Sales and Student Recruitment is piloting a new reporting structure with the Faculty Level Marketing 
Officer reporting to the Director of Sales and Student Recruitment and is dedicated to the School of 
Business.  Results to-date include: 
• Increased School of Business participation in the Fall Open house, 
• Revised SOB website content and messaging, 
• Launched a SOB blog. 


 
EVENTS 
President’s Coffee Break Series 
Faculty and staff chatted informally with President MacDonald at his first coffee break held at the 
Woodroffe Campus on Wednesday, October 31st – Halloween!  More than 175 college staff enjoyed 
the ‘spook-tacular’ event with the majority dawning costumes ranging from witches, to doctors, to 
mascots!   
 
Announcement by Minister Bob Chiarelli 
The College was the venue for an announcement by Minister Bob Chiarelli on Thursday, November 
1st at 10:00 a.m. in the ACCE.  Minister Chiarelli announced Ontario’s support of Ottawa’s Southwest 
Transitway Extension project to reduce gridlock and cut commute times. The project will extend the 
Transitway from Baseline Road toward Tallwood Drive, through the new Baseline transit tunnel.  This 
investment brings Ottawa one step closer to completing the full Southwest Transitway Extension from 
Baseline Road to Norice Street.  Mayor Jim Watson, and Councillor Keith Egli and Rick Chiarelli were 
also on hand for the event. 
 
Convocation 
Worked in partnership with the Registrar’s Office in the preparation and execution of the Fall 
Convocation ceremonies held November 7th at the National Arts Centre (NAC). Roger Greenberg, 
CEO of The Minto Group, was our honorary diploma recipient and guest speaker at the afternoon 
ceremony.  







18 
 


 
Remembrance Day 
The College hosted its annual Remembrance Day ceremonies on Friday, November 9th in the 
Marketplace Food Court.  SA President David Corson presided over the event which included laying 
four wreaths on behalf of 1) Faculty and Staff 2) Friends and Family 3) Students, and 4) Aboriginal 
soldiers.  Guest veterans included WWII veteran William Lloyd, and 34-year navy veteran Leonard 
Lemoine who is also a student in our School of Hospitality and Tourism.  Once again this year, the 
ceremony was enhanced with the Canadian Forces GIS students, joined by the Firefighter, 
Paramedic and Police Foundation students, standing on guard for the ceremonial procession. The 
National Anthem was sung in both official languages by Canadian Forces student Sapper James 
Stewart. 
 
New Staff Breakfast 
On October 23, twelve new employees were invited to join President MacDonald for a breakfast in the 
Staff Dining Lounge to discuss their experiences as our newest staff members and to share any 
suggestions they may have to enhance the programs and services we provide to the College 
community.  


 
MARKETING 
 
Marketing Generated Leads Collected 
YTD – compared to the same period Y/Y: 
2013 - 6,448 
2012 - 4,738 
 
October  
2013 - 1,236  
2012 -    887 
 
Marketing Campaigns  
Open House: 
• New campaign (which included: radio ads, emailers, Cineplex ads, digital ads and campaign 


banners and landing page on our website) has generated close to 2,000 website visits and 1,527 
pre-registrations. While the number of pre-registreations is slightly lower than last year, the 
percentage of pre-registrations based on total website traffic generated to the Open House site 
went from 37% last year to 78% this year. 


 
CCOL Winter Campaign: 
• Launched winter CCOL campaign. Programs will be promoted via the Weather Network, Shaw 


Media  and Sympatico websites,  Cineplex ads, Facebook, LinkedIn, Metro online and Google 
Search. 


 
Recruitment Campaign: 
• Recruitment campaign is in progress which includes: cineplex advertising, exterior bus 


advertising (Ottawa), bus shelter posters (Ottawa and Kingston), digital billboards (Ottawa and 
Kingston) and digital mall posters (2 shopping centres in Ottawa).  


 
INTERNAL AND EXTERNAL COMMUNICATIONS 
 
Social Media 
The new Social Media Community Officer is currently reviewing social media accounts associated 
with the College to identify each account’s administrators and their level of social media proficiency. 
Next steps include the development of account management guidelines, staff training sessions in 
December to review basic social media best practices, and the development of channel-specific 
strategies to increase social media engagement. 







19 
 


 
Algonquin College continues to be the most influential Canadian college on social media with a Klout 
score of 65. The next closest college is Lambton, with a score of 60. Algonquin College is tied for 
eighth place among all Canadian postsecondary institutions. Klout score is calculated based on 
output, number of followers, and number of interactions received over social media. It is ranked from 
1-100. 
 
More than 500 tweets were sent from the @AlgonquinColleg account in the past month. That account 
has also attracted more than 400 new followers, bringing the new total to approximately 9,050 
followers. The Algonquin College Facebook page has grown to 2,170 Likes. 
 
Between the College’s main Twitter and Facebook accounts, there have been more than 4,200 
interactions (Twitter mentions, Retweets and Facebook stories) by 1,600 unique users in the past 
month. 
 
Media Relations 
The Public Relations and Communications sent 19 press releases and media advisories in the month 
of October. 
 
Media Coverage Highlights 
October 1 – CBC Ottawa Television reported on a story about a boom in trades applications at the 
College. This video report replayed on October 2. 
 
October 2 – The Voice, a quarterly magazine by the Ottawa Chamber of Commerce, wrote a story 
about the need to hire the internationally educated and interviewed Coordinator Norman Lomow and 
Co-op Consultant Matt Wheatley. 
 
October 2 – The Algonquin Times, Metro Ottawa, and the Nepean/Barrhaven EMC wrote a story 
about the launch of Algonquin College’s Mental Health Awareness Week. 
 
October 2-4 – CTV Ottawa, 580 CFRA, and The Nepean/Barrhaven EMC reported on the change to 
OC Transpo’s student bus passes and the Students’ Association’s campaign against the change.  
 
October 4 – The Arnprior EMC wrote a story about student John Leslie, who will be competing at the 
2014 Paralympic Games. 
 
October 4 – The Nepean/Barrhaven EMC wrote a story about two students and Coordinator Mike 
Nauth’s upcoming trip to Nicaragua, where they will be assisting Habitat for Humanity. 
 
October 4-11 – 580 CFRA and the Nepean/Barrhaven EMC wrote stories about the Colleges Ontario 
announcement regarding three-year college degrees and Algonquin College’s perspective. 
 
October 5  and 25 - 580 CFRA and the Almonte/Carleton Place EMC featured stories on Early 
Learning Centre Manager Lisa Lamarre-O’Gorman receiving 2012 Prime Minister's Awards for 
Teaching Excellence and Excellence in Early Childhood Education. 
 
October 10 – CTV Ottawa Morning Live interviewed Professor Chris Wojcik about developmental 
impacts on kids growing up in a competitive environment. 
 
October 11 – Chill Magazine, a magazine available at The Beer Store, named Algonquin College the 
top Ontario-based trade school. 
 
October 11 – Award Magazine published their article on the Robert C. Gillett Student Commons 
Building. 
 
October 11, 17 and 20 – Award Magazine, 1310 News, The Algonquin Times, CKDJ 107.9, The 







20 
 


Nepean/Barrhaven EMC, On-Site Magazine, and The Ottawa Citizen featured stories on Robert C. 
Gillett Student Commons Building and its official opening. 
 
October 11 – EMC News wrote a story about an upcoming scotch tasting event featuring Algonquin 
College Professor Geoff Skeggs of the Sommelier program. 
 
October 12 - 13 – 1310 News, 580 CFRA, Algonquin College Television Broadcasting students, The 
Algonquin Times, Talk Radio (Rogers TV), CBC Radio One, CBC Television Ottawa, CKDJ 107.9, 
The Nepean/Barrhaven EMC, and The Ottawa Sun wrote stories regarding “24 Hours of 
Homelessness”.  
 
October 15, 17 and 23 – Royal Roads University, the Vitoria Times Colonist and 580 CFRA featured 
wrote features stories on Jim Kyte, Chair of Marketing & Management Studies, receiving the 
Governor General’s Gold Medal. 
 
October 17 – The Toronto Star, the Toronto Sun, the Ottawa Citizen, 580 CFRA, 1310 News, CTV 
Ottawa, CBC Ottawa, the Algonquin Times, and CKDJ 107.9 wrote stories regarding a cyber-security 
press conference held by Federal Public Safety Minister Vic Toews in T Building. 
 
October 18 – The Ottawa Citizen wrote a story about the Housing Design Awards. Graduate Roy 
Nandram received Renovator of the Year.  
 
October 20 – The Ottawa Citizen wrote a story regarding the opening of the Robert C. Gillett Student 
Commons and Mr. Gillett’s retirement. 
 
October 23 – The Wall Street Journal’s website and Yahoo! Finance reprinted the press release 
related to the $1 million goal announcement by the Event Management Program. The release was 
distributed by CWF over Canada Newswire. 
 
October 24 – The Pembroke Daily Observer featured a story presenting President Kent MacDonald to 
the Pembroke community for the first time since becoming College President. 
 
October 24 - The Pembroke Daily Observer wrote a story about KI Pembroke donating $25,000 to the 
new Pembroke Waterfront Campus. 
 
October 25 – The Nepean/Barrhaven EMC wrote a story about the Greater Nepean Chamber of 
Commerce awards won by the College. 
 
October 26 – The Ottawa Sun wrote a story about the need for French in schools, and interviewed 
Silvia Garcia from the Language Institute.  
 
October 27 – The Ottawa Citizen interviewed Nadine McInnis, Professor at Algonquin College, about 
her new book “Blood Secrets”. 
 
October 27 – The Ottawa Citizen, Fan 590 Radio Toronto, Hamilton Scores (a Hamilton sports 
website), the Algonquin Times, and CKDJ 107.9 reported on Kelly Avalos being named the OCAA 
Female Soccer player of the year. 
 
October 30 – The Pembroke Daily Observer wrote a story about the opening of the new Pembroke 
Waterfront campus. 
 
October 31 – The Epoch Times wrote a story about the Corporate & Community Social Responsibility 
Conference. 
 
 







21 
 


APPENDIX 1 
Area 3: Student Services 


 
REGISTRAR’S OFFICE 
 
Registration Statistics 
Full-time Registration in Post-Secondary/Post-Diploma Programs 
 


 








Presented to the  


Board of Governors 


 


December 10th, 2012 


SPSP FINAL 
REPORT 







Outline 


 Recap: SPSP Project Overview 


 Phase 1 and 2: 2009-2011: Initial Recommendations & 
Implementation 


 Phase 3: Operationalizing continuous improvement: 2011/12 


 Phase 3: Findings and Recommendations 


 College Programs Review 


 College Services Review 


 Path forward 


SPSP Final Report 


2 December 10th, , 2012 







 


 


 


 


 


Key Directions:   
• Learning 
• Commitment to student success 
• Focus on relevant, high-quality programs and 


services to further the College’s strategic 
directions (with strong emphasis on becoming a 
digital college) 


• Continuous improvement 


Recap: SPSP Project Overview 


Phase 1: 2009/10 


Initial recommendations 


Phase 2: 2010/11 


Implementation of initial 
recommendations 


Phase 3: 2011/12  to 
date 


Operationalizing 
continuous improvement 







 


 


 


 


 


Recap: SPSP Project Overview 


Service Performance 
Metrics:  
 


2011 Report Goals:  
• To update on the 


extensive list of 
program and service 
recommendations 
approved in the 
previous year  


Task Groups: 
• Service Performance 


Metrics 
• College Programming 


Strategy 
• Services in Academic 


Department Office 
• College Committee 


Review  
 


Phase 1: 2009/10 


Initial recommendations 


Phase 2: 2010/11 


Implementation of initial 
recommendations 


Phase 3: 2011/12  to 
date 


Operationalizing 
continuous improvement 







 


 


 


 


 


Recap: SPSP Project Overview 


Embedding continuous improvement into 
the college culture:  


• College Program Review 


• College Services Review 


Phase 1: 2009/10 


Initial recommendations 


Phase 2: 2010/11 


Implementation of initial 
recommendations 


Phase 3: 2011/12  to 
date 


Operationalizing 
continuous improvement 







Initial Recommendations 


& Implementation  


 


6 


SPSP Final Report 


December 10th, , 2012 


Status of 2009/10 Recommendations 







Recommendations & 


Implementation: Examples  


 


7 


SPSP Final Report 


December 10th, , 2012 


• Academic: Aligned operations of the Centre for Continuing & Online Learning  
with other academic areas 


• Advancement: Consolidated web services and creative services  


• Shipping/Receiving, Purchasing & Accounting Operations: Consolidated into 
one department  


• Human Resources: Phased out responding to pension estimate inquiries, now 
directed to CAAT 


• Student Services: Automation and online services have been explored further 
by Student Services 


Results: More efficient processes & resource utilization 







8 


Previous Years 


VP Report 


Department 


Business Unit 


Service Report 


2011/12: Automated Fall 2012: SharePoint 


Automating Services Review 


Operationalizing 


Continuous Improvement 


 


SPSP Final Report 


December 10th, , 2012 







9 


SPSP Draft Final Report 


December 10th, , 2012 


Operationalizing 


Continuous Improvement 


 


• SPSP held more than 30 separate training 
sessions and workshops 


• Measures without data decreased to 8% 
(from 12%) 


• 1/3 of services made changes to their 
measures 


• Removed measures that were difficult to 
gather data for, or were not as useful as 
originally anticipated 


• Added new measures that were originally 
missed 


Closing data gaps 







s 


  


10 


Pan-College Opportunities 


 


SPSP Draft Final Report 


November 28th, 2012 


Services 
Review 
 


Pan-College 
Opportunities 


Departmental 
Recommendations  







 Opportunities: Pan College   


SPSP Final Report 


11 December 10th, , 2012 


Align Project Management 
Processes 1 


Automate Business Intelligence 2 


        Coordinate  
        External Outreach 5 


         Coordinate   
         Digital Infrastructure 4 


      Automate  
      Key Business Processes 3 


         Embed  
         Continuous Improvement 7 


Enhance Marketing Support 6 







Allison Burnett 


Cindy Chapman 


Monique Cochrane  


Jennifer Daly-Cyr 


Denyce Diakun 


Dave Donaldson 


Chuck Doyle 


 


Karen Foster 


Barbara Foulds 


Joanne McDonald 


Katie Miller  


Claire Snasdell-Taylor 


Jack Wilson 


 


12 


SPSP Final Report 


December 10th, , 2012 


Steering Committee 







• Responsibility for Phase 3 findings will 
proceed under the guidance of the 
College Leadership Council 


 


• Principles of continuous improvement 
will be further embedded in Algonquin’s 
day to day operation and quality 
assurance processes for programs and 
services, through an ongoing 
commitment to professional 
development 


13 


Path Forward 


SPSP Final Report 


December 10th, , 2012 







SPSP Final Report 


December 10th, , 2012 







15 


    Align Project Management Processes 1 


SPSP Final Report 


December 10th, , 2012 


• Recommendations from project-based departments included: 


• Having internal resource vs. contractor  


• Create a “project management office” as a shared service 


• Re-evaluate project management processes within departments 


• Further analysis needs to be conducted before a solution can be 
brought forward 


Pan-College 


Recommendations 







16 


SPSP Final Report 


December 10th, , 2012 


    Automate Business Intelligence 2 


• Improved access to business intelligence recommended by 
numerous departments  


• Recommendations from initial analysis (2009/10) also stated 
the need for better business intelligence capabilities 


• Several different initiatives are underway to help address key 
pain points while the longer term Cognos solution is installed 


Pan-College 


Recommendations 







17 


SPSP Final Report 


December 10th, , 2012 


    Automate Key Business Processes 3 


• Impact of the manual processes related to part-time payroll is 
felt widespread across the College 


• Recognized need to value-stream the CAL999 annual 
curriculum review process to be more efficient 


• Key departments involved in payroll process recommended  
payroll automation (solution currently being designed) 


• Recommendation also was brought forward in initial 
recommendations (2009/10) 


Pan-College 


Recommendations 







18 


SPSP Final Report 


December 10th, , 2012 


        Coordinate Digital Infrastructure 4 


• Emphasis on enhancing mobile learning programs  
• Creating a roadmap for rolling out online resources to students 


• Increasing collaboration among key departments  


• Identifying impacts and risks associated with expanding MLPs, 
and developing a risk-management strategy 


• Put in place a coordinating body be created to treat 
acquired software as a tracked asset rather than a 
departmental purchase (e.g. Live Chat, CRM)  


• Further discussions must be held on this initiative 


Pan-College 


Recommendations 







SPSP Final Report 


December 10th, , 2012 


    Coordinate External Outreach 5 
• Departments with pan-college objectives indicated that 


nurturing and growing external relationships in a strategic, 
coordinated manner will be critical to achieving our strategic 
goals, so that that College: 


• Has a complete picture of the activities going on with any 
community partner/employer 


• Does not duplicate any requests 


• Maintains a strong brand reputation in the community  


• Can pursue partnerships strategically 


Pan-College 


Recommendations 







20 


SPSP Final Report 


December 10th, , 2012 


    Enhance Marketing Support 6 


Pan-College 


Recommendations 


• Several recommendations requested additional marketing 
support was required for their initiatives in order to:  


• Help achieve growth targets 


• Coordinate messages and materials for departments 
with a large external focus 


• Market their offerings internally to faculty, students, 
and staff 







21 


SPSP Final Report 


December 10th, , 2012 


    Embed Continuous Improvement 7 


Pan-College 


Recommendations 


• Embedding continuous improvement in the culture of 
the college includes:  


• Ongoing education and training in quality  


• Implementing recommendations based on services 
analysis 


• Piloting new solutions to enhance understanding of 
the voice of our customers 


 


 








Strategic Programs and Services Planning (SPSP) 
Services Review – Final Report to the Board of Governors- December 2012 


2009-2010


A L G O N Q U I N  C O L L E G E


Strategic Programs and 
Services Planning (SPSP)


2009-2010


A L G O N Q U I N  C O L L E G E


Final Report December, 2012







Strategic Programs and Services Planning (SPSP) 
Services Review – Final Report to the Board of Governors- December 2012 


SP
SP


 -
 D


ec
em


b
er


 2
0


12


1







Strategic Programs and Services Planning (SPSP) 
Services Review – Final Report to the Board of Governors- December 2012 


SP
SP


 -
 D


ec
em


b
er


 2
0


12


2


This report marks the conclusion of the most extensive review of programs and services undertaken in Algonquin’s more than 45-year history. 


I commend the Board of Governors for their vision and direction to complete the Strategic Programs and Services Planning (SPSP) efforts.  
I thank the College community for its dedication, effort and patience in carrying out this essential exercise. We are stronger for it and we are 
better prepared to face—and respond to—the opportunities and challenges the next 45 years will bring.


The SPSP project looked at Algonquin with a wide-angle lens, applying a common assessment framework to every aspect of its operations,  
and establishing performance metrics for programs and services to facilitate data-driven decision-making. As a result of that work, we have 
identified numerous opportunities to use College resources more efficiently and improve our service delivery.


While the project itself is finished, its work will carry on. The knowledge generated has been successfully transferred into the College’s  
departments, laying the foundation for a culture of continuous improvement. Our College Leadership Council is picking up where SPSP left off, 
integrating the project’s recommendations and principles into Algonquin’s business planning processes.


The SPSP project has revealed that we are making the right progress. Its findings will inform our strategic and business plans into the future.  
Our efforts will help guide us toward realizing our vision of becoming a global leader in digitally connected applied education and training.


Sincerely,


Claude Brulé
Vice President, Academic


MESSAGE FROM THE vicE PRESiDENT, AcADEMic







Strategic Programs and Services Planning (SPSP) 
Services Review – Final Report to the Board of Governors- December 2012 


SP
SP


 -
 D


ec
em


b
er


 2
0


12


3


cONTENTS


Executive Summary 4


RECAP: THE STRATEGIC PROGRAMS AND SERVICES PLANNING (SPSP) PROJECT   


2009 to 2011: Initial recommendations and implementation 6


 Phase 1 6


 Phase 2 7


 Task group updates 7


2011 to 2012: Operationalizing continuous improvement 8


 Phase 3 


PHASE 3: FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 9


Updated College Programs Review 9


College Services Review 9


Close the gap on data and measures 9


Departmental recommendations 10


Pan-College opportunities 12


Align SPSP efforts with the College’s business planning cycle 15


 
PATH FORWARD 16







Strategic Programs and Services Planning (SPSP) 
Services Review – Final Report to the Board of Governors- December 2012 


SP
SP


 -
 D


ec
em


b
er


 2
0


12


4


In 2009, Algonquin launched the Strategic Programs and Services Planning (SPSP) project to identify areas for improvement and growth across 
the College. Across three phases of activity, SPSP has thoroughly surveyed Algonquin’s programs and services, with numerous recommendations 
implemented and the foundations of a continuous improvement culture firmly established.


Phases 1 and 2: 2009 to 2011 – Initial recommendations and implementation
The first phase of the SPSP project concluded in 2010 with the publication of initial findings and recommendations in a report entitled, Embracing 
Change, Ready to Act. Those recommendations were enacted during a second project phase in 2010/2011. 


In June 2011, the SPSP Progress Report noted that many College services lacked extensive decision-making data. These findings prompted the 
Board of Governors to request an in-depth review of the services data that had been collected. A third and final phase was initiated with a focus 
on completing the College’s Programs Review and performing a more comprehensive College Services Review.


Phase 3: 2011 to 2012 – Findings and recommendations


Update on College Programs Review
Responsibility for the implementation of SPSP program recommendations and regular program review rests with the Deans. Of the  
recommendations made in June 2010, more than 50% are complete; update reports indicate the remaining recommendations are on track.  
The work described in the Task Group on Services in Academic Offices update and the update on Academic Business Intelligence further  
demonstrates the operationalization of the Programs Review process.


College Services Review and Departmental Recommendations
As part of the analysis component of Phase 3, the SPSP Steering Committee reviewed more than 250 services and 360 department-level  
recommendations, which were organized into the established categories of Enhance, Revise, Maintain, Phase Out and New Opportunity. 


Many services recommended for enhancement were related to the College’s strategic goals of student and client success, and financial  
sustainability. ‘Revise’ recommendations focused largely on improving student and client success, and on realigning resources or tasks for 
greater effectiveness. Several New Opportunities pertained to the College’s strategic goal of delivering exceptional service to its diverse 
student and client populations.


Close the gap on data and measures
Through the process of this analysis, it became apparent that additional work was required to increase the College’s understanding of key data 
collection and performance metrics concepts. Over 30 separate training sessions and workshops were held to ensure Deans and Directors had  
the knowledge critical for their success. Additional data were then gathered and performance measures further refined. 


EXEcUTivE SUMMARY







Strategic Programs and Services Planning (SPSP) 
Services Review – Final Report to the Board of Governors- December 2012 


5


Pan-College opportunities
As well, during the Steering Committee’s review, it became apparent 
that the approach to making final service-level recommendations had 
to be substantively different from the one used for programs due to the 
degree of inter-connectedness among services. The Steering 
Committee noted that changes to services in one area of the College 
often affected services delivered in another. This ‘ripple effect’ made 
isolated recommendations inappropriate in many cases, and led the 
Steering Committee to identify seven pan-College opportunities for 
consideration. (In addition to the pan-College opportunities, several 
unique departmental recommendations were put forward.)


The seven pan-College initiatives opportunities included:


 1. Aligning project management processes
 2. Automating academic business intelligence 
 3. Automating key business processes—specifically payroll and CAL999
 4. Coordinating digital infrastructure and capabilities 
 5. Coordinating outreach to external stakeholders
 6. Developing a culture of continuous improvement
 7. Enhancing marketing support


EXEcUTivE SUMMARY (continued)


MEMbERS OF THE SPSP STEERiNG 
cOMMiTTEE:


Jennifer Daly-Cyr, Acting Director,  
Strategic Programs and Services Planning (Chair)


Allison Burnett, Project Coordinator,  
Strategic Programs and Services Planning


Cindy Chapman, Project Manager, IIRTS


Monique Cochrane, Professor, Business, Perth Campus


Denyce Diakun, Director,  
Workforce and Personal Development


Dave Donaldson, Dean, School of Business


Chuck Doyle, Manager, Business Process Review 


Karen Foster, Director, Ancillary Services


Barbara Foulds, Acting Dean, Health and Community Studies


Joanne McDonald, Manager,  
Career Services and Student Activities


Katie Miller, Strategic Programs and Services Planning (recorder)


Claire Snasdell-Taylor, Chair, Career and Academic Access Centre


Jack Wilson, Professor, Police and Public Safety Institute


Path forward
Going forward, responsibility for Phase 3 findings - including outstanding recommendations and the seven pan-College opportunities - will 
proceed under the guidance of the College Leadership Council as part of its strategic and business planning processes. 


The principles of continuous improvement will be further embedded in Algonquin’s day-to-day operations and quality assurance processes 
for programs and services through an ongoing commitment to professional development.







Strategic Programs and Services Planning (SPSP) 
Services Review – Final Report to the Board of Governors- December 2012 


SP
SP


 -
 D


ec
em


b
er


 2
0


12


6


In 2009, Algonquin College began the most extensive planning exercise ever undertaken in its history. Initiated by the College’s forward-
thinking Board of Governors, the Strategic Programs and Services Planning (SPSP) project touched every aspect of College operations and 
attracted attention from other post-secondary institutions in Canada. This final report revisits the two initial phases of the SPSP project and 
summarizes work done since the last update to the Board of Governors in June 2012, as depicted in Figure 1 below.


Figure 1. The SPSP process at a glance


2009 to 2011: Initial recommendations and implementation


Phase 1
The first phase of the SPSP process took place over the course of 2009/2010, engaging the entire College community in a comprehensive 
review of programs and services. The aim was to identify areas for improvement and opportunities for new offerings—to reveal ways of 
growing sustainably, ensure the ongoing relevance of programs and services, and address fiscal challenges. 


That initial phase concluded in June 2010 with the a report titled Embracing Change, Ready to Act, which contained recommendations for 
action, grouped under the ‘key directions’ of:


	 •	 Learning
	 •	 Commitment	to	student	success
	 •	 Focus	on	relevant,	high-quality	programs	and	services	to	further	the	College’s	strategic	directions
  (with strong emphasis on becoming a digital college)
	 •	 Continuous	improvement


REcAP: THE STRATEGic PROGRAMS AND SERvicES 
PLANNiNG (SPSP) PROJEcT







Strategic Programs and Services Planning (SPSP) 
Services Review – Final Report to the Board of Governors- December 2012 


Phase 2
A second phase carried SPSP forward through 2010/2011, with departments 
across the College implementing the majority of the recommendations 
outlined in Embracing Change, Ready to Act. A renewed SPSP Steering 
Committee was formed in January 2011 to oversee SPSP  
implementation and reporting, and to facilitate the work of the 
project’s four special purpose task groups:


	 •	 Service	Performance	Metrics
	 •	 College	Programming	Strategy
	 •	 Services	in	Academic	Offices
	 •	 College	Standing	Committee	Review


The outcomes of the implementation efforts were captured in the  
Embracing Change, Ready to Act Progress Report published in June 2011. 


Figure 2 shows the status of the June 2010 recommendations as of 
November 2012. The majority of the program and service  
recommendations have been completed.  Those in progress have been 
transferred successfully to the individual departments responsible.


REcAP: THE STRATEGic PROGRAMS AND SERvicES PLANNiNG 
(SPSP) PROJEcT (continued) 


SP
SP


 -
 D


ec
em


b
er


 2
0


12


7


REcOMMENDATiONS iMPLEMENTED
Examples of successfully implemented SPSP recommendations 
can be found in every department of the College, as the  
following show:


Academic
The College’s Academic division aligned the operations of the 
Centre for Continuing and Online Learning (formerly the School 
of Part Time Studies) with other Academic areas. Opportunities 
for future business development are being explored.


Advancement
The Advancement Division consolidated its web and creative 
services units to formally form the Marketing Department, 
providing the College community access to modern marketing 
skills and support.


Finance and Administration
In Finance and Administration, the functions of shipping/ 
receiving, purchasing and accounting have been consolidated—
bringing greater cohesion to College supply chain logistics, 
reducing costs (through the elimination of three FTE positions), 
and enabling resource re-allocation to enhance department 
value.


Human Resources
Human Resources at Algonquin phased out responding to 
pension estimate inquiries, which are better handled by the 
Colleges of Applied Arts and Technology (CAAT) Pension Plan. 
Today, all such inquiries are directed to CAAT, making a more 
efficient use of HR resources. 


Student Services
Automation and online services have been explored further by 
Student Services to offer a greater range of service options to 
clients, improving their overall experience of the College.


Figure 2. Status of June 2010 SPSP recommendations


Task group updates
The four SPSP task groups concluded their work in 2011. Each group’s activities were linked to a specific Key Recommendation from the 2010 SPSP 
Final Report.


Service Performance Metrics Task Group
KEY RECOMMENDATION TO ADDRESS: Develop an annual administrative College Services Review model.







Strategic Programs and Services Planning (SPSP) 
Services Review – Final Report to the Board of Governors- December 2012 


The SPSP Services Performance Metrics produced performance metrics for every College service—in many cases, for the first time,  
representing an initial opportunity to collect data in a focused manner. The metrics were implemented during the College Services Review.


College Programming Strategy Task Group
KEY RECOMMENDATION TO ADDRESS: Develop a comprehensive College programming strategy.


This task group’s recommendations are now being operationalized by the Academic Development department, and include finalization of 
the College market research study. Algonquin’s Strategic Enrolment Management Committee (SEMC) is working on projections that will be 
aligned with the College programming strategy.


Services in Academic Offices Task Group 
KEY RECOMMENDATION TO ADDRESS: Conduct an organizational design study related to structure, delivery and support in the academic 
area.


A common set of metrics identified by the task group was implemented during the Phase 3 College Services Review. Analysis of results 
reported against those metrics shed light on the performance of the College’s academic offices in several key areas. A cross-section of 
academic office staff was engaged in focus groups and interviews about SPSP analysis and their offices’ data needs. Coming out of this, 
the SPSP and business process review teams conducted a joint a workshop with the academic office Chairs in October 2012. 


That workshop focused on identifying labour-intensive processes that could be made more efficient and deliver value-added services to 
students. Prioritized in order of importance/urgency, these included: repetitive, cyclical HR processes; non-standardized, multi-platform 
(Genesis and Excel) reporting processes; and loading and scheduling processes that currently require cyclical data re-entry.


As well, business requirements for a program-focused dashboard were created for the College’s Academic Offices. Once implemented, 
such a dashboard could eliminate a significant number of hours currently spent manually entering data into spreadsheets and reports.


College Committees Review Task Group 
KEY RECOMMENDATION TO ADDRESS: Re-examine existing committee structure.


This task group recommended changes to the structure, function and membership of College committees and working groups. These 
recommendations were reviewed by the President’s Council and an implementation plan is being developed 


2011 to 2012: Operationalizing continuous improvement


Phase 3
The third and final phase of the SPSP project commenced in June of 2011 and consisted of two components:


	 •	 An	updated	College	Programs	Review,	leading	to	the	operationalization	of	data-driven	program-related	decision	making	within		
  the College’s academic area, guided by principles of continuous improvement.


	 •	 A	College	Services	Review	that	included	identifying	and	refining	performance	metrics	based	on	factors	such	as	relevance,			
  demand, quality and resource utilization and analysing the related data for all College services.


8







Strategic Programs and Services Planning (SPSP) 
Services Review – Final Report to the Board of Governors- December 2012 


SP
SP


 -
 D


ec
em


b
er


 2
0


12


9


Update on College Programs Review
Responsibility for the implementation of SPSP program recommendations and regular program review rests with the Deans. Of the 
recommendations made in June 2010, more than 50% are complete; update reports indicate the remaining recommendations are on track. 
The work described in the Task Group on Services in Academic Offices update and the update on Academic Business Intelligence further 
demonstrates the operationalization of the Programs Review process.


College Services Review 
Of the two elements of Phase 3, the College Services Review was the more intensive exercise, demanding significant time and effort. 
While College programs can be assessed more or less individually, services tend to be interconnected and interlinked, making data  
collection both challenging and complex. A significant finding of the College Services Review was related to the connectedness of  
College services, which helped reveal opportunities for pan-College improvement initiatives. (See the section titled “Seven pan-College 
opportunities” in this report for more detail on these.)


Many participants in the College Services Review remarked that the analysis component provided a great opportunity to work 
collaboratively and share ideas with colleagues and staff across departments. In keeping with Algonquin’s digital college objectives, 
this phase of the SPSP project saw analysis and reporting templates automated via a SharePoint platform.


As detailed in a previous update to the Board of Governors, concluding the College Services Review consisted of four steps:


	 •	 Close	the	gap	on	data	and	measures
	 •	 Review	departmental	recommendations	
	 •	 Identify	pan-College	opportunities
	 •	 Align	SPSP	efforts	with	the	College’s	business	planning	cycle


Close the gap on data and measures
The June 2012 SPSP Update Report noted that many services lacked extensive decision-making data. The Service Performance Metrics Task 
Group and related cross-College efforts had laid a solid foundation for extensive service reviews, analysis and reporting. Armed with the 
results of the 2012 College Services review, this extensive data gathering effort was carried out during the summer and fall of 2012. 


PHASE 3:  FiNDiNGS AND REcOMMENDATiONS







Strategic Programs and Services Planning (SPSP) 
Services Review – Final Report to the Board of Governors- December 2012 


SP
SP


 -
 D


ec
em


b
er


 2
0


12


10


Key actions included: 


Gathering missing data
The June 2012 SPSP Update Report showed that 12% of performance measures 
were missing data. This was due to challenges of data collection, the definition 
of meaningful measures, and the correlation of findings to department-level 
recommendations. The fall 2012 College Services Review update showed the gap 
has narrowed to 8%. (Results are captured in the departmental Services Review 
updates of October 4, 2012.) As momentum builds and departments continue to 
deepen their collective knowledge of performance measurement and related 
data collection, this gap will narrow further.


Refining performance measures
In June 2012, 25% of College services indicated they were working with incorrect 
measures, and 42% indicated additional measures were required. Since then, 
a full third of services (29%) either removed or added measures to strengthen 
their service performance metrics. Departments eliminated over 10% of the original measures; several new measures were added in fall 
2012, and others will be incorporated as departments and schools become increasingly comfortable with performance measurement and 
analysis.


Sharing knowledge through workshops
To support data gathering and efforts to refine performance metrics, a substantive effort was made to raise the level of knowledge. SPSP 
held more than 30 separate training sessions and workshops:


	 •	 Quality	workshops:	Focused	on	discussing	quality	measures	and	data
	 •	 Dean/Director	meetings:	SPSP	representatives	met	with	Deans/Directors	to	address	their	measures	and	data	gaps,	and	 
  support completion of the service review update 
	 •	 Departmental	workshops:	To	help	departments	as	a	whole	review	and	update	their	data	and	measures


 The SPSP team also worked with Ancillary Services’ new restaurant, Phogos, and the School of Hospitality and Tourism, Savoir Fare, to  
 pilot a mobile feedback tool for gathering customer satisfaction data from students and other College clients.


The most significant impacts of the College Services Review have been: to instill a data-driven decision-making approach within 
individual departments and service areas; and to produce a pan-College view of issues and opportunities that will allow departments to 
work even more collaboratively and productively—with greater alignment of resources—to better serve the full range of College clients.


Departmental recommendations
The SPSP Steering Committee reviewed more than 360 department-level recommendations covering more than 250 services as part of the 
final phase of the SPSP project. The College Services Review alone resulted in 99 business unit reports and 29 Dean/Director reports.


Figure 4. Outcome of data collection efforts







Strategic Programs and Services Planning (SPSP) 
Services Review – Final Report to the Board of Governors- December 2012 


SP
SP


 -
 D


ec
em


b
er


 2
0


12


11


Overall, department-level recommendations were fairly evenly split across the five SPSP categories of:


	 •	 Enhance
	 •	 Revise
	 •	 Maintain
	 •	 Phase	Out
	 •	 New	Opportunity


Of the five, the category with the fewest recommendations was ‘Phase Out’. This is not surprising, as the vast majority of services are 
critical to delivering exceptional programs at the College, and/or are tightly integrated with other services. Both make it extremely 
difficult to recommend phasing out a service. That said, aspects of a service might be phased out—which in most cases then falls under 
‘Revise’. 


Some examples of the departmental-level recommendations are outlined below.


Services to Enhance
Departments brought forward several recommendations to enhance services, with many of those services supporting the College’s  
strategic goals of student and client success, and financial sustainability in particular. These ranged from aligning Algonquin’s Prior  
Learning Assessment and Recognition (PLAR) process with other colleges so students can more easily have experience recognized to 
acquiring credit cards for vendor payment, which is more efficient than paying by paper cheque.


Services to Revise
Almost all departmental recommendations to revise services were related to improving student and client success. Many ‘Revise’  
recommendations were about realigning resources or tasks for greater effectiveness—for example, assigning responsibilities more 
logically across departments, and refining existing processes.


Services to Maintain
Many services across the College have consistent performance and require minimal revision or improvement. Services departments  
recommended maintaining included events offered through the Mamidosewin Centre, as well as some of the services provided by the 
Centre for Continuous and Online Learning. 


Services to Phase Out
As mentioned, the integrated nature of services at the College makes it difficult to recommend full phase outs. Departments instead 
proposed phasing out aspects of services (considered to be revisions), and in fact many aspects of services originally tagged for Phase Out 
ended up bundled with the pan-College opportunities.
 
New Opportunities
Many opportunities identified by/for departments focused on the College’s strategic goal of delivering exceptional service to its diverse 
student and client populations. These included establishing a centralized curriculum development centre—an idea brought forward by 
multiple departments along with a proposed transition strategy. The opening of the new campus in Pembroke was seen as a tremendous 
opportunity to better serve students, staff, and the community at large by expanding food services and bookstore offerings. Other  
opportunities centered on the financial sustainability of the College. Some of these involved potential cost efficiencies, while others  
suggested new revenue sources—related to partnerships, for example, or new facilities.


PHASE 3:  FiNDiNGS AND REcOMMENDATiONS (continued) 







Strategic Programs and Services Planning (SPSP) 
Services Review – Final Report to the Board of Governors- December 2012 


SP
SP


 -
 D


ec
em


b
er


 2
0


12


12


Pan-College opportunities
Once the Steering Committee had completed its first round of analysis, it discussed key themes emerging from the College Services 
Review.	Quickly,	it	became	evident	that	most	college	services	were	inter-connected,	with	changes	in	one	having	an	impact	on	others.	
This significant finding revealed the complexity of College services. The SPSP team used these themes to ‘tag’ each of the departmental 
recommendations and determine which themes were most prominent or common. The resulting seven pan-College opportunities  
identified included:


 1. Aligning project management processes
 2. Automating academic business intelligence 
 3. Automating key business processes—specifically payroll and CAL999
 4. Coordinating digital infrastructure and capabilities 
 5. Coordinating outreach to external stakeholders
 6. Developing a culture of continuous improvement
 7. Enhancing marketing support


Several of these are at the idea stage, needing further refinement to better determine their scope and ‘actionability’. With the conclusion 
of the SPSP project, it is now the responsibility of the College Leadership Council to lead the further exploration of these opportunities as 
part of Algonquin’s business planning processes. Key considerations include implementation costs, potential impacts on other areas of the 
College, and timeline to launch.


As part of becoming a ‘continuous improvement College’, emphasis must shift from making recommendations to developing a process for 
departments to advance opportunities or proposed changes from concept to implementation. 


The seven pan-College activities are outlined below. 


1. Aligning project management processes (Strategic Pillar – Financial Sustainability)
Several departments across the College are project-driven. Many of them identified opportunities to align project management skills and 
processes, such as creating a project management office as a shared service responsible for delivering projects of all sizes and types, and 
re-evaluating existing project management processes to improve their effectiveness and reduce outsourcing costs.


Further analysis is required before a conclusive solution can be brought forward. To advance this opportunity to its next steps, business 
process review/value-stream activities are needed for project management processes across the College and a business case must be 
developed—identifying the benefits and financial impact of adopting a central project management office.


2. Automating academic business intelligence (Strategic Pillar: Financial Sustainability)
The June 2010 SPSP Final Report called for greater access to business intelligence—echoed by numerous departmental recommendations. 
Immediate academic business intelligence needs include rapid access to program data and greater access to student and staffing  
information across schools/departments.


SPSP, Academic Operations and Planning, and Academic Development collaboratively developed the academic business requirements for 
enhancements to Algonquin’s  enterprise reporting portal and for building a program dashboard that will highlight key financial, quality 
and access indicators for each program in the College. IIRTS is currently reviewing these requirements and looking to leverage the newly 
implemented Cognos platform for the solution. SPSP has developed an interim pilot dashboard for use within the academic area.







Strategic Programs and Services Planning (SPSP) 
Services Review – Final Report to the Board of Governors- December 2012 


SP
SP


 -
 D


ec
em


b
er


 2
0


12


13


The SPSP and Business Process Review teams worked together to address common and recurring issues raised by Chairs across the schools 
of the College—for example, to improve and make more accessible reports generated through the Genesis student information system.


The potential benefits of efforts to automate academic business intelligence include:


	 •	 Data-based	strategic	enrolment	decision-making
	 •	 More	effective	resource	allocation,	reducing	time	spent	on	manual	data	input	in	favour	of	more	strategic,	higher-value	activities
	 •	 Greater	insight	and	better	information	from	access	to	student	and	staff	data	in	Genesis	
	 •	 Maximizing	investments	in	Algonquin’s	Cognos	systems	and	phasing	out	legacy	systems	and	customized	reports	


3. Automating key business processes (Strategic Pillar: Student and Client Success)
Of the many business processes at the College that represent good candidates for automation, payroll and CAL999 were cited most 
frequently. 


Payroll
Departmental recommendations noted that manual processes related to part-time payroll are overly labour-intensive: SPSP data show 
that academic offices allocate more 2,500 hours per semester (equivalent to 70 weeks, or ~1.3 person years (PY)) to part-time payroll 
administration. Finance, HR, and the Academic Offices, all of which are affected by payroll, recommended moving forward with payroll 
automation 1 .


A working group spearheaded by Algonquin’s Business Process Review is developing an interim solution for automating part-time payroll 
that would migrate from timesheets to exception reports and leverage the digital capabilities the College has invested in, such as Share-
Point. 


While it is unlikely automation would decrease a person year associated with payroll because of the way the payroll workload is dis-
persed, automation stands to contribute to more effective resource allocation by reducing the time spent on manual data input and 
increasing the time allocated to more strategic, higher-value activities.


CAL999
Curriculum review is strategically important to Algonquin, as student enrolment, engagement and retention are all premised on the 
quality of the curriculum. Yet there is a recognized need to re-examine the curriculum quality review process so it better reflects the 
College’s strategic direction. Deans across the various schools felt the review process could more efficient, and almost all academic offices 
recommended the CAL999 Annual Curriculum Review (ACR) process be revised. (Currently, it is entirely manual and involves printing and 
re-entering	data	multiple	times	into	different	systems.)	It	was	suggested	that	the	Annual	Curriculum	Review	and	Program	Quality	Review	
processes be automated, from data entry to review and approvals. 


The CAL999 annual curriculum review is recommended for value-stream analysis in 2013. Streamlining the process through automation 
will help improve employee engagement and empowerment, and align with the College’s strategic goal of leveraging technology to 
modernize business processes.


4. Coordinating digital infrastructure/capabilities (Strategic Pillar: Student & Client Success/Financial Sustainability)
Algonquin’s goal is for most Level One students entering full-time postsecondary programs in fall 2013 to have wireless-capable 
computing devices for Mobile Learning Programs (MLPs). To enhance the College’s MLPs and take advantage of new opportunities,  
departments recommended:


PHASE 3:  FiNDiNGS AND REcOMMENDATiONS (continued) 







Strategic Programs and Services Planning (SPSP) 
Services Review – Final Report to the Board of Governors- December 2012 


SP
SP


 -
 D


ec
em


b
er


 2
0


12


14


	 •	 Creating	a	roadmap	for	rolling	out	online	resources	to	students
	 •	 Increasing	collaboration	among	key	departments	involved	in	implementing	MLPs
	 •	 Identifying	impacts	and	risks	associated	with	expanding	MLPs,	and	developing	a	risk-management	strategy


To cost-effectively support the new delivery method of MLPs, it was also recommended a coordinating body be created to treat acquired 
software as a tracked asset rather than a departmental purchase. Examples of software purchases that need to be transitioned to a single 
platform include Live Chat, customer relationship management, and voice and video services. 


Further discussions will be held with key stakeholders to determine the most appropriate plan for creating a shared digital infrastructure. 


5. Coordinating outreach to external stakeholders (Strategic Pillar: Financial Sustainability)
Algonquin College plays a significant role as a contributor to the local workforce and the region’s economic development. It maintains ex-
tensive relationships with businesses, government departments and other organizations. As part of the Phase 3 College Services Review, 
several College departments indicated that nurturing and growing these relationships in a strategic, coordinated manner will be critical to 
achieving the College’s strategic goals and to providing:


	 •	 A	complete	picture	of	activities	underway	with	any	community	partner/employer
	 •	 A	means	of	avoiding	duplicate	requests	to	partners
	 •	 The	foundation	for	a	strong	brand	reputation	in	the	community	


Moving forward, a strategic stakeholder relationship management plan, process and supporting infrastructure will be essential to  
achieving growth objectives. Key components of such a plan include: an internal and external stakeholder analysis; an analysis of gaps 
between the current and desired state; a vision statement for how departments work and interact with external stakeholders; a
communication strategy; alignment and updating of all marketing collateral and digital materials; and a CRM solution that all departments 
can benefit from.


Coordinating outreach to external stakeholders will allow the College to better leverage its strategic business partnerships—with more 
Applied Research projects, work-integrated learning opportunities and opportunities for donations through the College Foundation all 
benefits, along with better resource allocation for external-facing events.


6. Develop College-wide skill in applying the principles of continuous improvement (Strategic Pillar: Student and Client Success)
The approach of the SPSP process to defining measures and analyzing results left room for individual departmental interpretation. During 
the 2009/2010 Service Review, performance measures were identified but the analysis was primarily qualitative: departments subse-
quently received guidance on how to determine more quantitative measures. Data collected through the 2012 College Services Review 
revealed that each department had a slightly different interpretation of what service quality meant, evident in the variety of measures 
identified. This led to workshops on how to identify quality measures. 


1 Payroll was considered within the College’s HR Process Review: recommendations to integrate with HR’s Process Review initiative will be 
brought forward to the President’s Council.







Strategic Programs and Services Planning (SPSP) 
Services Review – Final Report to the Board of Governors- December 2012 


SP
SP


 -
 D


ec
em


b
er


 2
0


12


15


A significant number of surveys were conducted or proposed for collecting quality data across the College. Some used standard measures 
such as KPI data, while others were unique to a specific area and executed using their own tools and questionnaires. The risks of this 
decentralized approach are: a) the lack of quality control with respect to the types of surveys created; and b) survey fatigue, which will 
likely occur if students and other stakeholders are constantly bombarded with questionnaires. As well, the use of resources is not optimal 
if each department is investing time in developing, administering, analyzing and monitoring surveys. To cultivate College-wide skill in 
applying the principles of continuous improvement Algonquin needs to:


	 •	 Create	a	process	for	developing	and	administering	service-related	surveys.	Services	should	operate	in	a	similar	manner	as		
  programs: one College-wide platform for all, with a consistent branding application. 
	 •	 Provide	ongoing	education	and	training	to	those	responsible	for	service,	department	or	school	quality	and	other	continuous		
  improvement topics.
	 •	 Help	departments	develop	skill	in	applying	the	principles	of	continuous	improvement	to	data	collection	and	analysis,	 
  documenting their ideas, and developing business cases. 
	 •	 Pilot	new	solutions	that	enhance	departments’	understanding	of	the	client’s	voice,	such	as	mobile	feedback	tools.
	 •	 Create	a	standardized	measurement	tool	that	will	enable	better	data	comparisons	and	reduce	the	time	required	to	create	and		
  administer surveys.


Carrying out these activities will help streamline research and improve the quality of survey tools—and therefore results.


7. Enhancing marketing support (Strategic Pillar: Champion Applied Education and Training)
Several departments indicated that additional marketing support was required for their initiatives. Those offering services to the external 
community—such as Corporate Training and Applied Research—have large growth targets and require more support to market and 
promote their offerings. Internal departments also expressed the need for additional support to market their offerings to faculty, students 
and staff. Learning & Teaching Services also highlighted that MLPs should be promoted more strongly to students. 


Related to this initiative, departments need to articulate the specific activities and deliverables they require and estimate the time/effort 
required to complete them. With such information in hand, a formal resource request could be brought forward for either contractors or 
full-time resources, depending on the needs.


Enhanced marketing support will improve Algonquin’s brand position in the marketplace.


Align SPSP efforts with the College’s business planning cycle
Throughout Phase 3, every effort has been made to ensure SPSP work aligned with the College’s strategic and business planning 
processes. Regular updates have been provided to individual managers, the College Leadership Council and the President’s Council, 
laying the foundation for the transfer of knowledge and responsibility back to senior management. 


PHASE 3:  FiNDiNGS AND REcOMMENDATiONS (continued) 







Strategic Programs and Services Planning (SPSP) 
Services Review – Final Report to the Board of Governors- December 2012 


PATH FORWARD


Going forward, responsibility Phase 3 findings - including outstanding recommendations and the seven pan-College opportunities - will 
proceed under the guidance of the College Leadership Council as part of its strategic and business planning processes. 


The principles of continuous improvement will be further embedded in Algonquin’s day-to-day operations and quality assurance  
processes for programs and services through an ongoing commitment to professional development.


SP
SP


 -
 D


ec
em


b
er


 2
0


12


16













